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ORDER OF REFERENCE
Extract from the Journals of the Senate, Wednesday, June 15, 2011:

ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 15 juin 2011 :

The Honourable Senator Dawson, pursuant to notice of
June 14, 2011, moved:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications be authorized to examine and report on
emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry,
including but not limited to:

(a) its performance and long-term viability in the
changing global market;

(b) its place within Canada;
(¢) its business relationship with their passengers; and;

(d) its important economic effect in the Canadian
communities where airports are located.

That the papers and evidence received and taken and
work accomplished by the committee on this subject since
the beginning of the Third Session of the Fortieth
Parliament be referred to the committee; and

That the Committee report to the Senate from time to
time, with a final report no later than June 28, 2012 and that
the committee retain all powers necessary to publicize its
findings until 180 days after the tabling of the final report.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

L’honorable sénateur Dawson, conformément a 1’avis
du 14 juin 2011, propose :

Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications soit autorisé a examiner, afin d’en faire
rapport, les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur
canadien du transport aérien, et notamment :

a) sa santé et sa viabilité a long terme dans un marché
mondial en évolution;

b) sa place au Canada;
¢) ses relations commerciales avec les passagers;

d) son importance en tant que de moteur économique
dans les collectivités canadiennes ou les aéroports
sont situés.

Que les documents regus, les témoignages entendus et les
travaux accomplis par le comité sur le sujet depuis le début
de la troisiéme session de la quarantiéme législature soient
renvoyés au comité; et

Que le comité fasse périodiquement rapport au Sénat
et avec présentation d’un rapport final au plus tard
le 28 juin 2012, et qu’il conserve tous les pouvoirs
nécessaires pour faire connaitre ses conclusions pendant
180 jours aprés le dépot du rapport final.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,
Gary W. O’Brien
Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Tuesday, June 14, 2011
)]

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met this day at 10:07 a.m., in room 257, East
Block, for the purpose of holding an organization meeting,
pursuant to rule 88.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Greene, MacDonald, Manning,
Martin, Mercer, Plett and Zimmer (10).

In attendance: Dean Ruffilli and Terrence Thomas, Analysts,
Parliamentary Information and Research Service, Library of
Parliament; and Mona Ishack, Communications Officer,
Communications Directorate.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.
The clerk of the committee presided over the election of the chair.
The Honourable Senator Greene moved:

That the Honourable Senator Dawson do take the chair
of this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The clerk of the committee presided over the election of an
acting chair.

The Honourable Senator Mercer moved:

That the Honourable Senator Greene do take the chair as
acting chair of this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
At 10:09 a.m., the Honourable Senator Dawson took the chair.
The Honourable Senator Cochrane moved:

That the Honourable Senator Greene be deputy chair of
this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Mercer moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the chair, the deputy chair and one other
member of the committee, to be designated after the usual
consultation; and

That the subcommittee be empowered to make decisions
on behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to
invite witnesses, and to schedule hearings.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Zimmer moved:
That the committee publish its proceedings; and

That the chair be authorized to set the number of printed
copies to meet demand.

PROCES-VERBAUX
OTTAWA, le mardi 14 juin 2011
Q)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications tient aujourd’hui sa séance d’organisation,
a 10 h 7, dans la piéce 257 de I’édifice de ’Est, conformément a
l’article 88 du Réglement.

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Greene, MacDonald, Manning,
Martin, Mercer, Plett et Zimmer (10).

Egalement présents : Dean Ruffilli et Terrence Thomas,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement; et Mona Ishack, agente de
communications, Direction des communications.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.
La greffiére du comité préside a I’élection a la présidence.
L’honorable sénateur Greene propose :

Que I’honorable sénateur Dawson soit élu président
du comité.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

La greffiéere du comité préside a 1’élection d’un président
suppléant.

L’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que T’honorable sénateur Greene soit élu président
suppléant du comité.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
A 10 h 9, ’honorable sénateur Dawson occupe le fauteuil.
L’honorable sénateur Cochrane propose :

Que I’honorable sénateur Greene soit élu vice-président
du comité.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se
compose du président, du vice-président et d’un autre membre
du comité désigné apreés les consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre des décisions
au nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les
témoins et a établir I’horaire des audiences.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Zimmer propose :
Que le comité fasse imprimer ses délibérations; et

Que le président soit autorisé¢ a déterminer le nombre
d’exemplaires a imprimer pour répondre a la demande.
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The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Boisvenu moved:

That, pursuant to rule 89, the chair be authorized to hold
meetings, to receive and authorize the publication of the
evidence when a quorum is not present, provided that a
member of the committee from both the government and the
opposition be present.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Plett moved:

That the committee adopt the draft first report, prepared
in accordance with rule 104.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator MacDonald moved:

That the committee ask the Library of Parliament to
assign analysts to the committee;

That the chair be authorized to seek authority from the
Senate to engage the services of such counsel and technical,
clerical and other personnel as may be necessary for the
purpose of the committee’s examination and consideration
of such bills, subject-matters of bills and estimates as are
referred to it;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the
research staff in the preparation of studies, analyses,
summaries, and draft reports.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Manning moved:

That, pursuant to section 7, Chapter 3:06 of the Senate
Administrative Rules, authority to commit funds be
conferred individually on the chair, the deputy chair, and
the clerk of the committee;

That, pursuant to section 8, Chapter 3:06 of the Senate
Administrative Rules, authority for certifying accounts
payable by the committee be conferred individually on the
chair, the deputy chair, and the clerk of the committee; and

That, notwithstanding the foregoing, in cases related to
consultants and personnel services, the authority to commit
funds and certify accounts be conferred jointly on the chair
and deputy chair.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Boisvenu propose :

Que, conformément a Iarticle 89 du Réglement, le
président soit autorisé a tenir des réunions pour entendre
des témoignages et a en permettre la publication en I’absence
de quorum, pourvu qu’'un représentant du gouvernement et
un représentant de ’opposition soient présents.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Plett propose :

Que le comité adopte I’ébauche du premier rapport,
préparé conformément a I’article 104 du Reéglement.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur MacDonald propose :

Que le comité demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement
d’affecter des analystes au comité;

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
techniciens, d’employés de bureau et d’autres personnes, au
besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les projets de loi,
I'objet de ces derniers et les prévisions budgétaires qui lui
sont renvoyées;

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a faire appel aux services des experts-conseils dont
le comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés et de projets de rapport.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Manning propose :

Que, conformément a Iarticle 7, chapitre 3:06, du
Réglement administratif du Sénat, ’autorisation d’engager
les fonds du comité soit accordée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et a la greffiere du comité;

Que, conformément a larticle 8, chapitre 3:06, du
Reglement administratif du Sénat, ’autorisation d’approuver
les comptes a payer au nom du comité soit accordée
individuellement au président, au vice-président et a la
greffiere du comité; et

Que, nonobstant ce qui précéde, lorsqu’il s’agit de
services de consultants et de personnel, 1’autorisation
d’engager des fonds et d’approuver les comptes a payer
soit accordée conjointement au président et au vice-
président.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Martin moved:

That the committee empower the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure to designate, as required, one or more members of
the committee and/or such staff as may be necessary to travel on
assignment on behalf of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Mercer moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
“official business” for the purpose of paragraph 8(3)(a)
of the Senators Attendance Policy, published in the
Journals of the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on
“official business” if that member is: (a) attending an
event or meeting related to the work of the committee;
or (b) making a presentation related to the work of the
committee; and

That the subcommittee report at the earliest opportunity
any decisions taken with respect to the designation of
members of the committee travelling on committee business.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Mercer moved:

That, pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witness
expenses, the committee may reimburse reasonable travelling
and living expenses for one witness from any one organization
and payment will take place upon application, but that the
chair be authorized to approve expenses for a second witness
should there be exceptional circumstances.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Manning moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to direct communications officer(s) assigned to
the committee in the development of communications plans
where appropriate and to request the services of the Senate
Communications Directorate for the purposes of their
development and implementation;

That the chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of the
committee’s public proceedings with the least possible
disruption of its hearings; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

It was agreed that the chair be authorized to seek authority
from the Senate for the following order of reference:

L’honorable sénateur Martin propose :

Que le comité autorise le Sous-comité du programme et
de la procédure a désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs
membres du comité, de méme que le personnel nécessaire,
qui se déplaceront au nom du comité.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a :

déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un

« engagement officiel » au sens de I'alinéa 8(3)a) de la

politique relative a la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans

les Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
« engagement officiel » si ce membre : a) assiste a une
réception, a une activité ou a une réunion se rapportant
aux travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait
aux travaux du comité; et

Que le sous-comité fasse rapport, a la premiére occasion,
de ses décisions relatives aux membres du comité qui
voyagent pour les affaires du comité.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que, conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les
frais de déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse les
dépenses raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement a un
témoin par organisme, aprés qu’une demande de
remboursement aura été présentée, mais que le président
soit autorisé a permettre le remboursement de dépenses a un
deuxieme témoin de ce méme organisme en cas de
circonstances exceptionnelles.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Manning propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a diriger, au besoin, les agents de communications
affectés au comité pour ce qui est de I’élaboration des plans
de communications, et & demander 1’appui de la direction
des communications du Sénat aux fins de la préparation et
de la mise en ceuvre de ces plans;

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser ses délibérations publiques par les
médias électroniques, de maniére a déranger le moins
possible ses travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a permettre cette diffusion a sa discrétion.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Il est convenu que le président soit autoris¢ a demander au
Sénat d’approuver 'ordre de renvoi suivant :
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That the Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications be authorized to examine and report on
emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry,
including but not limited to:

(a) its performance and long-term viability in the
changing global market;

(b) its place within Canada;
(c) its business relationship with their passengers; and

(d) its important economic effect in the Canadian
communities where airports are located.

That the papers and evidence received and taken and
work accomplished by the committee on this subject since
the beginning of the Third Session of the Fortieth
Parliament be referred to the committee; and

That the Committee report to the Senate from time to
time, with a final report no later than June 28, 2012 and that
the committee retain all powers necessary to publicize its
findings until 180 days after the tabling of the final report.

It was agreed that members of the steering committee would
meet to determine witnesses for the fall.

The Honourable Senator Mercer moved:

That each committee member be allowed to have one
staff person present at in camera meetings, unless there is a
decision for a particular meeting to exclude all staff

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

At 10:22 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Wednesday, September 28, 2011
2

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met in camera this day at 6:47 p.m., in
room 256-S, Centre Block, the chair, the Honourable Dennis
Dawson, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, MacDonald,
Martin, Mercer, Merchant, Verner, P.C., and Zimmer (11).

In attendance: Dean Ruffilli, Analyst, Parliamentary Information
and Research Service, Library of Parliament; Mona Ishack,
Communications Officer, Communications Directorate and
Jean-Yves LeFort, Committee Clerk, Committees Directorate.

Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications soit autorisé a examiner, afin d’en faire
rapport, les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur
canadien du transport aérien, et notamment :

a) sa santé et sa viabilité a long terme dans un marché
mondial en évolution;

b) sa place au Canada;
¢) ses relations commerciales avec les passagers;

d) son importance en tant que moteur économique dans
les collectivités canadiennes ou les aéroports sont situés.

Que les documents regus, les témoignages entendus et les
travaux accomplis par le comité sur le sujet depuis le début
de la troisiéme session de la quarantiéme législature soient
renvoyés au comité; et

Que le comité fasse périodiquement rapport de la
question au Sénat, avec présentation de rapport final au
plus tard le 28 juin 2012, et qu’il conserve tous les pouvoirs
nécessaires pour diffuser ses conclusions dans les 180 jours
suivant le dépot du rapport final.

Il est convenu que les membres du comité de direction se
réunissent pour discuter des témoins qui seront convoqués a
I’automne.

L’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que, a moins qu’il en soit ordonné autrement, chaque
membre du comité soit autorisé a étre accompagné d’un
membre de son personnel aux séances a huis clos.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

A 10 h 22, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mercredi 28 septembre 2011
(@)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a huis clos, a 18 h 47,
dans la piéce 256-S de I’édifice du Centre, sous la présidence de
I’honorable Dennis Dawson (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, MacDonald,
Martin, Mercer, Merchant, Verner, C.P., et Zimmer (11).

Egalement présents : Dean Ruffilli, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement; Mona Ishack, agente de communications, Direction
des communications; et Jean-Yves LeFort, greffier du comité,
Direction des comités.
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Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, June 15, 2011, the committee began its consideration
on emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry.

Pursuant to rule 92(2)(e), the committee considered a draft
agenda (future business).

It was agreed that the committee proceed to tabling an interim
report on the topic of airports in the spring.

At 7:24 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Tuesday, October 4, 2011
(3)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met this day at 9:31 a.m., in room 257, East
Block, the chair, the Honourable Dennis Dawson, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, Martin, Mercer,
and Verner, P.C. (8).

In attendance: Dean Ruffilli, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Service, Library of Parliament and
Jean-Yves LeFort, Committee Clerk, Committees Directorate.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, June 15, 2011, the committee continued its
consideration on emerging issues related to the Canadian airline
industry.

WITNESSES:
Air Canada:

Duncan Dee, Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating
Officer;

Joseph Galimberti, Director, Government Relations;

David Waugh, Director, Bilateral International and Regulatory
Affairs.

Mr. Dee made a presentation and, together with Mr. Waugh,
answered questions.

At 11:24 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

Conformément a I'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le mercredi 15 juin 2011, le comité entreprend son étude sur les
nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur canadien du transport
aérien.

Conformément a Particle 92(2)e) du Réglement, le comité
examine un projet d’ordre du jour (travaux futurs).

Il est convenu que le comité dépose au printemps un rapport
provisoire sur le théme des aéroports.

A 19 h 24, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mardi 4 octobre 2011
(3)
[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 31, dans la
piéce 257 de I’édifice de I’Est, sous la présidence de ’honorable
Dennis Dawson (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, Martin, Mercer
et Verner, C.P. (8).

Egalement présents : Dean Ruffilli, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement; et Jean-Yves LeFort, greffier du comité, Direction des
comités.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 15 juin 2011, le comité poursuit son étude sur les nouveaux
enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur canadien du transport aérien.

TEMOINS :
Air Canada :

Duncan Dee, vice-président général et chef de I’exploitation;

Joseph Galimberti, directeur, Relations gouvernementales;

David Waugh, directeur, Accords bilatéraux, Affaires
réglementaires et internationales.

M. Dee fait une déclaration, puis, avec M. Waugh, répond aux
questions.

A 11 h 24, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :
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OTTAWA, Wednesday, October 5, 2011
)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met this day at 6:48 p.m., in room 2, Victoria
Building, the chair, the Honourable Dennis Dawson, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, MacDonald,
Martin, Mercer, Merchant, Verner, P.C., and Zimmer (11).

In attendance: Dean Ruffilli, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Service, Library of Parliament and
Keli Hogan, Committee Clerk, Committees Directorate.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, June 15, 2011, the committee continued its
consideration on emerging issues related to the Canadian airline
industry.

WITNESS:
WestJet:

Hugh Dunleavy, Executive Vice-President, Strategy and
Planning.

Mr. Dunleavy made a presentation and answered questions.

At 7:39 p.m., the committee proceeded to the consideration of
a draft budget.

It was agreed that the following special study budget
application (Canadian Airline Industry) for the fiscal year
ending March 31, 2012, be approved for submission to the
Standing Committee on Internal Economy, Budgets and
Administration.

Professional and Other Services 0

Transportation and Communications $ 106,134
All Other Expenditures 3,500
TOTAL $ 109,634

At 7:40 p.m., the committee resumed hearing from
Mr. Dunleavy.

At 7:45 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, le mercredi 5 octobre 2011
4)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 48, dans la piece 2
de Iédifice Victoria, sous la présidence de I’honorable Dennis
Dawson (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Boisvenu, Cochrane, Dawson, Eaton, Greene, MacDonald,
Martin, Mercer, Merchant, Verner, C.P., et Zimmer (11).

Egalement présents : Dean Ruffilli, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliotheque du
Parlement; et Keli Hogan, greffiere du comité, Direction des comités.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le mercredi 15 juin 2011, le comité poursuit son étude sur les
nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur canadien du transport
aérien.

TEMOIN :
WestJet :

Hugh Dunleavy, vice-président directeur, Stratégie et
planification.

M. Dunleavy fait une déclaration, puis répond aux questions.

A 19 h 39, le comité procéde a 'examen d’un budget provisoire.

Il est convenu que le budget suivant pour I’étude spéciale
(secteur canadien du transport aérien) pour ’exercice financier se
terminant le 31 mars 2012 soit approuvé et soumis au Comité
permanent de la régie interne, des budgets et de ’administration.

Services professionnels et autres 0

Transports et communications 106 134 $
Autres dépenses 3500 $
TOTAL 109 634 $

A 19 h 40, le comité reprend son audience avec M. Dunleavy

A 19 h 45, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

Le greffier du comité,

Jean-Yves LeFort

Clerk of the Committee
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
Tuesday, June 14, 2011

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications has the honour to table its

FIRST REPORT

Your committee, which was authorized by the Senate to incur
expenses for the purpose of its examination and consideration of
such legislation and other matters as were referred to it, reports,
pursuant to rule 104(2), that the expenses incurred by the
committee during the Third Session of the Fortieth Parliament
are as follows:

1. With respect to its studies of legislation:

Professional and Other Services $ 0
Transport and Communications 0
Other Expenditures 0
Witness Expenses 2,386
Total $ 2,386

2. With respect to its study on emerging issues related to its
communications mandate and to report on the wireless sector,
including issues such as access to high-speed Internet, the supply
of bandwidth, the nation-building role of wireless, the pace of the
adoption of innovations, the financial aspects associated with
possible changes to the sector, and Canada’s development of the
sector in comparison to the performance in other countries:

Professional and Other Services $ 15,930
Transport and Communications 0
Other Expenditures 236
Witness Expenses 0
Total $ 16,166

3. With respect to its study on emerging issues related to the
Canadian airline industry:

Professional and Other Services $ 0
Transport and Communications 108
Other Expenditures 0
Witness Expenses 2,260
Total $ 2,368

In addition to the expenses for the examination of its special
studies as set out above, the committee also incurred general
postal charges in the amount of $35.

During this session, your committee received 7 orders of
reference, held 30 meetings, heard more than 35 hours of
testimony from 65 witnesses and submitted 7 reports in relation
to its work.

In addition to hearing witnesses in Ottawa, members of the
committee conducted fact-finding visit to the Ottawa International
Airport.

Your committee also dealt with five Bills:

Bill C-42, an Act to amend the Aeronautics Act (reported
without amendment on March 10, 2011), Bill C-28, An Act to
promote the efficiency and adaptability of the Canadian economy

RAPPORT DU COMITE
Le mardi 14 juin 2011

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications a ’honneur de déposer son

PREMIER RAPPORT

Votre comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat a engager des
dépenses aux fins d’examiner les mesures législatives et autres
questions qui lui ont été renvoyées, dépose, conformément a
larticle 104(2) du Reéglement, le relevé suivant des dépenses
encourues a cette fin par le comité au cours de la troisiéme session
de la quarantiéme législature :

1. Relativement a ses études de la 1égislation :

Services professionnels et autres 0
Transport et communications 0
Autres dépenses 0
Dépenses des témoins 23869
Total 2386 $

2. Relatif a son étude sur les enjeux émergents liés a son
mandat dans le domaine des communications et a faire rapport
sur le secteur du sans-fil, notamment sur 1’accés a Internet haute
vitesse, la fourniture de largeur de bande, le réle d’édification de
la nation du sans-fil, le rythme d’adoption des innovations, les
aspects financiers liés aux changements possibles du secteur ainsi
que le développement du secteur au Canada comparativement a
ce qui se fait ailleurs dans le monde :

Services professionnels et autres 15930 §
Transport et communications 0
Autres dépenses 236
Dépenses des témoins 0
Total 16 166 $

3. Etude sur les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur
canadien du transport aérien :

Services professionnels et autres 0
Transport et communications 108
Autres dépenses 0
Dépenses des témoins 2 260
Total 2 368 $

Outre les dépenses listées ci-dessus encourues aux fins de ses
études spéciales, votre comité a encouru des frais généraux de
poste s’élevant a 35 $.

Au cours de cette session, votre comité a regu 7 ordres de
renvoi, tenu 30 réunions, entendu plus de 35 heures de
témoignages de 65 témoins, et soumis 7 rapports relatifs aux
travaux qu’il a menés.

Outre les audiences publiques a Ottawa, les membres du comité
ont effectué une mission d’étude a I’aéroport international
d’Ottawa.

Le comité a étudié cinq projets de loi :

le projet de loi C-42, Loi modifiant la Loi sur 'aéronautique
(dont il a fait rapport sans propositions d’amendement
le 10 mars 2011), le projet de loi C-28, Loi visant a promouvoir
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by regulating certain activities that discourage reliance on
electronic means of carrying out commercial activities, and to
amend the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications
Commission Act, the Competition Act, the Personal Information
Protection and Electronic Documents Act and the
Telecommunications Act (reported without amendment on
December 14, 2010), Bill S-5, An Act to amend the Motor
Vehicle Safety Act and the Canadian Environmental Protection
Act, 1999 (reported without amendment on June 3, 2010); and
Bill S-219, An Act to amend the Canada Post Corporation Act
(rural postal services and the Canada Post Ombudsman) (did not
report before the end of the session).

Respectfully submitted,

efficacité et la capacité d’adaptation de 1’économie canadienne
par la réglementation de certaines pratiques qui découragent
I’exercice des activités commerciales par voie électronique et
modifiant la Loi sur le Conseil de la radiodiffusion et des
télécommunications canadiennes, la Loi sur la concurrence, la
Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les
documents électroniques et la Loi sur les télécommunications
(dont il a fait rapport sans propositions d’amendement
le 14 décembre 2010), et le projet de loi S-5, Loi modifiant la
Loi sur la sécurité automobile et la Loi canadienne sur la
protection de I'environnement (1999) (dont il a fait rapport sans
propositions d’amendement le 3 juin 2010); et le projet de loi S-219,
Loi modifiant la Loi sur la Société canadienne des postes (service
postal en milieu rural et ombudsman de Postes Canada) (n’a pas
fait rapport avant le fin de la session).

Respectueusement soumis,

Le président,
DENNIS DAWSON
Chair
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Tuesday, June 14, 2011

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met this day at 10:07 a.m., pursuant to rule 88
of the Rules of the Senate, to organize the activities of the
committee.

[English)

Keli Hogan, Clerk of the Committee: Honourable senators,
there is a quorum. As clerk of your committee, it is my duty to
preside over the election of the chair. I am ready to receive a
motion to that effect.

Senator Greene: 1 would like to nominate Senator Dawson
as chair.

Ms. Hogan: Are there any other nominations?

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Greene that the
Honourable Senator Dawson do take the chair of the committee.

Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to adopt the motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Ms. Hogan: The second item is, because Senator Dawson has
not arrived yet, to elect an acting chair of the committee.

Can I receive a motion to that effect?
Senator Mercer: I nominate Senator Greene.

Ms. Hogan: It was moved by Senator Mercer that the
Honourable Senator Greene be acting chair of the committee.

Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to adopt the motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Ms. Hogan: I invite Senator Greene to the chair.

Senator Stephen Greene (Acting Chair) in the chair.

The Acting Chair: We now move to the election of the deputy
chair.

Can I have a nomination?

Senator Cochrane: I move that Senator Greene be deputy chair
of this committee.

The Acting Chair: Senator Dawson is now here. 1 will
relinquish the chair.

Senator Dennis Dawson (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair: Senator Cochrane has moved that Senator Greene
be the deputy chair of the committee.

Is that agreed?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mardi 14 juin 2011

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 h 7, conformément
al’article 88 du Réglement du Sénat, pour organiser les travaux du
comité.

[Traduction)

Keli Hogan, greffiere du comité : Mesdames et messieurs les
sénateurs, je constate que nous avons le quorum. En tant que
greffiere du comité, il est de mon devoir de présider a 1’élection du
président. Je suis préte a recevoir les motions a cet effet.

Le sénateur Greene : Je propose que le sénateur Dawson soit
¢élu président.

Mme Hogan : Y a-t-il d’autres propositions?

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Greene, que I’honorable
sénateur Dawson soit ¢élu président du comité.

Vous plait-il, mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, d’adopter
cette motion?

Des voix : D’accord.

Mme Hogan : Comme le sénateur Dawson n’est pas encore
arrivé, il nous faut maintenant élire un président suppléant pour le
comité.

Quelqu’un veut-il proposer une motion a cet effet?
Sénateur Mercer : Je propose le sénateur Greene.

Mme Hogan : Le sénateur Mercer propose que 1’honorable
sénateur Greene soit le président suppléant du comité.

Vous plait-il, mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, d’adopter
la motion?

Des voix : Oui.

Mme Hogan : Jinvite le sénateur Greene a prendre place
au fauteuil.

Le sénateur Stephen Greene (président suppléant) occupe
le fauteuil.

Le président suppléant : Nous passons maintenant a 1’élection
du vice-président.

Puis-je avoir une proposition?

Le sénateur Cochrane : Je propose le sénateur Greene a la vice-
présidence du comité.

Le président suppléant : Le sénateur Dawson vient d’arriver. Je
vais lui céder le fauteuil.

Le sénateur Dennis Dawson (président) occupe le fauteuil.

Le président : Le sénateur Cochrane propose que le sénateur
Greene soit élu vice-président du comité.

La motion est-elle adoptée?

Des voix : Oui.
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The Chair: Adopted.

On the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure, will someone
move:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the chair, the deputy chair, and one other
member of the committee, to it be designated after the usual
consultation; and

That the subcommittee be empowered to make decisions
on behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to
invite witnesses, and to schedule hearings.

Senator Mercer: 1 so move.

The Chair: On the motion to publish the committee’s
proceedings, it is moved by the Honourable Senator Zimmer:

That the committee publish its proceedings; and

That the chair be authorized to set the number of printed
copies to meet demand.

So moved, so adopted.

[Translation]

Authorize and obtain meetings, and receive evidence when a
quorum is not present.

It has been moved by Honourable Senator Boisvenu:

Pursuant to rule 89, the chair be authorized to hold
meetings to receive and authorize the printing of evidence
when a quorum is not present, provided that a member of
the committee from the government and a member of the
committee from the opposition are present.

Motion agreed to.
Financial report.
It has been moved by Honourable Senator Plett:
That the committee adopt the draft of a first report
written pursuant to Rule 104.

[English)

[English]

On research staff, it is moved by the Honourable Senator
MacDonald:

That the committee ask the Library of Parliament to
assign analysts to the committee;

That the chair be authorized to seek authority from the
Senate to engage the services of such counsel and technical,
clerical, and other personnel as may be necessary for the
purpose of the committee’s examination and consideration
of such bills, subject-matters of bills, and estimates as are
referred to it;

Le président : D’accord.

A propos du Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure,
quelqu’un peut-il proposer :

Que le Sous-comité se compose du président, du vice-
président et d’un autre membre du comité désigné apres les
consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre les décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les
témoins et a établir ’horaire des audiences.

Le sénateur Mercer : J’en fais la proposition.

Le président : Concernant la publication des délibérations du
comité, 'honorable sénateur Zimmer propose :

Que le comité publie ses délibérations; et

Que le président soit autorisé a déterminer le nombre
d’exemplaires a imprimer pour répondre a la demande.

La motion est adoptée telle que proposée.

[Frangais]
Autoriser et obtenir des réunions et entendre des témoignages
en ’absence du quorum.

L’honorable sénateur Boisvenu propose :

Que, conformément a [I’article 89 du Réglement, la
présidence soit autorisée a tenir des réunions pour
entendre les témoignages et en permettre la publication en
P’absence de quorum pourvu qu’un membre du comité du
gouvernement et de I'opposition soient présents.

La motion est adoptée.
Rapport financier.
L’honorable sénateur Plett propose :
Que le comité adopte I’ébauche d’un premier rapport
préparé conformément a I’article 104 du Réglement.

La motion est adoptée.

[Traduction]

A propos du personnel de recherche, I’honorable sénateur
MacDonald propose :

Que le comité demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement
d’affecter des analystes au comité;

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
techniciens, d’employés de bureau et d’autres personnes, au
besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les projets de loi,
I’objet de ces derniers et les prévisions budgétaires qui lui
sont renvoyés;
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That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the
research staff in preparation of studies, analyses, summaries,
and draft reports.

I invite the analysts to the table, if members agree.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: On authority to commit funds and certify accounts,
it is moved by Senator Manning:

That, pursuant to section 7, chapters 3:06 of the Senate
Administrative Rules, authority to commit funds be
conferred individually on the chair, the deputy chair, and
the clerk of the committee;

That, pursuant to section 8, chapter 3:06 of the Senate
Administrative Rules, authority for certifying accounts
payable by the committee be conferred individually on the
chair, the deputy chair, and the clerk of the committee; and

That, notwithstanding the foregoing, in cases related to
consultants and personnel services, the authority to commit
funds and certify accounts be conferred jointly on the chair
and deputy chair.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: On travel, it is moved by the Honourable Senator
Martin:

That the committee empower the Subcommittee on

Agenda and Procedure to designate, as required, one or

more members of the committee and/or such staff as may be
necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the committee.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: On designation of members travelling on committee
business, it is moved by Senator Mercer:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is
on “official business” for the purpose of paragraph 8(3)(a)
of the Senate Attendance Policy, published in the Journals
of the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on
“official business” if that member is: (a) attending an
event or meeting related to the work of the committee; or
(b) making a presentation related to the work of the
committee; and

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a faire appel aux services des experts-conseils dont
le comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de
résumés et de projets de rapport.

Jinvite les analystes a se joindre a nous autour de la table, si les
membres du comité sont d’accord.

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Concernant I'autorisation d’engager des fonds et
d’approuver les comptes a payer, le sénateur Manning propose :

Que, conformément a larticle 7, chapitre 3:06, du
Réglement administratif du Sénat, 1’autorisation d’engager
les fonds du comité soit accordée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et a la greffiere du comité;

Que, conformément a I’article 8, chapitre 3:06, du
Réglement du Sénat, I'autorisation d’approuver les comptes
a payer au nom du comité soit accordée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et a la greffiere du comité; et

Que, nonobstant ce qui précéde, lorsqu’il s’agit de services
de consultants et de personnel, I’autorisation d’engager des
fonds et d’approuver les comptes a payer soit accordée
conjointement au président et au vice-président.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Pour les voyages, il est proposé par I’honorable
sénateur Martin :

Que le comité autorise le Sous-comité du programme et
de la procédure a désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs
membres du comité, de méme que le personnel nécessaire,
qui se déplaceront au nom du comité.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Pour la désignation des membres qui voyagent
pour les affaires du comité, il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur
Merecer :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a :
déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un
« engagement officiel » au sens de I'alinéa 8(3)a) de la
politique relative a la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans
les Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

considérer qu'un membre du comité remplit un
« engagement officiel » si ce membre : a) assiste a une
activité ou a une réunion se rapportant aux travaux du
comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux travaux du
comité; et
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That the subcommittee report at the earliest opportunity
any decisions taken with respect to the designation of
members of the committee travelling on committee business.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: On travelling and living expenses of witnesses, it is
moved by Senator Mercer:

That, pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witness
expenses, the committee may reimburse reasonable travelling
and living expenses for one witness from any one organization
and payment will take place upon application, but that the
chair be authorized to approve expenses for a second witness
should there be exceptional circumstances.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: On communications, it is moved by the Honourable
Senator Manning:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to direct communication officer(s) assigned to
the committee in the development of communications plans
where appropriate and to request the services of the Senate
Communications Directorate for the purposes of their
development and implementation;

That the chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of the
committee’s public proceedings with the least possible
disruption of its hearings; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: The time slot for regular meetings is Tuesdays 9:30
to 11:30 and Wednesdays 6:45 to 8:45.

Senator Cochrane: Is there any way that we can have the other
meeting during the day?

The Chair: Last year we asked the two whips if we could have it
on Wednesday at noon instead of Wednesday night, but they did
not answer our request. We could make an official request again.

Does anyone have a conflict on Wednesday at noon?

Senator Boisvenu: No, but can it be earlier, say at 6 o’clock?

The Chair: That is another problem.
Is anyone on a committee at four o’clock on Wednesday?

Senator Greene: I am.

Que le sous-comité fasse rapport, a la premiére occasion,
de ses décisions relatives aux membres du comité qui
voyagent pour les affaires du comité.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Pour les frais de déplacement et de séjour des
témoins, ’honorable sénateur Mercer propose :

Que, conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les
frais de déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse les
dépenses raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement a un
témoin par organisme, aprés qu’une demande de
remboursement aura été présentée, mais que le président
soit autorisé a permettre le remboursement de dépenses a un
deuxiéme témoin de ce méme organisme en cas de
circonstances exceptionnelles.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Pour les communications, I’honorable sénateur
Manning propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a diriger, au besoin, les agents de communications
affectés au comité pour ce qui est de I’élaboration des plans
de communication, et & demander ’appui de la Direction
des communications du Sénat aux fins de la préparation et
de la mise en ceuvre de ces plans;

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser les délibérations publiques du comité
par les médias électroniques, de maniére a déranger le moins
possible ses travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a permettre cette diffusion a sa discrétion.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Voici ’horaire des séances réguliéres : le mardi,
de 9 h 30 a1l h30etle mercredi, de 18 h 45 a 20 h 45.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Serait-il possible que I’autre réunion ait
lieu de jour?

Le président : L’an dernier, nous avons demandé aux deux
whips si la réunion pouvait avoir lieu le mercredi a midi plutét
que le mercredi soir, mais nous n’avons pas eu de réponse. Nous
pourrions refaire une demande officielle.

Y a-t-il un conflit d’horaire le mercredi a midi?

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Non, mais cela pourrait étre plus tot;
disons a 18 heures.

Le président : C’est une tout autre question.
Y a-t-il quelqu’un qui siége a un comité le mercredi a 16 heures?

Le sénateur Greene : Oui, moi.
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The Chair: That means that he finishes at 6.

Senator Greene: It does not mean that we could not make it
earlier than 6:45.

The Chair: I have no problem with that. If the whips agree, can
we do it for 6:15?

Senator Martin: Or Wednesday from 12 to 2.

Senator MacDonald: The Senate sits at 1:30, so we do not have
two hours.

Senator Cochrane: If you could look into that, senator?

The Chair: I will talk to both whips to see what can be done.

Senator Cochrane: We do not get out of here until 8:45 and
that, to me, is a bit late.

The Chair: We will make a formal request for 6:15 and inquire
into the possibility of having noon meetings, if possible.

Senator Cochrane: Even earlier.
The Chair: Is there any other business?

If everyone agrees that we want to continue our study on
airports and airlines, the steering committee could ask the clerk to
look at options for witnesses. It may be too late in June to think
about witnesses for next week, but if we give the subcommittee the
mandate, they could plan for meetings in late September.

Is that agreed?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: I will read the following statement:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications be authorized to examine and report on
emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry,
including but not limited to its performance and long-term
viability, its place within Canada, its business relationship
with their passengers, and its important economic effect in
the Canadian communities where airports are located;

That the papers and evidence received, taken and work
accomplished by the committee on this subject at the
beginning of the third session of the Fortieth Parliament be
referred to the committee; and

That the committee report to the Senate from time to
time with a final report no later than June 28, 2012; and

That the committee retain all powers necessary to
publicize its findings until 180 days after the tabling of the
final report.

Is that agreed?

Le président : Cela signifie qu’il termine a 18 heures.

Le sénateur Greene : Cela ne veut pas dire que nous ne
pourrions pas commencer avant 18 h 45.

Le président : Cela ne me pose aucun probléme. Si les whips
sont d’accord, pouvons-nous commencer a 18 h 15?

Le sénateur Martin : Ou le mercredi de midi a 14 heures.

Le sénateur MacDonald : Le Sénat siége a 13 h 30, ce qui
signifie que nous n’avons pas deux heures.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Pourriez-vous examiner la question,
sénateur?

Le président : Je vais parler aux deux whips pour savoir ce
qu’on peut faire a ce sujet.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Nous ne sortons pas d’ici avant 20 h 45;
pour moi, c’est un peu tard.

Le président : Nous allons présenter une demande officielle
pour 18 h 15 et examiner la possibilité de tenir les réunions a midi,
si possible.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Et méme plus tot.
Le président : Y a-t-il d’autres points a discuter?

Si tout le monde est d’accord pour que nous poursuivions notre
étude sur les aéroports et les transporteurs aériens, le comité de
direction pourrait demander a la greffiére de voir quels témoins
nous pourrions inviter. Le mois de juin est peut-étre trop avancé
pour songer a entendre des témoins la semaine prochaine, mais si
nous en donnons le mandat au comité de direction, il pourra
planifier des réunions a la fin septembre.

Est-ce d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Je vais vous lire ces énoncés :

Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications soit autorisé a examiner, afin d’en faire
rapport, les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur
canadien du transport aérien et, notamment, sa santé et sa
viabilit¢ a long terme; sa place au Canada; ses relations
commerciales avec les passagers; son importance en tant que
moteur économique dans les collectivités canadiennes ou les
aéroports sont situés;

Que les documents regus, les témoignages entendus, et les
travaux accomplis par le comité a ce sujet pendant la
troisiéme session de la 40° législature soient renvoyés au
comité; et

Que le comité en fasse périodiquement rapport au
Sénat et avec présentation d’un rapport final au plus tard
le 28 juin 2012; et

Que le comité conserve tous les pouvoirs nécessaires pour
faire connaitre ses conclusions pendant 180 jours aprés le
dépot du rapport final.

Est-ce d’accord?
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Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Is there other business?

Senator Plett: 1 was of the opinion that we were going to
nominate and elect the third member of the steering committee.

The Chair: I have no problem with that.

Ms. Hogan: We actually did. We just did not name the person,
but the motion was adopted.

Senator Plett: The motion was adopted, but do we not name
the person?

Ms. Hogan: You do not have to. The motion says “after the
usual consultation,” which means there would be consultation on
both sides and the name is determined, from the whip.

Senator Plett: Thank you.

Ms. Hogan: If we keep it open, if that person is absent we can
easily replace them through the whip as opposed to coming to the
committee for a formal motion.

Senator Manning: I refer back to Item No. 13 on the agenda,
just for a point of information. I served on National Security and
Defence and on the Subcommittee for Veterans Affairs in the last
session of Parliament, and we used to meet on Wednesdays at
lunch time and have a shortened meeting. We used to finish at
about 1:15 because the Senate would start at 1:30. We used to
start at 12 and have a meeting of one hour and 15 minutes. That is
just a point of information, if you are looking at a Wednesday
schedule.

I am only filling in here today.

Senator Greene: It might depend on when the witnesses are
available. Sometimes we might have to do it on Wednesday
evening and other times.

The Chair: I think the concept is to have regular meetings so
that we do not have to reappear before the committee to request
changes in the hours of the committee.

Senator Plett: I want to go a little further on what Senator
Manning said. I also am not a regular here; I am filling in today. I
am also on National Defence and Security and likely will be on
Veterans Affairs.

I do not believe that there is enough time for this committee to
meet in that time slot, even for the subcommittee. You must do
what you feel is right, but I would encourage you not to sit in that
slot because you will be very pressed for time.

The Chair: We will start with 6:15 to 8:15. If that goes well, we
can continue that way. If not, we can readdress the issue next
autumn.

Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Y a-t-il d’autres travaux?

Le sénateur Plett : Je croyais que nous allions proposer des
candidats et élire le troisieme membre du comité de direction.

Le président : Je n’y vois aucun inconvénient.

Mme Hogan : Nous l’avons déja fait. Nous n’avons tout
simplement pas nommé la personne, mais la motion a été adoptée.

Le sénateur Plett : La motion a été adoptée, mais nous n’avons
pas nommé la personne?

Mme Hogan : Ce n’est pas nécessaire. La motion dit : « aprés
les consultations d’usage », ce qui signifie que les deux cotés
seront consultés et que la personne sera nommée par le whip.

Le sénateur Plett : Merci.

Mme Hogan : Si nous laissons cela ouvert, nous pouvons
facilement remplacer la personne en cas d’absence. Nous n’avons
qu’a le faire par I'intermédiaire du whip plutdt que de saisir le
comité d’une motion officielle.

Le sénateur Manning : A titre de renseignement, je vous renvoie
au 13° point a l'ordre du jour. Pendant la derniére session du
Parlement, j’ai siégé au Comité de la sécurité nationale et de la
défense et au Sous-comité des anciens combattants.
Habituellement, les réunions avaient lieu le mercredi midi, et
elles étaient écourtées. Nous terminions vers 13 h 15 parce que le
Sénat siégeait a compter de 13 h 30. Nous commencions a midi et
la réunion avait une durée de une heure et quinze minutes. Ce
n’est qu'un renseignement, si vous envisagez de modifier votre
horaire du mercredi.

Je ne suis ici qu’a titre de remplagant aujourd’hui.

Le sénateur Greene : Cela pourrait dépendre de la disponibilité
des témoins. Parfois, nous devrons peut-étre tenir la séance le
mercredi soir ou a autre moment.

Le président : Je pense que l'idée est d’avoir des séances a
heures fixes afin d’éviter de revenir en comité pour demander une
modification de I'horaire du comité.

Le sénateur Plett : J’aimerais aller un peu plus loin par rapport
a ce que le sénateur Manning a dit. Je suis aussi ici a titre de
remplacant aujourd’hui. Je siége aussi au Comité de la sécurité
nationale et de la défense et je siégerai probablement au Sous-
comité des anciens combattants.

Je pense que cet horaire ne donne pas au comité, ni méme au
sous-comité, assez de temps pour la tenue d’une réunion. Vous
devez faire ce qui vous semble convenable, mais je vous
recommande de ne pas adopter cet horaire parce que vous allez
manquer de temps.

Le président : Nous allons commencer par siéger de 18 h 15 a
20 h 15. Si cela se passe bien, nous pourrons continuer ainsi.
Sinon, nous pourrons réexaminer la question I’automne prochain.
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On in camera meetings, it is moved by Senator Mercer:

That each committee member be allowed to have one
staff person present at in camera meetings unless there is a
decision for a particular meeting to exclude all staff.

Is that agreed, honourable senators?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: The agenda is finished.

(The committee adjourned.)

OTTAWA, Tuesday, October 4, 2011

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications met this day at 9:31 a.m. to proceed with its
study on emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry.

[Translation]

Senator Dennis Dawson (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair: I call the meeting to order and I would like to thank
you for being here.

[English]

This morning we are continuing our study on the airline
industry. Appearing before us, on behalf of Air Canada, is Duncan
Dee, Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer; David
Waugh, Director, Bilateral International and Regulatory Affairs;
and Joseph Galimberti, Director, Government Relations.

One of the last times my friend Mr. Galimberti appeared before
the committee, it was mentioned that we had effectively worked
together, but probably seven years ago. I want to put on the table
that we do know each other. I have never dealt with either
Mr. Galimberti or Mr. Dee on Air Canada files in my previous life.
I would like to make that clear to avoid any kind of suspicion.

[Translation)

Duncan Dee, Executive Vice-President and Chief Operating
Officer, Air Canada: Honourable senators, thank you very much
for the opportunity to meet with you today on this very important
topic. I would like to thank you for launching your current study
on emerging issues related to the Canadian airline industry.

Government in general is long overdue for a review of our
industry, and should gain as much knowledge as possible of the
market forces underpinning the critical service we provide and
infrastructure we support.

Pour ce qui est des séances a huis clos, il est proposé par
I’honorable sénateur Mercer :

Que chaque membre du comité soit autorisé a avoir un
membre du personnel présent aux séances a huis clos, a
moins qu’il n’ait été décidé, pour une séance en particulier,
d’exclure I’ensemble du personnel.

Est-ce d’accord, honorables sénateurs?
Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Nous avons complété nos travaux.

(La séance est levée.)

OTTAWA, le mardi 4 octobre 2011

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 31, dans le cadre
de son étude sur les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur
canadien du transport aérien.

Le sénateur Dennis Dawson (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

e président : Je déclare la séance ouverte et je vous remercie
L sident : Je déclare 1 te et
d’étre ici.

[Traduction]

Nous poursuivons aujourd’hui notre étude de I'industrie du
transport aérien. Nous accueillons des représentants d’Air
Canada, soit Duncan Dee, le vice-président général et chef de
I’exploitation, David Waugh, le directeur des accords bilatéraux
et des affaires réglementaires et internationales, et Joseph
Galimberti, le directeur des relations gouvernementales.

L’une des dernieres fois que mon ami, M. Galimberti, a
témoigné devant le comité, on a précisé que nous avions
effectivement travaillé ensemble il y a environ maintenant sept
ans. Je voulais dire d’entrée de jeu que nous nous connaissons. Je
n’ai jamais collaboré avec MM. Galimberti ou Dee sur des
dossiers concernant Air Canada dans ma vie antérieure. Je voulais
clarifier le tout pour éviter tout soupgon.

[Frangais]

Duncan Dee, vice-président général et chef de ’exploitation, Air
Canada : Honorables sénateurs, je vous remercie de me donner
I’occasion de m’adresser a vous aujourd’hui au sujet de cette trés
importante question. J’aimerais vous remercier d’avoir lancé
I’étude en cours sur les nouveaux enjeux liés a l’industrie
canadienne du transport aérien.

Il est grand temps que le gouvernement en général procede a un
examen de notre industrie et approfondisse autant que possible
ses connaissances sur les forces du marché qui appuient les
services indispensables que nous fournissons et l'infrastructure
que nous soutenons.
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The Canadian airline industry is profoundly significant to the
Canadian economy. In 2010, Air Canada alone carried almost
24 million passengers, employed 24,700 Canadians, generated
revenues in excess of $9.7 billion, and totalled $8.4 billion in
domestic expenditures, which directly generated $3.3 billion of
Canada’s GDP.

[English)

Even those large numbers likely understate Air Canada’s
significance to the Canadian economy. When factoring in indirect
and catalytic economic impacts, Air Canada’s impact on GDP
and Canadian employment becomes much greater. The direct
contribution to GDP is $3.3 billion. The indirect and induced
contribution to GDP is a further $3 billion. The catalytic
contribution to GDP is $5 billion to $19 billion. This gives a
total impact of $11 billion to $25 billion per year. We directly
employ close to 30,000 Canadians and indirectly support the
employment of a further nearly 40,000 Canadians. This gives a
total economic impact, including catalytic contributions, of
124,000 to 278,000 jobs in Canada.

The work of this committee is so welcome and encouraging to
those of us in the industry because the government does not
presently have, and has not for decades had, a single, cohesive
policy position regarding commercial aviation in Canada. The last
attempt at enunciating something approaching a vision for
airlines alone — and a fairly limited attempt at that — was the
two-airlines policy of the 1980s and early 1990s. This policy
sought to divide international route rights between Air Canada
and Canadian Airlines, with the objective of artificially keeping
two Canadian air carriers alive. For rather obvious reasons, this is
no longer a relevant policy tool today.

[Translation)

Since that time, although a series of well-intentioned documents
and directions like the recent “Blue Skies” policy have been
periodically introduced, they have sadly been undermined by the
absence of a broader aviation policy framework.

Unfortunately, the practice of introducing and implementing
international aviation policies as stand-alone initiatives, as
opposed to component pieces of an overarching national
strategy for the industry at large, has not resulted in a long-
term vision for our industry and the strategic role we play in the
Canadian economy.

The same lack of direction is evident in policies governing
airports in Canada. Since the national airports policy was
introduced in 1994 and Canada’s major airport facilities were
divested to local airport authorities, no substantive policy revision
has taken place.

L’industrie canadienne du transport aérien est extrémement
importante pour ’économie canadienne. En 2010, Air Canada a
elle seule a transporté prés de 24 millions de passagers, employé
24 700 Canadiens, produit des rentrées de plus de 9,7 milliards de
dollars et accumulé 8,4 milliards de dollars de dépenses intérieures
générant directement 3,3 milliards de dollars au produit intérieur
brut du Canada.

[Traduction]

Par contre, méme ces chiffres élevés ne reflétent probablement
pas toute I'importance d’Air Canada dans I’économie canadienne.
Si on tient compte des retombées économiques secondaires et des
effets catalyseurs, 'incidence d’Air Canada sur le PIB et ’emploi
au Canada est beaucoup plus grande. Sa contribution directe au
PIB est de 3,3 milliards, sa contribution indirecte et induite au
PIB s’¢éléve a 3 milliards et son effet catalyseur se situe entre 5 et
19 milliards, soit entre 11 et 25 milliards de dollars en retombées
économiques globales annuelles. Nous employons directement
prées de 30 000 personnes et indirectement prés de 40 000, soit une
contribution totale entre 124 000 et 278 000 emplois, en tenant
compte des effets catalyseurs.

Les gens du milieu voient d’un bon il les travaux du comité,
parce que le gouvernement n’a adopté, et ce, depuis des décennies,
aucune position de principe cohérente a I’égard de l’aviation
commerciale au Canada. La derniére tentative d’énoncer une
vision uniquement pour les transporteurs, qui était d’ailleurs une
tentative plutot limitée, a été la politique de deux transporteurs
pratiquée dans les années 1980 et au début des années 1990. Cette
politique visait a répartir les droits de desserte internationaux
entre Air Canada et les Lignes aériennes Canadien International
dans le but de maintenir artificiellement en vie deux transporteurs
nationaux. Pour des raisons assez évidentes, cette politique n’est
plus pertinente.

[Frangais)

Depuis, méme si des documents et des directives louables
comme la récente politique Ciel Bleu ont ¢été présentés
périodiquement, ils ont été malheureusement sapés par 1’absence
d’un cadre stratégique plus global visant le transport aérien.

Malheureusement, l'introduction et la mise en ceuvre de
politiques internationales sur le transport aérien en tant
qu’initiative autonome plutdt qu’en tant qu’élément d’une
stratégie nationale, primordiale pour l’ensemble du secteur,
n’ont pas créé une vision a long terme de notre industrie et de
son role stratégique dans I’économie canadienne.

Le méme manque de directives est évident dans les politiques
qui régissent les aéroports au Canada. Depuis la mise en place de
la politique nationale des aéroports en 1994 et ’association des
principales installations aéroportuaires du Canada aux autorités
aéroportuaires locales, il n’y a eu aucune révision importante des
politiques.
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[English]

As a result, aviation infrastructure in Canada is disjointed,
poorly understood, full of divergent interests working at cross
purposes, and loaded with unjustifiably high infrastructure and
service costs that actively discourage growth and artificially
depress markets.

The situation is so bleak that, as of today, not one U.S.
discount carrier serves any Canadian airport, with some instead
choosing to establish operations at airports such as Buffalo
Niagara, Niagara Falls International, Plattsburgh International
and Bellingham International to attract Canadian traffic. On a
per passenger basis, the infrastructure costs, landing fees, airport
improvement fees, air navigation charges and security charges at
these four facilities are 229 per cent lower than at the Canadian
facilities with whom they compete. Canadian passengers are
predictably responding to that disparity. By 2015, as many as
3.4 million Canadians could be traveling out of these four
facilities alone, with an associated direct negative impact to the
Canadian economy of $2.3 billion.

[Translation]

To go back to international air policy for a moment, this
component piece of Canada’s aviation policy is unfortunately also
negatively impacted by the fact that international airlines are
making exactly the same calculation as the Canadian passengers I
just mentioned, but they are just doing it from a different
perspective.

The decision process for executives from those airlines,
evaluating the Canadian market purely on the basis of
commercial opportunity, is pretty easy to determine; do you use a
high value asset, like a Boeing 777 to serve a Canadian market with
high infrastructure costs? Or do you deploy your fleet to serve a
welcoming, generally U.S. market of similar population base with
lower controlled infrastructure costs — an operating advantage you
can use to stimulate traffic and grow your business?

[English]

The conclusion of that thought-exercise is an obvious one.
When one sees that, despite the recent open skies deal with the
European Union, only incremental increases in capacity to
Canada by European carriers have materialized, and that
multiple unused frequencies continue to exist in the current
bilateral liberalized agreements with established trading nations
such as China, India, Russia, Australia and Brazil, it quickly
becomes clear that international airlines are deciding every day to
deploy their resources elsewhere. Unfortunately, the only
countries or international carriers really clamouring for
increased access to Canada are those in which the national
airlines are, firstly, vertically integrated into government policies
designed to aggressively pursue tourists and connecting traffic

[Traduction]

Par conséquent, I'infrastructure de I’aviation commerciale au
Canada est incohérente, mal comprise, remplie d’intéréts divergents
travaillant a contre-courant et chargée de frais de structure et de
services trés élevés, voire injustifiables, qui nuisent énormément a la
croissance et affaiblissent artificiellement les marchés.

La situation est si sombre qu’aujourd’hui aucun aéroport
canadien n’est desservi par les transporteurs a escompte
américains. Certains d’entre eux choisissent plutot d’offrir leurs
services a partir des aéroports internationaux de Buffalo Niagara,
Niagara Falls, Plattsburgh et Bellingham pour attirer la clientele
canadienne. Par passager, les frais de structure, soit les redevances
d’atterrissage, les frais d’améliorations aéroportuaires, les
redevances de navigation et le droit de sireté, de ces quatre
aéroports sont de 229 p. 100 inférieurs a ceux des aéroports
canadiens concurrents. Comme on est en droit de s’y attendre, les
passagers canadiens réagissent a une telle disparité. D’ici 2015,
jusqu’a 3,4 millions d’entre eux pourraient prendre I’avion a partir
de ces quatre aéroports seulement, ce qui aurait des répercussions
négatives directes de 2,3 milliards de dollars sur I’économie
canadienne.

[Frangais]

Revenons pendant quelques instants a la politique sur le
transport aérien international; cet élément essentiel de la politique
aérienne du Canada a aussi malheureusement été touché parce
que les sociétés aériennes internationales se livrent aux mémes
calculs que les voyageurs canadiens dont je viens de parler, mais
qu’elles le font d’un point de vue différent.

Pour les dirigeants de ces transporteurs aériens, le processus
décisionnel est simple : il consiste a évaluer le marché canadien
strictement en fonction des perspectives commerciales. Faut-il
utiliser un bien de grande valeur comme un triple 7 pour desservir
un marché canadien ou les couts de structure sont élevés? Ne
vaut-il pas mieux se servir de son parc aérien pour desservir un
marché accueillant, généralement américain, dont le bassin de
population est semblable et ou ses cotts sont plus bas et controlés,
un avantage opérationnel pouvant servir a stimuler le trafic et a
prendre de I’expansion?

[Traduction]

La conclusion de cet exercice s'impose d’elle-méme. Lorsqu’on
constate que, malgré le récent accord « ciel ouvert » conclu avec
I’Union européenne, seules des augmentations graduelles de la
capacité a destination du Canada par les transporteurs européens
se sont matérialisées et qu’il y a toujours plusieurs fréquences de
desserte inutilisées dans les présents accords bilatéraux libéralisés
avec des partenaires commerciaux établis, comme la Chine, I'Inde,
la Russie, I’Australie et le Brésil, il devient rapidement évident que
les transporteurs internationaux décident jour aprés jour de
déployer leurs ressources ailleurs. Malheureusement, les seuls
transporteurs internationaux qui revendiquent vraiment un acces
accru au Canada sont situés dans des pays ou les transporteurs
nationaux sont doublement avantagés. Premiérement, ils sont
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and, secondly, able to leverage their cost advantages — gained
through operating in home markets in which utilization of
significantly below-market-cost foreign workers is commonplace
and trade unions and pensions are alien concepts — to annex the
Canadian market, turning Canada into a spoke of their hub.
Attracting enthusiastic attention from this kind of predator is not
the sign of a healthy economic marketplace.

[Translation]

It should be noted that, in stark contrast to Canada, other
international jurisdictions have devoted considerable resources to
cohesive policy strategies and have enjoyed the benefits associated
with a favourable domestic operating environment and strategic
expansion of international aviation agreements.

Following the German air transport initiative in 2003, the
German government and industry stakeholder have taken key
steps to increase efficiency and reduce operating costs associated
with activities such as immigration and security.

The United States government has a comprehensive six-year
infrastructure plan for transportation, which explicitly includes
various support for the air transport industry.

In Dubai, massive government investments have been made in
aviation infrastructure development while a reduced cost
structure derived from relaxed labour regulations and a
favourable tax environment further support a competitive
operating advantage.

[English]

In Singapore, the government identified air transport as a key
pillar of its economic growth strategy as far back as the 1970s and
have developed their national airport and associated surface
transportation links at public expense.

In Hong Kong in 1990, the government undertook the
development of a $20-billion public-private partnership and
reclaimed over 12 square kilometres of land for their new
airport — a development that features a multi-modal transport
network ensuring smooth flow of passengers and goods between
the airport and the Chinese mainland.

In Turkey, as early as 2002, the government took a view that
international tourism could be a powerful source of economic
growth and employment and that an innovative and creative air
transport policy that supported passenger travel was required.
The Government of Turkey then set about modernizing existing
airports, building new airports and developing surface
transportation links to those facilities.

intégrés verticalement dans des politiques gouvernementales
visant a attirer activement des touristes et du trafic de
correspondance. Deuxiémement, ils ont moins de dépenses,
parce qu’ils se trouvent dans des pays ou l'utilisation d’une
main-d’ceuvre étrangére moins coliteuse est pratique courante et
ou les syndicats et les régimes de retraite sont des concepts
inconnus, ce qui leur permet d’annexer le marché canadien et de se
servir du Canada comme plaque tournante. Susciter
I’enthousiasme de ce genre de prédateur n’est pas un signe d’un
climat économique sain.

[Frangais]

Il convient de signaler que contrairement au Canada, d’autres
Etats affectent des ressources considérables a I’élaboration de
stratégies d’orientation cohérentes et profitent des avantages
associés a un milieu d’exploitation intérieure favorable, ainsi qu’a
I’expansion stratégique des accords aériens internationaux.

Suite a linitiative de 1’Allemagne en matiére de transport
aérien, en 2003, le gouvernement allemand et la partie intéressée
de lindustrie ont pris d’importantes mesures pour accroitre
lefficacité et réduire les cotts d’exploitation liés aux activités,
notamment d’immigration et de sécurité.

Le gouvernement des Etats-Unis a mis en place un plan
d’infrastructure sectoriel complet en matiére de transport, qui
comprend explicitement divers systémes de soutien destinés a
I'industrie du transport aérien.

A Dubai, le gouvernement a investi massivement dans le
développement de l'infrastructure du secteur aérien. De plus,
l’assouplissement des réglements sur le travail et "amélioration du
climat fiscal conférent un avantage concurrentiel au plan de
I’exploitation.

[Traduction]

A Singapour, le gouvernement considére le transport aérien
comme un élément clé de sa stratégie de croissance économique
depuis les années 1970. Il a développé 1'aéroport national ainsi
que le réseau de transport de surface connexe aux frais de I’Etat.

A Hong Kong, en 1990, le gouvernement a décidé de créer un
partenariat public-privé de 20 milliards de dollars et a reconquis
plus de 12 kilométres carrés de terrain pour y construire un nouvel
aéroport. Ce projet comporte un réseau de transport intermodal
assurant le déplacement sans heurt des passagers et de la
marchandise entre ’aéroport et la Chine continentale.

En Turquie, dés 2002, le gouvernement a compris que le
tourisme international pouvait étre un puissant facteur de
croissance économique et d’emploi et qu'une politique en
matiére de transport aérien novatrice et capable de soutenir le
transport des passagers était nécessaire. Il a donc entrepris de
moderniser les aéroports existants, d’en construire de nouveaux et
de développer un réseau de transport de surface pour desservir les
installations.



1:22 Transport and Communications

5-10-2011

Not coincidentally, all six of the previously mentioned
countries are home to one or more significant and successful
global airlines and one or more global hub airports; and all enjoy
the considerable resultant economic benefits.

[Translation]

That same potential does exist in Canada. Pearson International
is of comparable market size to Dallas-Fort Worth and Atlanta, but
only serves 32.3 million passengers a year.

Vancouver is comparable to Minneapolis-St. Paul (serving
24.4 million passengers annually) and Denver (serving
47.5 million passengers annually), but only serves 17.9 million
passengers a year.

Montreal is comparable to Baltimore (serving 29.8 million
passengers annually) and Seattle (serving 36.6 million passengers
annually), but only serves 12.2 million passengers a year.

[English]

For our part, Air Canada certainly has room to grow, through
our portfolio of untapped route rights, fleet youth, and flexibility
to respond to market demands pending new aircraft deliveries,
industry-leading on-board products and award-winning service.
We are specifically well positioned to compete and to succeed by
funnelling connecting traffic from the U.S. through Canadian
airports onward to Europe and Asia.

We are, however, much like I am sure you will hear from the
other large airlines in Canada that will appear before you,
regularly stymied by the high cost of operating at Canada’s
airports. Elevated infrastructure and service charges inflate the
“hurdle costs” associated with the initiation of a new service; and,
unfortunately, limited growth domestically and internationally is
a direct inevitable result.

With this firmly in mind, I would humbly suggest that the most
critical outcome of the study in which you are currently engaged
be a firm recommendation that the time has come for the
Government of Canada to commit to the development of a single,
cohesive policy framework that integrates Canada’s aviation
stakeholders into a united vision for the future. Emphasis should
first and foremost address the high cost to the Canadian
environment with a view to reducing infrastructure costs and
fees to the direct benefit of the travelling public, while establishing
modest passenger growth targets that industry and government
can move cooperatively toward. A relatively modest 20 per cent
passenger increase in Canada would yield an estimated
$5.7 billion in direct and indirect benefits to the Canadian

Ce n’est pas par coincidence que chacun des six pays
mentionnés précédemment compte au moins un transporteur
mondial important et prospére ainsi qu’au moins une plaque
tournante mondiale. Qui plus est, tous profitent des avantages
économiques considérables qui en découlent.

[Frangais]

Les mémes possibilités s’offrent au Canada. L’aéroport
international Lester B. Pearson représente un marché dont la
taille est comparable a celle des aéroports de Dallas-Fort Worth
et d’Atlanta, mais il ne dessert que 32,3 millions de passagers par
année.

L’aéroport de Vancouver, comparable aux aéroports de
Minneapolis-Saint-Paul, qui dessert 24,4 millions de passagers
par année et de Denver, qui dessert 47,5 millions de passagers par
année, ne dessert que 17,9 millions de passagers par année.

L’aéroport de Montréal est comparable aux aéroports de
Baltimore, qui dessert 29,8 millions de passagers par année, et de
Seattle, qui dessert 36,6 millions de passagers par année, mais il ne
dessert que 12,2 millions de passagers par année.

[Traduction]

De son coté, Air Canada ne manque pas de possibilités de
croissance, étant donné son portefeuille de droits de desserte
inutilisés, ses produits a bord inégalés dans I'industrie, son service
primé, son parc aérien récent et sa souplesse lui permettant de
répondre a la demande du marché en attendant la livraison de
nouveaux appareils. Air Canada est en trés bonne position pour
entrer en concurrence et connaitre du succeés en faisant passer le
trafic de correspondance au départ des Etats-Unis par les
aéroports du Canada, en route vers I’Europe et 1’Asie.

Cependant, comme c’est certainement aussi le cas pour les
autres grands transporteurs aériens canadiens qui témoigneront
devant vous, Air Canada est réguliérement génée par les colts
d’exploitation élevés qui ont cours dans les aéroports canadiens.
Les frais de gestion et de structure élevés gonflent les « obstacles
financiers » associés au lancement d’un nouveau service, et
malheurecusement, il en découle directement et inévitablement
une croissance limitée au Canada comme a ’étranger.

Dans cet esprit, j’estime humblement que I’issue la plus
importante de votre étude consistera a formuler que le moment
est venu pour le gouvernement du Canada de s’engager a élaborer
un cadre stratégique unique et cohérent qui regroupera les divers
intervenants du secteur canadien de I’aviation sous une vision
unifiée de ’avenir. Il faut d’abord et avant tout mettre I’accent sur
le contexte canadien marqué par des coits élevés, en vue de
réduire les frais de structure et les autres frais au profit direct des
voyageurs, tout en établissant des objectifs de croissance modestes
en ce qui concerne le nombre de passagers que I'industrie et le
gouvernement pourront atteindre en se concertant. Une
augmentation relativement modeste de 20 p. 100 du nombre de
passagers au Canada pourrait représenter environ 5,7 milliards de
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economy. Clearly, that opportunity exists. What we need now is
an understanding of how government and industry can work
together to get there.

Thank you again for the opportunity to present. I am happy to
take your questions.

[Translation)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Dee. I am going to take this
opportunity to introduce the members of the committee. Senator
Martin from British Columbia, Senator Mercer from Nova
Scotia, Senator Eaton from Toronto, Ontario, Senator Verner
from beautiful Quebec City, Senator Boisvenu from the Province
of Quebec, Senator Cochrane from Newfoundland and Labrador
and the deputy chair of the committee, Senator Greene from
Nova Scotia.

You have certainly given the new members of the committee a
broad overview of the situation the committee will be grappling
with in the coming weeks. Thank you for doing that, Mr. Dee.

[English)

Senator Eaton: I am a big fan of Air Canada; I fly it weekly. I
love what you do. However, if we made recommendations that
the government drop things like ground rent, fuel excise tax and
airport improvements, what do you think the cost benefit would
be to the Canadian passenger on your carrier?

Mr. Dee: Thank you for being a regular customer of Air Canada.

In terms of the direct cost benefit analysis, several academics,
including Dr. Fred Lazar at York University and others, have
prepared studies in the past that have talked about multiples of
economic activity that would be generated by the dropping of
things like ground rent. We have conservatively estimated that the
economic activity generated would be a four-fold multiplier. In
the case of ground rent, we have several international routes that
would be marginal in terms of profitability. Ground rents cost us
upwards of $250 million per year off the top with no direct benefit
to Air Canada or our customers keeping in mind that the ground
rent is for facilities that have been not only already built but also
paid for multiple times. Routes that we have looked at in the past
that have never been able to make it, such as flights to India, one
of the fastest growing economies in the world, would generate
significant economic benefits that would far exceed the
$250 million collected directly through the ground rents.

Senator Eaton: Do you see ticket prices dropping 20 per cent
or 30 per cent on average? How would the consumer benefit?

Mr. Dee: We carry approximately 33 million customers per
year, and $250 million goes to the ground rent. If you do a simple
calculation, it would not be a significant amount per passenger.
However, we are talking about $250 million. Our profits at Air
Canada in a good year would be $250 million, if we were able to

dollars en retombées directes pour I’économie canadienne. Il est
clair qu’il s’agit d’une occasion a saisir. Il nous faut maintenant
comprendre comment le gouvernement et I'industrie peuvent
collaborer pour y arriver.

Je vous remercie encore de m’avoir donné I’occasion de
m’adresser a vous et je répondrai avec plaisir a vos questions.

[Frangais)

Le président : Merci, monsieur Dee. Je vais en profiter pour vous
présenter les membres du comité. Le sénateur Martin, de la
Colombie-Britannique, le sénateur Mercer, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse,
le sénateur Eaton, de Toronto, Ontario, le sénateur Verner, de la
belle ville de Québec, de la province de Québec, le sénateur
Boisvenu, le sénateur Cochrane, de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador et le
vice-président du comité, le sénateur Greene, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse.

Vous avez certes donné aux nouveaux membres du comité un
apercu global de la situation a laquelle le comité aura a faire face
au cours des prochaines semaines, et je vous en remercie,
monsieur Dee.

[Traduction)

Le sénateur Eaton : J’aime bien Air Canada; je fais affaire avec
vous chaque semaine. J’adore vos services. Cependant, si nous
recommandons au gouvernement de cesser de percevoir, par
exemple, le loyer des aéroports, la taxe d’accise sur le carburant et
les frais d’améliorations aéroportuaires, selon vous, combien vos
passagers économiseront-ils?

M. Dee : Merci d’étre un client régulier d’Air Canada.

En ce qui concerne les avantages directs, divers chercheurs,
dont Fred Lazar de I'Université York, ont évalué I'augmentation
potentielle de I’activité économique, si le loyer cessait d’étre pergu,
par exemple. Nous avons évalué de maniére prudente que
l’activité économique ainsi générée serait quatre fois plus élevée.
En raison du loyer, des routes internationales sont actuellement
peu rentables. Le loyer des aéroports représente des dépenses fixes
de plus de 250 millions de dollars par année qui ne rapportent rien
directement a ’entreprise ou aux clients. N oublions pas que nous
payons le loyer d’aéroports qui sont déja non seulement
construits, mais aussi finis de payer depuis longtemps. Les
routes que nous avons déja examinées sans rien concrétiser,
comme des vols en direction de I'Inde, I'une des économies
mondiales les plus florissantes, engendreraient des retombées
économiques considérables qui dépasseraient largement les
250 millions de dollars percgus directement en loyer.

Le sénateur Eaton : Diriez-vous que le prix des billets
diminuerait en moyenne de 20 ou de 30 p. 100? Quels avantages
les clients en tireraient-ils?

M. Dee : Nous transportons environ 33 millions de clients par
année, et le loyer correspond a 250 millions de dollars. Faites le
calcul, et vous verrez que cela représente une trés faible réduction
par passager. Cependant, nous parlons de 250 millions de dollars.
Dans une bonne conjoncture, les profits d’Air Canada seraient de



1:24

Transport and Communications

5-10-2011

change the economics of operating in Canada. One of the key
driving forces that we have seen in recent times is the growth of
U.S. border airports. Senator Martin is probably familiar with
Bellingham airport. Senators from Montreal would be familiar
with Plattsburgh airport. Those from Toronto would be familiar
with Buffalo airport. Those airports do not have regimes such as
ground rents. Being able to offer flights at a lower cost and being
able to generate more economic activity, creates a larger pool of
passengers, which, in effect, would lower costs overall. In that
way, you are generating economic activity. The figures that I
cited, for example, show that Vancouver is nowhere near its
potential, given the size of the city in terms of the number of
passengers. Generating that type of activity through new flights to
India and other parts of the world, which currently are not being
served, would help in terms of lowering costs overall. You are
distributing infrastructure costs that are fixed over a larger
number of passengers per year.

Senator Eaton: The other thing you mentioned briefly is that
other countries do not have our labour costs. Does Air Canada
have defined pensions, for instance, for its employees? I think that
is becoming a very sore point for a lot of companies right now.
Obviously, it would be part of the cost of a ticket, is it not?

Mr. Dee: Absolutely. Labour costs are the second largest single
cost after fuel, so it is a significant input cost.

We are quite proud that, as a company, we continue to offer
defined benefit pensions to our existing employees.
Unfortunately, we compete against Canadian competitors who
do not even have pensions at all. Some of our Canadian
competitors contribute into RRSP schemes or things of that
nature but do not have traditional pensions.

We have tried to negotiate with our unions, and we have
succeeded in one area, which is for future employees to change the
plan — in the case of the CAW, through an arbitrator’s decision
— into a defined benefit/defined contribution combination, like a
hybrid plan. Those are certainly expensive.

We have inherent costs operating in Canada because of things
like our infrastructure costs and labour laws, which we are not
trying to change. We are merely asking for recognition of that and
for the fees we can control, such as airport fees and ground rents,
to be taken into consideration in the assessment of the
competitiveness of our industry.

Senator Mercer: Mr. Dee, thank you for being here, along with
your colleagues.

250 millions de dollars, si nous arrivions a modifier les divers frais
imposés au Canada. L’une des forces motrices importantes des
derniéres années est la croissance des aéroports américains situés
prés de la frontiére. Le sénateur Martin connait probablement
bien l’aéroport de Billingham, les sénateurs de Montréal,
laéroport de Plattsburgh, et ceux de Toronto, 'aéroport de
Buffalo. Ces aéroports ne sont pas assujettis a des politiques, par
exemple, sur le loyer. En étant capable d’offrir des vols a meilleur
marché et de générer davantage d’activité économique, on attire
un plus grand nombre de passagers, ce qui a pour effet d’entrainer
une diminution des cofits globaux. C’est ainsi que lactivité
économique est générée. Les données dont je vous ai fait part
démontrent, par exemple, que Vancouver est trés loin d’avoir
atteint son plein potentiel en ce qui concerne le nombre de
passagers, étant donné sa population. Nous pourrions faire
diminuer les colts globaux en générant de ’activité économique
par lentremise de nouvelles routes en direction de 1'Inde ou
d’autres destinations encore non desservies. Ainsi, nous pourrions
partager les frais de structure, qui sont fixes, sur un plus grand
nombre de passagers.

Le sénateur Eaton : Vous avez mentionné briévement un autre
élément, a savoir que d’autres pays n’ont pas de cofits de main-
d’ceuvre. Vos employés ont-ils, par exemple, un régime de pension
a prestations déterminées? Selon moi, c’est la que le bat blesse
actuellement pour bon nombre d’entreprises. Bien entendu, une
partie du prix du billet sert a couvrir les colts d’un tel régime,
n’est-ce pas?

M. Dee : Absolument. Les cotits de main-d’ceuvre représentent
le deuxiéme secteur de dépenses en importance, apres le
carburant. Ce sont donc d’importantes dépenses.

En tant qu’entreprise, nous sommes trés fiers de continuer
d’offrir un régime de pension a prestations déterminées a nos
employés actuels. Malheureusement, nous sommes en
concurrence avec des entreprises canadiennes qui n’en ont tout
simplement pas. Certains de nos concurrents canadiens
contribuent a des REER ou d’autres régimes du genre, mais
n’offrent pas de régime de pension proprement dit.

Nous avons essayé de négocier avec nos syndicats, et nous
avons réussi a nous entendre sur un aspect. Pour les futurs
employés — et c’est un arbitre fédéral qui a tranché dans le
dossier des TAC —, le régime de retraite deviendra un régime de
retraite a prestations déterminées et a cotisations déterminées, une
sorte de régime mixte. Ces régimes coltent en effet trés cher.

En exploitant une entreprise au Canada, nous avons des cots
intrinseques en raison des frais de structure et du Code du travail,
que nous ne cherchons pas a modifier. Nous vous demandons
seulement de prendre conscience de cette situation. Pour ce qui est
des colts que nous pouvons modifier, comme les frais
d’améliorations aéroportuaires et le loyer des aéroports, nous
vous demandons d’en tenir compte dans votre évaluation de la
compétitivité de notre industrie.

Le sénateur Mercer : Messieurs, merci de votre présence.
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I am confused about one of your answers to Senator Eaton. I,
too, am concerned. I am not against making a whole bunch of
changes in how government interacts with airlines and the fees
that are charged. However, you say that the U.S. airports have
charges that are 229 per cent lower than in Canada. Senator
Eaton’s question was about what will be the reduction in the price
of a ticket. You said there will not be a big drop. You then made
reference to the bottom line and the return to shareholders as
opposed to the return to passengers.

For the passengers going to Plattsburgh, Bellingham, Buffalo,
or from Ottawa to Syracuse, and so on, how do you expect to
attract those people back if you will not change the ticket price
significantly? If I lived in Toronto, why would I not take the less-
than-an-hour drive to Buffalo to save hundreds of dollars, just to
say that I flew on Air Canada? You have to give me an incentive
to do that and reduce the price significantly. In your answer to
Senator Eaton, you said that the reduction would not be
significant.

Mr. Dee: Senator Eaton mentioned ground rent, which is
obviously one of the fees that go into it.

Let me give you an example that illustrates this well. A few
years ago, when we launched a low-cost brand called Tango, we
said we would put out a §1 fare. Once we added on the airport
improvement fees, surcharges, taxes, all of the fees and charges
that we were mandated to collect, the §1 fare ended up being
around $79.

To give you an example, a U.S. carrier charges $2.50 and a
maximum, I believe, of $5 for security fees. There is a debate right
now in the U.S. as to whether or not that limit should go up.

In Canada we charge $7.50 domestically, and it goes up
to $15 internationally. The security processes we undertake in
Canada are no different from those in the United States.
However, because they are able to generate so much more
traffic, they are able to spread it out over a larger pool and
thereby lower the costs.

We are saying that if we are able to lower the input costs, such
as airport rents and things of that nature, to a more acceptable
level, then we would be able to take those dollars and invest them
in new flights, which would thereby generate greater traffic, which
would allow us to spread the costs over a larger number of people,
which would lead to lower fares.

If you compare seat sale advertisements from the 1970s, for
example, to seat sale advertisements today, there are many routes
in this country where the fares have not changed a dollar from
where they were in the 1970s, whereas fuel has exponentially
grown in costs, as have labour costs.

Senator Mercer: 1 appreciate that. I do want to ask you a
question later on about predatory pricing; however, I want to
concentrate on cost reduction.

Je ne comprends pas I'une de vos réponses au sénateur Eaton.
Je suis moi aussi inquiet. Je ne suis pas contre I'idée de modifier
les frais pergus et la fagon dont le gouvernement et les
transporteurs aériens interagissent. Toutefois, vous affirmez que
les frais des aéroports américains sont de 229 p. 100 inférieurs a
ceux des aéroports canadiens. La question du sénateur Eaton
portait sur la réduction du prix des billets. Vous avez dit que la
réduction serait trés faible, puis vous avez discuté des avantages,
au final, pour les investisseurs au lieu de ceux pour les passagers.

En ce qui concerne les passagers qui se rendent a Plattsburgh, a
Bellingham, a Buffalo, les gens d’Ottawa qui s’en vont a Syracuse,
et cetera, comment planifiez-vous de les attirer de nouveau dans
les aéroports canadiens si vous n’abaissez pas considérablement le
prix des billets? Si j’habitais a Toronto, pourquoi ne ferais-je pas
moins d’une heure de route pour me rendre a Buffalo et
économiser des centaines de dollars, si ce n’est que pour
prendre un vol d’Air Canada? Il faut me donner un avantage
pour m’attirer et réduire de beaucoup le prix des billets. Dans
votre réponse a la question du sénateur Eaton, vous avez affirmé
que la réduction serait trés faible.

M. Dee : Le sénateur Eaton a parlé du loyer aéroportuaire, qui
fait évidemment partie des frais.

Permettez-moi de vous donner un exemple concret. Il y a
quelques années, nous avons lancé une marque a faible cott
appelé Tango, sous laquelle nous entendions lancer un tarif a 1 §$.
Toutefois, aprés avoir ajouté les frais d’améliorations
aéroportuaires, les frais supplémentaires, les taxes et tous les
frais que nous devions percevoir, ce tarif s’élevait plutét a 79 §$.

En comparaison, un transporteur américain demande 2,50 § et,
je crois, un maximum de 5 § en frais de sécurité. On a d’ailleurs
engagé un débat, la-bas, pour savoir si on devrait augmenter ce
plafond.

Au Canada, nous demandons 7,50 $ pour les vols intérieurs et
ce montant s’éléve a 15 $ pour les vols internationaux. Pourtant,
nos mesures de sécurité sont les mémes qu’aux Etats-Unis. Par
contre, les Américains traitent un plus gros volume de passagers,
ce qui leur permet de répartir — et, ainsi, de réduire — les colts.

A notre avis, si nous pouvions ramener le codt des intrants,
comme le loyer aéroportuaire et d’autres frais du méme type, a un
niveau plus convenable, nous serions alors en mesure d’offrir des vols
supplémentaires, ce qui générerait un plus gros volume de passagers;
nous pourrions ainsi répartir les cotits parmi un plus grand nombre
de clients, ce qui nous permettrait de diminuer les tarifs.

Si vous comparez les annonces publicitaires de solde de places
des années 1970 a celles d’aujourd’hui, vous constaterez que les
tarifs associés a un bon nombre d’itinéraires n’ont pas changé du
tout depuis ce temps-1a, alors que le prix du carburant a augmenté
de fagon exponentielle, tout comme celui de la main-d’ceuvre.

Le sénateur Mercer : Je comprends. Plus tard, jaurai une
question sur la pratique de prix d’éviction; mais pour le moment,
jaimerais m’en tenir a la réduction des cofts.
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You mentioned the German Air Transport Initiative of 2003.
The German government and industry stakeholders have taken
steps to, in your words, increase efficiency and reduce operating
costs associated with activities such as immigration and security.

How did they do it? How much did they reduce costs by? Were
the savings passed on not to the bottom line of the airline but to
the passengers?

Mr. Dee: In the U.S.?
Senator Mercer: No, in Germany.

Mr. Dee: If you take a look at what has gone on in Germany,
you have seen a rise in the number of low-cost carriers that are
serving Germany and that are growing in Germany. That is the
end result. With the arrival of these low-cost carriers and the
ability of existing carriers to charge lower fares, that has an
eventual positive impact on German consumers.

We have not seen that type of activity in Canada. To give you
an example, in the case of Toronto we have some of the most
expensive landing fees in the world. To land the same plane in
Buffalo versus Toronto, in some cases you are looking at double,
sometimes more, to land the exact same aircraft. If you are able to
lower that cost through greater efficiencies and through the
elimination of the ground rent, then obviously those costs will
flow back to the customer with greater economic activity and with
larger numbers of routes, which would generate more customers.

Senator Mercer: If we were to do all of this and it would look
attractive for low-cost operators to now compete in Canada, it
seems to me that will be a huge benefit to Air Canada. That is a
comment as opposed to a question.

I want to return to a comment in your statement about pending
new aircraft deliveries. Have you ordered new aircraft? If you
have, where are you buying them from?

Mr. Dee: We have 787s on order from Boeing. There have been
some delays in the delivery program, but they should be arriving
in the next couple of years.

Senator Mercer: It is all Boeing?
Mr. Dee: Right now, yes.

Senator Mercer: None from a Canadian manufacturer?

Mr. Dee: The last order we placed was for wide bodies, which,
as you know, senator, Canada does not produce. Narrow-body
replacements for our existing A319s and A320s will be considered
in the years ahead. To the extent that a Canadian manufacturer,
such as Bombardier, is able to get aircraft online — such as the
CSeries, which has been touted as a replacement for a narrow-
body Airbus product — we would certainly consider it, at the
right cost and at the right time.

Vous avez parlé de I'Initiative de transport aérien que les
Allemands ont lancée en 2003. Selon vous, le gouvernement
allemand et les parties intéressées de 'industrie ont entrepris des
démarches pour augmenter l’efficacité et réduire les coits
d’exploitation associés aux activités comme I'immigration et la
sécurité.

Comment y sont-ils arrivés? De combien ont-ils réduit les
cotits? Qui a profité des économies réalisées : les transporteurs
aériens ou les passagers?

M. Dee : Aux Etats-Unis?
Le sénateur Mercer : Non, en Allemagne.

M. Dee : Si vous prenez le cas de I’Allemagne, vous constaterez
une augmentation dans le nombre des transporteurs a faible coit;
c’est ce qui arrive au bout du compte. L’arrivée de ces
transporteurs a faible colt et le fait que les transporteurs
existants ont la capacité de réduire leurs tarifs encouragent les
consommateurs allemands.

Le Canada ne profite pas d’une initiative de ce genre. Par
exemple, a Toronto, il faut payer certains des droits d’atterrissage
les plus élevés au monde. Il en coite le double, parfois plus, pour
faire atterrir le méme avion a Toronto plutét qu’a Buffalo. Si on
pouvait réduire ce cotlit en devenant plus efficace et en éliminant le
loyer aéroportuaire, il est évident que les consommateurs en
profiteraient, car l’activité économique augmenterait et on
offrirait un plus grand nombre d’itinéraires, ce qui attirerait
plus de consommateurs en retour.

Le sénateur Mercer : Si nous pouvions y arriver et que ces
mesures encourageaient les exploitants a faible colt a s’installer
au Canada, il me semble qu’Air Canada en profiterait
grandement. Il ne s’agit pas vraiment d’une question, mais
plutét d’'un commentaire.

J’aimerais revenir a un commentaire que vous avez fait au sujet
des avions dont vous attendez la livraison. Avez-vous commandé
de nouveaux appareils? Si oui, qui est votre fournisseur?

M. Dee : Nous avons commandé des 787 chez Boeing. La date
de leur livraison a été repoussée a quelques reprises, mais nous
devrions les recevoir d’ici deux ans.

Le sénateur Mercer : IIs viennent tous de Boeing?
M. Dee : Pour le moment, oui.

Le sénateur Mercer : Vous n’en avez commandé aucun d’un
fabricant canadien?

M. Dee : Notre derniére commande concernait les gros porteurs;
comme vous le savez, sénateur, on ne les produit pas au Canada. Au
cours des prochaines années, nous nous pencherons sur le
remplacement des avions a fuselage étroit pour nos A-319 et
nos A-320. Si un fabricant canadien, par exemple Bombardier, était
en mesure de fabriquer un appareil comme ceux de la série C, dont
on a fait la promotion en vue de remplacer les Airbus a fuselage
étroit, nous envisagerions certainement cette option, si le coit et le
moment nous convenaient.
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At this point in time, our focus on deliveries is on wide bodies.
We are the largest operator of Canadian-built aircraft on the
planet, along with our regional partner, Jazz. We operate Dash 8s
and Canadair regional jets.

Senator Greene: Thank you very much. I appreciate your
presentation. I thought it was excellent.

In looking into the future and to what this committee will be
recommending — and I am on the side of change — do you see
that we need to tweak the existing model or change it radically?

Mr. Dee: I do not think we need radical change as much as we
need a more cohesive approach to air transportation.

For the last few years, regardless of the stripe of the
government, the focus has been on small slivers of the policy
framework. In the case of the 1980s and 1990s, it became the two-
airline policy, which was to keep Canadian Airlines and Air
Canada flying. That shifted to concerns about Air Canada
becoming too dominant. After that it became the Blue Sky Policy,
which only dealt with the international air access piece of the
policy framework.

What we are calling for is a more global approach so we can
take a look at this industry from start to finish and look at all of
the challenges — not just cost but also opportunities and
frameworks that affect our industry. You would be surprised
that among the things we are concerned about are things like
transit visas. We are competing with parts of world, like Europe
for example, which do not have transit visa regimes because their
laws allow them to transit passengers without seeing a European
customs officer. We do not have that luxury in Canada.

When we compete, for example, between Brazil and Japan or
Brazil and places in the Middle East, we cannot as easily transit
people in Canada as a European carrier would. They end up
allowing people to transit through their countries without having
to apply for a transit visa, whereas we do. In some cases those
costs are added to the cost of the ticket.

We are looking for a global approach to air policy that looks at
all of the various pieces of government policy that affect our
industry — tourism, business traffic and economic development.
It is a whole host of things.

As Senator Mercer pointed out, we also have an aerospace
sector in this country that has a piece of that pie. All of those
elements should be part of a global policy.

Senator Greene: Is there a movement amongst other countries
to create a global policy?

En ce moment, nous nous concentrons sur la livraison des gros
porteurs. Avec notre partenaire régional, Jazz, nous sommes le plus
gros exploitant d’avions canadiens au monde. Notre flotte
comprend des Dash 8§ et des avions a réaction régionaux Canadair.

Le sénateur Greene : Merci beaucoup. Merci aussi de votre
exposé; je ’ai trouvé excellent.

En tenant compte des perspectives d’avenir et des
recommandations que nous allons faire — et je suis pour le
changement —, pensez-vous que nous devrions modifier les modeles
existants ou les changer complétement?

M. Dee : Je ne pense pas que nous avons besoin de
changements importants, mais d’une approche cohérente du
transport aérien.

Ces derniéres années, peu importe le parti au pouvoir, nous nous
sommes occupés de petits éléments du cadre stratégique. Dans les
années 1980 et 1990, on défendait une politique axée sur deux
compagnies aériennes; elle avait pour but de maintenir Lignes
aériennes Canadien et Air Canada en service. Ensuite, on a
commencé a se préoccuper de la prédominance d’Air Canada. Cela
a été suivi de la politique Ciel Bleu, qui ne visait que la composante
du cadre stratégique concernant I’acces aérien international.

Ce que nous voulons, c’est une approche globale qui nous
permettrait d’envisager I'industrie dans son ensemble et d’en
dégager tous les défis — non seulement les colts, mais aussi les
occasions et les cadres stratégiques qui influencent notre industrie.
Vous serez peut-étre surpris d’apprendre que les visas de transit
figurent parmi nos préoccupations. Nous devons livrer une
concurrence a des régions du monde, par exemple I’Europe, qui
n’ont pas de régime de visa de transit, car leurs lois leur
permettent de transférer des passagers sans passer par un agent de
douanes européen. Nous n’avons pas cette chance au Canada.

Lorsque nous tentons d’étre concurrentiels entre, par exemple, le
Brésil et le Japon ou entre le Brésil et certains endroits du Moyen-
Orient, nous ne pouvons pas transférer nos passagers aussi
facilement au Canada qu’un transporteur européen le pourrait.
En effet, ils peuvent transférer des passagers dans leurs pays sans
visa de transit, alors que nous devons I’exiger. Dans certains cas, ces
colts supplémentaires s’ajoutent au prix du billet.

Nous aimerions avoir une approche globale qui tiendrait
compte de tous les éléments de la politique gouvernementale qui
ont des répercussions sur notre industrie, c’est-a-dire le tourisme,
le trafic commercial et le développement économique. Cela
représente une foule de choses.

Comme le sénateur Mercer I’a fait remarquer, nous avons, au
pays, un secteur aérospatial qui a aussi sa part du gateau. Tous
ces ¢léments devraient faire partie d’une politique globale.

Le sénateur Greene : D’autres pays envisagent-ils de créer une
telle politique mondiale?
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Mr. Dee: Absolutely. There are many examples, and I gave six
in my remarks. Countries such as Singapore, for example, have
looked at aviation as a key element of their economic goals. This
is from the 1970s.

Senator Greene: Is there a movement amongst other countries
to create a similar global policy rather than a competitive one?

Mr. Dee: Do you mean a joint policy?
Senator Greene: Yes.

Mr. Dee: Not really. Airlines, unlike other industries, are still
subject to significant restrictions. Top of mind is foreign
ownership restrictions. We are not like the auto sector or others
where you can have global or continental policies surrounding
airlines.

There is a European policy in terms of air access, but in terms
of a global trade policy surrounding airlines there is not one,
primarily because of legacy rules like the Chicago Convention,
which governs ownership in the airline industry and the way
countries treat each other’s airlines through bilateral designations.

Senator Greene: As you look around the world and at what
other countries are doing and what their individual global policies
are, are there examples you can cite where you would rather
operate under their system than ours? For example, would Air
Canada be better off under the American system, under the
German system, et cetera?

Mr. Dee: There are positives and negatives to any system. We
are not saying adopt all of what is going on in the U.S. or all of
what is going on in Europe. We have the benefit, because we do
not have an existing framework, to cherry-pick the best and
become the best.

What many countries have done, whether it is Singapore,
Dubai or even France, is they have looked at themselves and said,
“We want to be the global hub. We do not want to be a spoke; we
want to be a hub.” They have built policies around that.

This committee may want to look at those examples more
directly and invite people from those countries to provide you
with their perspective or even see what they are doing there. The
global hub that they have built in Paris is incredible. They have
been able to do it with direct cooperation between the airlines and
the airports.

In this country airports were built with little airline input.
Minister Doug Young, a couple of years ago, after the fact, said
one of his biggest mistakes was the devolution of the airports,
because they built these giant buildings with little rhyme or reason
as to why they were built. That is in the past. There is nothing we
can do about it now.

M. Dee : Tout a fait. On peut trouver plusieurs exemples, et
jen ai donné six dans mon exposé. L’aviation a été envisagée
comme un ¢élément important des objectifs économiques de
certains pays, par exemple Singapour. Et cela remonte aux
années 1970.

Le sénateur Greene : D’autres pays envisagent-ils la création
d’une politique mondiale similaire plutét qu'une politique fondée
sur la concurrence?

M. Dee : Parlez-vous d’une politique mixte?
Le sénateur Greene : Oui.

M. Dee : Non, pas vraiment. Les entreprises aériennes,
contrairement a d’autres industries, font toujours 1’objet de
restrictions importantes. Je pense par exemple aux restrictions
relatives a la propriété étrangére. Contrairement au secteur de
l’automobile ou a d’autres du méme type, nous ne pouvons pas
établir de politiques continentales ou mondiales.

Il existe une politique européenne visant l’accés par voie
aérienne, mais il n’existe aucune politique commerciale a 1’échelle
internationale visant les entreprises aériennes; c’est surtout en
raison d’anciens réglements qui viennent de la Convention de
Chicago, qui régit la propriété au sein de I'industrie aérienne et la
facon dont les pays se servent de désignations bilatérales pour
traiter avec les entreprises aériennes des autres pays.

Le sénateur Greene : En tenant compte de ce que d’autres pays
font et de leurs politiques globales, pouvez-vous nous donner des
exemples de systéme que vous préféreriez au notre? Par exemple,
la situation d’Air Canada serait-elle meilleure si elle fonctionnait
sous le systéme américain, allemand, et cetera?

M. Dee : Chaque systéme a ses avantages et ses inconvénients.
Nous ne disons pas qu’il faut adopter tout ce qui se fait aux Etats-
Unis ou en Europe. Puisque nous n’avons pas de cadre, nous
avons ’avantage de pouvoir choisir ce qu’il y a de mieux et de
devenir les meilleurs.

Ce que bien des pays ont fait, que ce soit a Singapour, a Dubai
ou méme en France, c’est qu’ils se sont dit : « Nous voulons étre
la plaque tournante; nous ne voulons pas étre qu'un aéroport
comme les autres, mais bien une plaque tournante. » Ils ont
¢élaboré des politiques en fonction de cela.

Le comité voudra peut-étre examiner ces exemples plus
directement et inviter des gens de ces autres pays a lui donner
leur point de vue, ou méme voir ce qu’ils font 1a-bas. La plaque
tournante qui a été construite a Paris est incroyable. Elle a été
possible grace a la collaboration directe entre les transporteurs
aériens et les aéroports.

Dans notre pays, les transporteurs aériens ont peu participé a
la construction des aéroports. Il y a quelques années, le ministre
Doug Young a dit, aprés coup, que I'une des plus grosses erreurs
qu’il a faites a été la cession des aéroports, car on a construit des
établissements géants sans rime ni raison. C’est maintenant du
passé. On ne peut rien y faire.
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In the case of the Charles de Gaulle airport in Paris, that
airport was built with Aéroports de Paris, the airport operator,
and Air France working together and building a facility that was
to the spec of the airline to build their hub. If you see that airport
in operation, it is incredible. In addition to flowing traffic between
the world and Paris and other centres in France, that is a global
intersection. You can go anywhere on the planet to anywhere else
on the planet through Paris Charles de Gaulle. That is one if the
things we would love to do in Toronto, but we still are not there
because of the costs and the infrastructure that we have.

Senator Greene: Should the airlines be on the boards of airports?

Mr. Dee: The current rules do not allow it. Obviously we
would like greater input, and whether that is in the form of board
representation or a formal mechanism through changes to airport
governance would be positive.

There are cities in the U.S, for example Detroit or Charlotte,
North Carolina that have huge airline hubs with no real economic
reason to exist. The cities of Detroit and Charlotte are not huge
destinations for people, but they have been able to build huge
hubs there, U.S. Air in Charlotte and Delta-Northwest in Detroit,
or even Minneapolis, because of greater influence that airlines
have had on the development of airports and a lot more
cooperation. That is something we have missed in this country.

Senator Greene: I agree.

Senator Martin: Senator Greene touched on an area I definitely
wanted to probe more about, but thank you for those answers. |
think we have quite a challenge in Canada in terms of our
geographic size and trying to even just get around within Canada,
as Canadians. You speak about this international hub or the
vision to create Toronto or Vancouver — and perhaps in Canada
we can think about two or three hubs versus one because of the
sheer size of our country. The other thing that has come up again
and again throughout the sessions is the divide between these
urban hubs versus the other airports. I was in Whitehorse last
summer, and it was a different experience there than what you
would have in Vancouver, Montreal or Toronto.

In terms of a global framework, I wonder what challenges we
would have in coming up with something like that when we have
these distinct differences with the urban and rural hubs in
Canada. How would we overcome and create a global framework
that would meet and address the needs of these distinct types of
airports we have in Canada?

Dans le cas de I’aéroport Charles de Gaulle a Paris, il a été
construit grice a la collaboration entre I’Aéroport de Paris,
I’exploitant d’aéroport et Air France, qui ont travaillé ensemble et
qui ont construit des installations qui répondaient aux besoins du
transporteur aérien pour la création de la plaque tournante.
Quand on regarde la fagon dont fonctionne l’aéroport, c’est
incroyable. En plus de favoriser la circulation fluide entre le
monde et Paris et d’autres villes centrales en France, c’est un
carrefour international. On peut partir de n’importe ou dans le
monde et se rendre a n’importe quel endroit en passant par Paris-
Charles de Gaulle. C’est I'une des choses que nous aimerions faire
a Toronto, mais nous n’en sommes pas encore la en raison des
colits et de notre infrastructure.

Le sénateur Greene : Les transporteurs aériens devraient-ils
faire partie des conseils d’administration des aéroports?

M. Dee : Les régles actuelles ne le permettent pas. Evidemment,
nous aimerions participer davantage, et que ce soit sous la forme
d’une représentation au conseil d’administration ou d’un
mécanisme officiel par des changements apportés a la
gouvernance des aéroports, ce serait positif.

Ily a des villes aux Etats-Unis, par exemple Détroit ou Charlotte,
en Caroline du Nord, qui ont d’énormes plaques tournantes de
transporteurs aériens sans qu’il y ait véritablement de raison
économique. Les villes de Detroit et de Charlotte ne sont pas de
grandes destinations pour les gens, mais elles ont été capables d’y
construire d’énormes plaques tournantes — U.S. Air a Charlotte et
Delta-Northwest a Detroit, ou méme a Minneapolis —, en raison
de l'influence accrue de ces transporteurs aériens sur le
développement des aéroports et d’une coopération accrue. C’est
quelque chose que nous avons raté au Canada.

Le sénateur Greene : Je suis d’accord avec vous.

Le sénateur Martin : Le sénateur Greene a abordé un sujet sur
lequel je voulais me pencher un peu plus, mais je vous remercie de
vos réponses. Je pense qu’en tant que Canadiens, nous avons tout
un défi pour ce qui est de la superficie du pays et de nos
déplacements a 'intérieur de notre propre pays. Vous parlez de
plaque tournante internationale ou du projet d’en créer une a
Toronto ou a Vancouver — et compte tenu de la taille de notre
pays, nous pourrions peut-étre envisager d’en avoir deux ou trois.
L’autre chose qui est revenue souvent au cours des sessions, c’est
le fossé entre les plaques tournantes urbaines et les autres
aéroports. L’été dernier, j’étais a Whitehorse, et mon expérience
la-bas a été différente de ce qu’elle aurait été si j'avais été a
Vancouver, a Montréal ou a Toronto.

Pour ce qui est de I'idée d'un cadre global, je me demande
quelles difficultés cela poserait de réaliser quelque chose comme
cela, étant donné que nous avons ces différences entre les plaques
tournantes urbaines et rurales au Canada. De quelle fagon
surmonterions-nous cet obstacle et créerions-nous un cadre global
qui répondrait aux besoins des différents types d’aéroports que
nous avons au pays?
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Mr. Dee: You have hit the nail on the head in terms of one of
the significant challenges we, as an industry, face. If you look at
Air France, for example, which is building a spectacular
international network, or Lufthansa, which is also building a
spectacular international network, as you pointed out, they focus
in on one main hub. In the case of Air France, it is Paris; in the
case of Lufthansa, it is Frankfurt; and in the case of British
Airways, it is London.

In Canada we have Vancouver, Toronto and Montreal as our
largest three hubs, by virtue of their size as cities, but we also have
smaller hubs, as you describe them, in places like Edmonton,
Calgary, Winnipeg, Halifax, St. John’s.

Senator Martin: Whitehorse.
Mr. Dee: Exactly. I could name them all.

The Chair: There are 26 national airports. They would all like
to say they are hubs.

Mr. Dee: We have this significant challenge.

We are blessed, actually, with this geography in Canada. The
most geographically convenient transit point for a South
American traveller to get to both Europe and Asia is Toronto.
The closest point in North America to Asia is Vancouver. We are
not talking about favouring one hub over the other but generating
economic activity and traffic to not just support one hub but all
three hubs.

The U.S., just like us, has a spectacular geography, but they
have multiple hubs in the places you would least think. Many
people would not pinpoint Charlotte, North Carolina, as an
aviation hub, but it is. In the U.S. Northeast, the New York area,
you have La Guardia, which is a domestic hub, and J.F.K., which
is an international hub, and you have Newark, which is an
international hub. Less than an hour’s flight away, you have
Philadelphia, which is also an international hub. Not too far from
there, you have Detroit. From there, you have Minneapolis and
Chicago, Atlanta, Denver, Los Angeles and San Francisco, which
are huge hubs taking advantage of geography and local markets.

Canada, because where people in this country have come from,
has tremendous links to the world, and that is what we are talking
about. Your question was about harnessing that for domestic
activity. On our flight from Toronto to Tel Aviv, for example, or
from Toronto to Frankfurt, only about 40 per cent of that flight
is actually local Toronto residents. Many of those people have
flown in from the Sault Ste. Maries of the world, or the Windsors
or elsewhere in Ontario or even the Prairies to get to Toronto and
from there elsewhere. Those international hub flights also benefit
small communities by making those communities accessible to
trade and commerce.

M. Dee : Vous avez frappé en plein dans le mille pour ce qui est
de I'une des difficultés importantes auxquelles nous faisons face
en tant qu’entreprise. Si 'on prend I'’exemple d’Air France ou
encore de Lufthansa, qui mettent en place un réseau international
spectaculaire, comme vous 1’avez mentionné, ils concentrent leurs
efforts sur une plaque tournante principale. Dans le cas d’Air
France, c’est Paris; dans le cas de Lufthansa, c’est Francfort; et
dans le cas de British Airways, c’est Londres.

Au Canada les aéroports de Vancouver, de Toronto et de
Montréal sont nos trois plus grandes plaques tournantes de par la
taille de ces villes, mais nous avons également de plus petites
plaques tournantes, comme vous le dites, dans des villes comme
Edmonton, Calgary, Winnipeg, Halifax et St. John’s.

Le sénateur Martin : Whitehorse.
M. Dee : Exactement. Je pourrais toutes les nommer.

Le président : I1y a 26 aéroports nationaux. Ils aimeraient tous
dire qu’ils sont des plaques tournantes.

M. Dee : Nous avons cette difficulté de taille.

En fait, au Canada, nous avons la chance d’avoir la situation
géographique que nous avons. Toronto est le point de transit qui
convient le mieux d’un point de vue géographique pour un voyageur
de ’Amérique du Sud qui veut se rendre en Europe ou en Asie.
Vancouver est le point de transit nord-américain qui est situé le plus
prés de I’Asie. 1l ne s’agit pas de favoriser une plaque tournante,
mais de stimuler I'activité économique et le trafic de fagon a ne pas
soutenir qu’une seule plaque tournante, mais bien les trois.

Tout comme la nétre, la situation géographique des Etats-Unis
est impressionnante, mais ce pays a des plaques tournantes a bien
des endroits auxquels on ne penserait pas. Bien des gens ne
désigneraient pas Charlotte, en Caroline du Nord, comme une
plaque tournante aérienne, mais c’en est une. Au nord-est des Etats-
Unis, dans la région de New York, il y a I'aéroport La Guardia, qui
est une plaque tournante nationale, et I’aéroport JFK et ’aéroport
Newark, des plaques tournantes internationales. A moins d’une
heure de vol, il y a I"aéroport de Philadelphie, qui est également une
plaque tournante internationale. Pas trés loin de 1a, il y a 'aéroport
de Detroit. A partir de 13, il y a les aéroports de Minneapolis, de
Chicago, d’Atlanta, de Denver, de Los Angeles et de San Francisco,
qui sont des plaques tournantes énormes qui profitent de leur
situation géographique et des marchés locaux.

En raison des origines de sa population, le Canada a des liens
exceptionnels avec le reste du monde, et c’est ce dont nous
parlons. Votre question portait sur I'idée de se servir de cela pour
les activités nationales. Par exemple, a bord de nos vols entre
Toronto et Tel-Aviv, ou entre Toronto et Francfort, seulement
environ 40 p. 100 des voyageurs sont des résidants de Toronto.
Une grande partie de ces gens prennent des vols a partir de
Sault Ste. Marie, de Windsor ou de n’importe ou ailleurs en
Ontario, ou méme des Prairies, pour se rendre a Toronto et
ensuite ailleurs. Ces vols entre plaques tournantes internationales
sont également avantageux pour les petites collectivités, qui
peuvent ainsi avoir accés au commerce.
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I do not know if I have answered your question, but the only
way we can make Toronto work is if we can have domestic spokes
or routes feeding into Toronto and, from that point, flying
anywhere on the planet.

Senator Martin: Thank you. My question was actually more
about how we look at the reality of Canada and these multiple
hubs and the distinct differences in urban and rural centres and
develop a global framework that could realistically address all of
those concerns in Canada. It also speaks to a further analysis of
the examples you cited with the six jurisdictions. Geographically,
we are closest to the U.S., but we have other challenges that they
do not. It is an opportunity, because I do favour change and
development and improvement, but looking at other frameworks
and seeing which aspects could apply in Canada considering the
existing challenges we have. I think you and others will be very
important to lend those kinds of insights, which is why you are
here today, and perhaps further information or analysis that you
have done could be sent to our committee for consideration.

I have one other question which speaks to another question
about there is not a global or international framework per se, but it
is a competitive industry. I know that everyone around the table at
times has paid more for quality. Canada cannot compete in terms of
prices with certain jurisdictions. My question is regarding customer
service and training of Air Canada employees and whether there is
an annual focus on professional development and the kind of
training that could be done to ensure that the service that customers
are getting on Air Canada is, in fact, I will say superior or equal to
what they are getting in other airlines. If the service is impeccable
and to the level of people’s satisfaction, I think people will pay
more, to some extent. I am not speaking for everyone, but quality
versus anything else. What kind of professional development or
focus do you have with your employees?

Mr. Dee: On your first point on rural versus urban and the
geographic diversity of Canada, the U.S. has a program called the
Essential Air Services program, which subsidizes rural air
transportation to hub cities. In places like Massena, New York,
and places south of Ottawa that are very near, some of these
airports are actually benefiting from the Essential Air Services
program, which provides a certain degree of subsidy to allow for
connectivity. That might be a consideration for the committee to
look at in considering global policy.

In terms of customer service and training, yes, we do recurrent
training of our employees. Some years we do it more than others.
One thing I would say is that whenever we are compared to our
North American peers, which is the most comparable peer group

Je ne sais pas si j’ai répondu a votre question; nous pouvons
réaliser cela a Toronto seulement si nous pouvons avoir des
liaisons intérieures par lesquelles nous pouvons nous rendre a
Toronto, pour ensuite aller n’importe ou dans le monde a partir
de 1a.

Le sénateur Martin : Merci. Ma question portait davantage sur la
fagon dont nous examinons la réalit¢ du Canada et ces différentes
plaques tournantes et les différences entre les centres urbains et
ruraux et sur la fagon d’élaborer un cadre global qui, d’une fagon
réaliste, pourrait répondre a toutes ces préoccupations au Canada.
Cela demande une analyse plus approfondie des exemples des
six pays que vous avez donnés. Du point de vue géographique,
notre pays est celui qui est situé le plus prés des Etats-Unis, mais
nous avons des difficultés qu’ils n’ont pas. C’est une possibilité, car
je suis en faveur de changements et d’améliorations, mais il faut
examiner d’autres cadres et voir quels aspects pourraient s’appliquer
au Canada étant donné les difficultés que nous avons a I’heure
actuelle. Je crois que vous et d’autres serez des acteurs trés
importants pour appuyer ce type d’idées, ce qui est la raison de
votre présence aujourd’hui, et vous pourriez peut-étre faire parvenir
a notre comité d’autres renseignements ou analyses dont nous
pourrions tenir compte.

J’ai une autre question qui touche une autre question sur I'idée
qu’il n’y a pas de cadre international a proprement parler, mais
c’est un secteur concurrentiel. Je sais que tout le monde ici a déja
payé plus pour avoir de la meilleure qualité. Sur le plan des prix,
le Canada ne peut pas faire concurrence a certains pays. Ma
question porte sur le service a la clientele et la formation des
employés d’Air Canada, et j’aimerais savoir si tous les ans, on
centre son attention sur le perfectionnement professionnel et le
type de formation qui pourrait étre offerte pour s’assurer que le
service qu’Air Canada offre a ses clients est, en fait, je dirais
supérieur ou égal a celui qu’offrent d’autres transporteurs aériens.
Si le service est impeccable et répond aux attentes des gens, je
crois que dans une certaine mesure, les gens paieront plus. Je ne
parle pas pour tout le monde, mais la qualité compte plus que
n’importe quoi d’autre. Quel type de perfectionnement
professionnel ou de priorités avez-vous pour vos employés?

M. Dee : En ce qui concerne les centres urbains et les centres
ruraux, et la diversité géographique du Canada, les Etats-Unis ont
un programme de services essentiels de transport aérien,
I’Essential Air Services program, qui subventionne le transport
aérien des centres ruraux vers les centres urbains. Dans des
endroits comme Massena, New York et des endroits au sud
d’Ottawa qui sont situés trés proches, certains de ces aéroports
bénéficient du programme de services essentiels de transport
aérien, qui fournit une certaine part de subventions pour
permettre la liaison. Le comité pourrait en tenir compte dans
I’examen d’une politique globale.

Pour ce qui est du service a la clientéle et de la formation, oui,
nous formons nos employés de facon réguliere. Il y a des années
ou nous offrons plus de formations que d’autres. Ce que je dirais,
c’est que chaque fois qu’'on nous compare a nos homologues
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for us, the U.S. legacy air carriers such as U.S. Air, United and
Delta, we tend to compare quite favourably. We are quite proud
of that. Can we be better and do more? Absolutely.

I think one of the challenges we faced in the last few years is we
have had so much upheaval from the time we purchased
Canadian Airlines to the integration to 9/11 to all of these
things that have basically crept up on us without prior notice, and
we have had a workforce that has had to deal with this. We have
actually done quite a bit better than we have in the past, and we
are certainly looking for ways to improve. You are right that one
of the areas we need to focus on is training and customer service
training and what the training industry likes to talk about in
terms of customer touch points and how we can better interact
with customers.

There are many examples I can cite where we have led the
industry. We have an award-winning and internationally
recognized concierge program, for example, for our VIP
customers. We have won the award for the best flight
attendants in North America in the last couple of years because
our flight attendants have gone above and beyond. There are
areas where we have seen improvements, but there is still a long
way to go.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Thank you, Mr. Dee. I would like to extend
my thanks to your colleagues. Your brief is very, very interesting,
especially since I am one of the new members at this table, and I
must say that my knowledge about the airline industry is strictly
limited to my experience as an Air Canada client since 1976. How
long have you been in the aviation industry?

Mr. Dee: I started with Air Canada in 1993.

Senator Boisvenu: So I am more experienced than you — as
a client.

Mr. Dee: Just a tad, yes, absolutely.

Senator Boisvenu: I have had a few dalliances with other airline
companies, but I have always come back to Air Canada because I
think you have one of the best services in Canada. That being
said, you must have followed the Dorval-Mirabel saga in
Montreal, right?

Mr. Dee: Yes.

Senator Boisvenu: As an expert in aviation and as an Air
Canada executive, would you say it was a setback or a positive
adventure?

Mr. Dee: To avoid putting myself in a tough spot, I would like
to point out one thing about the debate between Dorval and
Mirabel. The debate slowed down Montreal’s development as an
air traffic hub. Having two separate airports for six million people
did not help. But, since the closure of Mirabel as an airport for

nord-américains, qui sont ceux avec qui on peut le mieux nous
comparer — les transporteurs aériens américains traditionnels
comme U.S. Air, United et Delta —, nous faisons bonne figure.
Nous en sommes trés fiers. Pouvons-nous nous améliorer, ou en
faire davantage? Tout a fait.

Je crois qu'une des difficultés auxquelles nous avons fait face
ces derniéres années, c’est que nous avons eu beaucoup de
bouleversements : de I’achat de Canadian Airlines, a I'intégration,
aux événements du 11 septembre, et a toutes les choses qui nous
ont pris par surprise; et nos travailleurs ont di affronter tout cela.
Nous faisons bien mieux les choses que par le passé, et nous
cherchons des moyens de nous améliorer. Vous avez raison : la
formation et la formation sur le service a la clientéle sont deux des
choses sur lesquelles nous devons nous concentrer, de méme que
ce dont le secteur de la formation aime parler en ce qui a trait aux
points de services et la fagon dont nous pouvons mieux
communiquer avec les clients.

Je peux donner de nombreux exemples ou nous nous sommes
classés au premier rang de I'industrie. Nous avons un programme
concierge qui a été primé et qui est reconnu a I’échelle mondiale,
par exemple, pour nos clients VIP. Ces derniéres années, nous
avons gagné le prix décerné aux meilleurs agents de bord en
Amérique du Nord, car nos agents de bord font plus que leur
devoir. Nous nous sommes améliorés a certains égards, maisily a
encore beaucoup de chemin a faire.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Je vous remercie, monsieur Dee, ainsi
que vos collaborateurs, merci beaucoup, votre mémoire est trés,
trés intéressant, d’autant plus que je suis un nouveau membre a
cette table, et je vous dirais que mes connaissances de I'industrie
aérienne se limitent strictement a mon expérience de client d’Air
Canada depuis 1976. Depuis combien de temps étes-vous dans
I'industrie aéronautique?

M. Dee : J’ai commencé chez Air Canada en 1993.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Donc, j’ai plus d’expérience que vous...
en tant que client.

M. Dee : Un petit peu, oui, absolument.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : J’ai commis quelques infidélités avec
d’autres compagnies aériennes, mais je suis toujours revenu a Air
Canada considérant que vous offriez I'un des meilleurs services au
Canada. Cela dit, vous avez di suivre ’aventure montréalaise
entre Dorval et Mirabel?

M. Dee : Oui.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : De votre point de vue de spécialiste en
aéronautique et de dirigeant d’Air Canada, peut-on qualifier cela
d’échec ou d’aventure positive?

M. Dee : Pour ne pas me mettre dans une situation difficile,
j’aimerais souligner une chose au sujet de ce débat entre Dorval et
Mirabel, c’est que cela a retardé le développement de Montréal en
tant que plaque tournante aérienne. Avoir deux aéroports
distincts pour une population de six millions de personnes n’a
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passengers and since passenger services were centralized at
Dorval, the managers of Aéroports de Montréal have greatly
improved the situation in Montreal. We are now seeing the
development of a true hub in Montreal, at Dorval.

If I can make a small clarification, I think the policy of dividing
traffic between Mirabel and Dorval was a failure, not necessarily for
local economies in the smaller regions of Mirabel and Dorval, but
for Montreal’s development as an international air service hub.

Senator Boisvenu: In your brief, you talked about travellers
starting to go to nearby airports in the U.S. I actually know
travellers who go through two check points, in Montreal and in
Plattsburgh.

Mr. Dee: Yes.

Senator Boisvenu: Did this migration occur after the revaluation
of the Canadian dollar?

Mr. Dee: Absolutely.

Senator Boisvenu: Of course, when the Canadian dollar was
worth 60 cents American, people were less likely to fly to the
United States and to pay in American dollars. Did that have a
significant impact?

Mr. Dee: It had an impact, but we saw the migration of
passengers even before that. However, it has become much more
common since the Canadian dollar gained parity with the
American dollar.

Senator Boisvenu: The Quebec and Canadian industries have
been faced with the same revaluation of the dollar. We saw that,
when the Canadian dollar was worth 60 cents American, it was
like a drug for the companies, and for a long time it really
prevented them from improving productivity.

In light of this client migration to the United States, does the
Canadian aeronautical industry need to carry out a productivity
exercise, like the Canadian manufacturing industry was forced to
do to be competitive with the American industry?

Mr. Dee: It is important to point out something about the
aviation industry: a large part of our costs are in American
dollars. For example, fuel is paid for in American dollars. The
aircraft are paid for in American dollars. Most of our aircraft are
built in Europe or in the United States, and so their nominal value
is in American dollars.

Senator Boisvenu: Is having the Canadian dollar on par with
the American dollar of benefit to your company?

pas aidé. Cependant, depuis la fermeture de Mirabel comme
aéroport desservant des passagers et la centralisation des services
passagers a Dorval, les gestionnaires d’Aéroports de Montréal ont
beaucoup amélioré la situation a Montréal et nous assistons
maintenant au développement d’une vraie plaque tournante a
Montréal, a Dorval.

Si vous me permettez une petite précision, je crois que la
politique de diviser le trafic entre Mirabel et Dorval a été un
échec, pas nécessairement pour les économies locales des petites
régions de Mirabel ou de Dorval, mais pour le développement de
Montréal comme plaque tournante internationale de services
aériens.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Vous avez parlé dans votre mémoire de
la migration des voyageurs vers des aéroports a proximité qui sont
dans la zone américaine. Je connais effectivement des gens qui
voyagent et ils font deux vérifications, soit a Montréal et a
Plattsburgh.

M. Dee : Oui.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Est-ce que la migration a suivi la
réévaluation du dollar canadien?

M. Dee : Absolument.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : C’est sir qu’avec un dollar canadien
valant 60 cents américains, les gens avaient moins tendance a
prendre I’avion aux Etats-Unis et & payer en dollars américains.
Cela a-t-il eu un impact important?

M. Dee : Cela a eu un impact, mais nous avons observé la
migration des passagers méme avant cela. C’est toutefois devenu
beaucoup plus fréquent depuis qu’il y a la parité entre le dollar
canadien et le dollar américain.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Les industries québécoises et canadiennes
ont été confrontées a la méme réévaluation du dollar. On s’est
apergu que le dollar canadien valant 60 cents américains était une
espéce de drogue pour les compagnies, ce qui les a gardées
longtemps trés loin de 'amélioration de la productivité.

Pour I'industrie aéronautique au Canada, devant cette migration
de la clientéle vers les Etats-Unis, y a-t-il aussi un exercice de
productivité a faire par rapport a cette industrie tout comme
I'industrie manufacturiére canadienne a été forcée de faire un
exercice de productivité afin d’étre compétitive avec I'industrie
américaine?

M. Dee : Il est important de souligner une chose concernant
I'industrie aérienne : une grande partie de nos cofts est en dollars
américains. Par exemple, le carburant est payé en dollars
américains. Les appareils sont payés en dollars américains. La
plupart de nos appareils sont soit fabriqués en Europe ou aux
Etats-Unis et leur valeur nominale est donc en dollars américains.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Le fait d’un dollar canadien a parité
avec le dollar américain est-il un avantage pour votre compagnie?
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Mr. Dee: It is more beneficial for the aviation industry than for
the manufacturers. But there are advantages and disadvantages.
For example, when the Canadian dollar is strong, Canadians
travel internationally. We do not see that when the Canadian
dollar is weak.

This summer, with the economic difficulties in Europe, we did
not see as many Europeans travelling to Canada, but we saw that
Canadians were travelling to Europe; Quebeckers are travelling to
Europe much more often than before, when the Canadian dollar
was weak.

We cannot compare ourselves too much to manufacturers in
Canada because, for one thing, a large part of our costs are in
American dollars, and for another, the Canadian consumers who
make up a large part of the market — half of our clients — are
encouraged to travel internationally when the Canadian dollar is
strong.

Senator Boisvenu: Does Air Canada get more out of domestic
or foreign travel?

Mr. Dee: Air Canada’s business affairs are divided into three
parts: one third of our revenues comes from the international
market; one third is from the domestic market; and one third is
from the American market. For the past two or three years, the
Canadian economy has obviously been much stronger than the
European or American economy, and that becomes more
important to our profitability.

Profitability has become less important in the United States
because of economic problems. But it depends on the cycle. A few
years ago, the American economy was very strong and we saw a
much more significant contribution from the United States.

Senator Boisvenu: Congratulations on your French.

Mr. Dee: Thank you.

[English)

Senator Cochrane: I believe you said that 17 years ago we
developed the National Airports Policy. Has there been no
revision of it since?

Mr. Dee: That is correct.

Senator Cochrane: It has been 17 years. What efforts has Air
Canada put forth in addressing this issue to government officials?

Mr. Dee: That is an excellent question. We have spoken to
many ministers since that time to look at the National Airports
Policy. Obviously, the policy that was instituted 17 years ago,
which effectively devolved the responsibility of airports to local
airport authorities, was a major change in the way that airports
were managed in this country. Prior to that, they were managed
directly by Transport Canada and paid for by the taxpayer. After
that period, responsibility was devolved to local airport
authorities, which were effectively autonomous from government.

M. Dee : C’est plus avantageux pour I'industrie aérienne que
pour les manufacturiers. Il y a toutefois des avantages et des
désavantages. Par exemple, lorsque le dollar canadien est fort, les
Canadiens voyagent a I'international. On ne voit pas cela lorsque
le dollar canadien est faible.

Cet été, avec les difficultés économiques en Europe, on ne
voyait pas autant d’Européens qui voyageaient au Canada, mais
on voyait que des Canadiens voyageaient en Europe; les
Québécois voyagent beaucoup plus souvent en Europe
quauparavant alors que le dollar canadien était faible.

On ne peut pas trop nous comparer aux manufacturiers au
Canada parce que, premierement, une grande partie de nos cofts
est en dollars américains et, deuxiémement, les consommateurs
canadiens qui représentent une grande partie du marché — la
moitié de nos clients — sont encouragés a voyager a
I'international lorsque le dollar canadien est fort.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Air Canada bénéficie-t-il davantage des
retombées des voyages intérieurs ou des voyages extérieurs?

M. Dee : Les affaires d’Air Canada sont divisées en trois
parties : un tiers de nos revenus proviennent de 'international; un
tiers du marché domestique et un tiers du marché américain.
Depuis les deux ou trois derniéres années, I’économie canadienne
est évidemment plus forte que I’économie européenne ou
américaine et cela devient plus important dans notre rentabilité.

Aux Etats-Unis, a cause des problémes économiques, la
rentabilité est devenue moins importante, mais ¢a dépend du
cycle. Il y a quelques années, I’économie américaine était trés forte
et on voyait une contribution beaucoup plus importante des
Etats-Unis.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Félicitations pour votre frangais.

M. Dee : Merci.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Cochrane : Je crois que vous avez dit qu’il y
a 17 ans nous avons mis en place la Politique nationale des
aéroports. On ne I’a pas révisée depuis?

M. Dee : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Cela fait 17 ans. Quels efforts Air
Canada a-t-il déployés pour régler la question avec des
représentants du gouvernement?

M. Dee : C’est une excellente question. Nous avons discuté avec
bon nombre de ministres depuis ce temps pour I'examen de la
Politique nationale des aéroports. Evidemment, la politique qui a été
instaurée il y a 17 ans, et qui consistait pour ainsi dire a transférer la
responsabilité des aéroports aux autorités aéroportuaires locales
constituait un changement majeur dans la fagon de gérer les
aéroports dans notre pays. Avant ce changement, ils étaient gérés
directement par Transports Canada et financés par les contribuables.
Aprés cette période, la responsabilité a été confiée aux autorités
aéroportuaires locales, qui étaient indépendantes du gouvernement.
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We are not looking for the government to take over the airports
again. When we look for changes to the National Airports Policy,
we are not focused only on airports. We look at how airports and
airlines could work together better. As Senator Greene mentioned,
we need to look at governance to see whether there are ways, not
necessarily through better board representation from airlines, to
develop more formal mechanisms for airlines and airports to work
together, for example on spending priorities. We have some very
beautiful airports in this country but if you look at their relative
attractiveness from an operating perspective, they are not as
attractive as they should be. There is a better way to work together
so we can make Canada a better place in which to grow the airline
industry, as opposed to just watching other jurisdictions do so.

Senator Cochrane: We all feel that way. We want to make
airlines better and we want to create more presentable areas for
passengers coming to and from our country and travelling to
other countries. I am talking specifically about you people. What
specifically have you done to see whether a revision to the
National Airports Policy is taking place? Have you achieved
anything with your views as you expressed them here today? Have
you achieved anything in the past?

Mr. Dee: In terms of changes to the National Airports Policy,
we obviously have not succeeded in any significant changes. In the
last few years, airport authorities, in particular at Toronto
airport, have lowered some of their costs in response to requests
from the airline industries; so things have improved in that sense.

Have we been able to change policies in a significant way? No,
unfortunately.

Senator Cochrane: Unlike Canada’s national ports, airport
authorities do not have a piece of legislation to govern their
operations. Instead, they are subject to ground leases that are
audited by Transport Canada. Is that not the fact?

Mr. Dee: There is a national airports act. Yes, the ground
leases govern the interactions, I suppose, between Transport
Canada and the airports.

Senator Cochrane: In your opinion, would airports be better
governed through legislation that clearly sets out the duties and
responsibilities of airport authorities?

Mr. Dee: 1 would have to consider that further because we
have not really considered that.

Senator Cochrane: Air Canada is a member of Star Alliance.
Mr. Dee: Yes.

Senator Cochrane: Star Alliance is one of the largest alliances in
the aviation industry. In your opinion, should companies in
global alliances be allowed to merge and become global

Nous ne cherchons pas a ce que le gouvernement reprenne le
contréle des aéroports. A propos des changements que nous
souhaitons dans la Politique nationale des aéroports, nous ne
nous concentrons pas seulement sur les aéroports. Nous
cherchons des moyens par lesquels les aéroports et les
compagnies aériennes pourraient mieux collaborer. Comme le
sénateur Greene I’a mentionné, nous devons examiner la
gouvernance pour voir s’il y a des moyens — qui ne passeraient
pas nécessairement par une meilleure représentation des
compagnies aériennes au sein des conseils d’administration —
d’¢laborer des mécanismes de collaboration plus officiels entre
eux, par exemple au plan des priorités de dépenses. Il y a de trés
beaux aéroports dans notre pays, mais si vous considérez leurs
atouts dans une perspective fonctionnelle, ils ne sont pas aussi
attirants que cela. Il y a un meilleur moyen de collaborer pour que
le Canada soit un endroit plus propice a la croissance de
I'industrie aérienne, plutdt que de se contenter de voir d’autres
pays s’en occuper.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Nous avons tous le méme sentiment.
Nous voulons améliorer les compagnies aériennes et créer des
espaces d’accueil plus présentables pour les passagers a
destination ou en provenance de notre pays, ou qui se rendent a
I’étranger. Qu’avez-vous fait en particulier pour voir si la
Politique nationale des aéroports est révisée? Avez-vous réalisé
quoi que ce soit par rapport aux points de vue que vous avez
exprimés aujourd’hui? Avez-vous déja réalisé quoi que ce soit?

M. Dee : A propos de la Politique nationale des aéroports, il
est clair que nous n’avons pas réussi a faire apporter des
changements significatifs. Ces derniéres années, les autorités
aéroportuaires, en particulier a Toronto, ont réduit certains de
leurs cotts en réponse a des demandes des sociétés aériennes. En
ce sens, il y a eu donc des améliorations.

Avons-nous pu faire changer les politiques de facon
significative? Malheureusement, non.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Contrairement aux ports nationaux du
Canada, les autorités aéroportuaires ne sont pas encadrées par
une loi. Elles sont plutdt assujetties a des baux fonciers qui sont
vérifiés par Transports Canada. N’est-ce pas vrai?

M.Dee: Il y a la Loi sur les aéroports du Canada.
Effectivement, les baux fonciers régissent les rapports
qu’entretiennent, je suppose, Transports Canada et les aéroports.

Le sénateur Cochrane : A votre avis, les aéroports seraient-ils
mieux régis par une loi qui énonce clairement les obligations et
responsabilités des autorités aéroportuaires?

M. Dee : Il faudrait examiner la question plus a fond, ce que
nous n’avons pas fait réellement.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Air Canada est membre de Star Alliance.
M. Dee : Oui.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Star Alliance est I'une des plus
importantes alliances au sein de lindustrie aéronautique. A
votre avis, les compagnies membres d’alliances mondiales
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companies and achieve the economies of scale as seen in other
global sectors? Does Air Canada have plans to further develop its
links with other member airlines of Star Alliance?

Mr. Dee: The issue of allowing members of global alliances to
merge is governed by multiple foreign ownership restrictions.
Canada restricts foreign ownership to 25 per cent, and many
countries in the world restrict ownership to that percentage and
up to 49 per cent. Much of that has to do with the traditional
definition of “designation.” A country’s airline is designated on
the basis of the nationality of that airline. Mergers cannot really
happen until the whole global framework for defining
“ownership” has changed; and that is rooted in the Chicago
Convention.

David Waugh is our Director of International Affairs, and
perhaps he can expand further on the notion of nationality and
global alliances.

It should be a short answer. In an ideal world, would we like to
be able to buy airlines in other countries and merge with airlines
in other countries, like other businesses do? Likely the answer
would be yes. However, there are multiple considerations, which
Mr. Waugh can expand upon, before we can even get there. It is
not just a question of Canada doing that but multiple jurisdictions
acting in concert to allow that to happen across borders.

David Waugh, Director, Bilateral International and Regulatory
Affairs, Air Canada: It is important to notice that it is a bit of a
web of international agreements overall, with the Chicago
Convention having been established in the 1940s. It is
important to remember that if Canada were to make changes,
that would not necessarily buy you any success on the
international scene, because many other countries would have
to make similar changes. As Mr. Dee pointed out, many countries
have similar regulations and rules, whether it is 25 per cent or
49 per cent. Many countries have not taken that step to fully
flexible foreign ownership.

Mr. Dee: British Airways and Iberia, from Spain, have
effectively merged, but that is within the confines of Europe.
Whether we would be able to do that between a Canadian airline
and a European or U.S. carrier is something that not just Canada,
but also the U.S., Europe and others, would have to decide upon.

The Chair: Before we go to the second round, perhaps I could
ask a question and provide a comment at the same time.

To answer part of your question, we have had seven ministers
of transport in nine years. He would have had to have repeated
his question to different ministers on the same subject. I have been
here for close to seven years, during which time there have been
six different ministers of transport.

devraient-elles étre autorisées a fusionner pour devenir des
compagnies internationales et réaliser des économies d’échelle
comme on le voit dans d’autres secteurs mondialisés? Air Canada
prévoit-elle resserrer davantage ses liens avec d’autres compagnies
aériennes membres de Star Alliance?

M. Dee : La fusion de membres d’alliances mondiales est régie
par de multiples restrictions relatives a la propriété étrangere. Le
Canada limite a 25 p. 100 la propriété étrangere. Ce pourcentage
est le méme dans de nombreux pays, mais il peut aller jusqu’a
49 p. 100. Cela dépend dans une large mesure de la définition
traditionnelle de « désignation ». Une compagnie aérienne d’un
pays est désignée selon sa nationalité. Les fusions ne pourront
réellement s’opérer avant que tout le cadre mondial de la
définition de « propriété » ne soit changé et ce cadre est défini
dans la Convention de Chicago.

Notre directeur des affaires internationales, David Waugh,
pourrait peut-étre donner d’autres précisions sur la notion de
nationalité et d’alliances mondiales.

La réponse devrait étre bréve. Dans un monde idéal, nous
aimerions pouvoir acheter des compagnies aériennes dans
d’autres pays et fusionner avec des compagnies d’autres pays,
comme cela se fait dans d’autres secteurs. Dans un monde idéal
donc, il est probable que nous répondrions par I'affirmative. Iy a
toutefois de multiples questions a régler, sur lesquelles M. Waugh
peut élaborer, avant méme d’en arriver l1a. Le Canada ne peut pas
agir seul dans ce dossier, de multiples pays doivent agir de concert
pour lautoriser a I’échelle internationale.

David Waugh, directeur, Accords bilatéraux, Affaires
réglementaires et internationales, Air Canada : Il est important de
noter qu’il y a eu tout un réseau d’ententes internationales depuis la
création de la Convention de Chicago dans les années 1940. I1 est
aussi important de se rappeler que, si le Canada devait faire des
changements, cela ne serait pas forcément vu comme une réussite au
niveau international, puisque de nombreux autres pays auraient a
faire des changements semblables. Comme I’a souligné M. Dee, de
nombreux pays ont une réglementation semblable, qu’il s’agisse de
25 ou de 49 p. 100, et n’ont pas fait la transition vers une propriété
étrangere entiérement souple.

M. Dee : British Airways et la compagnie espagnole Iberia ont
fusionné, mais elles sont toutes deux en Europe. Une telle fusion
entre une compagnie canadienne et un transporteur européen ou
américain devrait étre décidée, non seulement par le Canada, mais
aussi par les Etats-Unis, I'Europe et d’autres.

Le président : Avant de passer au deuxiéme tour, je pourrais
peut-étre poser une question et faire en méme temps un
commentaire.

Pour répondre a votre question, nous avons eu sept ministres
des Transports en neuf ans. On leur aura posé la méme question a
tous. Depuis prés de sept ans que je suis ici, nous avons eu Six
ministres des Transports.
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It is difficult to find long-term commitment. At the same time,
if you look at the last 15 years, we have probably had 10 ministers
of transport but only two or three ministers of finance. The
Minister of Finance is looking at the industry, I would think.

This will be a question and a comment. Do you think the
Department of Finance sees the airline industry and the airport as
a source of revenue, and would that be part of the problem?

Mr. Dee: That is an excellent question. I think the Department
of Finance does not just see the airline industry as a source of
revenue; it sees our passengers as a source of revenue. If you take
a look at the taxes that our passengers have to pay, the only other
competitors they have are smokers and folks who buy alcohol.
We are treated in the same way as sin taxes are levied in this
country.

If you buy an airline ticket, you pay an air security tax, which
goes to CATSA, and an air navigation fee, which goes to NAV
CANADA. You pay the HST over these, and airport
improvement fees as well, which HST is levied upon, and so on.
By the time you have added it all up, we are probably taxed as
much as a bottle of Scotch is. In terms of how the Department of
Finance sees us, for sure it sees us as a cash cow, but it also sees
our passengers as a cash cow.

The mentality, unfortunately — not just in Canada but in
many other parts of the world, although Canada happens to be
one of the most glaring examples — is that many folks who watch
television on Sunday nights now watch programs like Pan Am,
celebrating the days gone by of air travel, when air travel was the
reserve of the rich. The mentality of many taxing authorities
around the world is that we can tax airline passengers because
they are rich.

Air travel is very democratic now. People fly across this
country for all sorts of reasons, and not just the wealthy. The
wealthy customer pays as much tax, unfortunately, as the not-so-
wealthy customer. Those are issues that, hopefully, the committee
will look at and try to take care of.

Senator Eaton: Mr. Dee, to go back to Senator Greene’s
original question, I am stunned that you do not want to become a
board member or a stakeholder. For instance, I am thinking of
Pearson airport. Is it because you want to not take responsibility
for some of the decisions that the airport authority makes?

Mr. Dee: Senator, I would love to run Pearson airport, if I
could. The problem we face, for example, is that if Air Canada
gets one seat on the board of Pearson airport and our term is
three years, and after that it is a representative of another air
carrier or, heaven forbid, a foreign air carrier —

C’est difficile d’avoir un engagement a long terme. En méme
temps, si vous considérez les 15 derniéres années, nous aurons
probablement eu 10 ministres des Transports, mais seulement
deux ou trois ministres des Finances. Je dirais que c’est le ministre
des Finances qui s’occupe de I'industrie.

Ce sera donc une question et un commentaire. Pensez-vous que le
ministére des Finances voit dans I'industrie aérienne et les aéroports
une source de revenus, ou y voit-il une source de problémes?

M. Dee : C’est une excellente question. Ce n’est pas seulement
I'industrie aérienne que le ministére des Finances considére
comme une source de revenus, ce sont aussi les passagers. Si
vous pensez aux taxes que nos passagers ont a payer, imaginez
que leurs seuls concurrents sont les fumeurs et les consommateurs
d’alcool. Nous sommes taxés comme un vice.

En achetant un billet d’avion, vous payez une taxe sur la
sécurité qui va directement a I’Administration canadienne de la
streté du transport aérien. Puis vous payez une taxe de navigation
aérienne destinée 8 NAV CANADA. A cela s’ajoute la TVH, puis
viennent les frais d’améliorations aéroportuaires qui font eux
aussi 'objet de la TVH, et cetera. Au total, vous étes
probablement aussi taxés que si vous achetiez une bouteille de
scotch. Quant a savoir ce que le ministére des Finances pense de
nous, il pense certainement que nous sommes une vache a lait,
tout comme nos passagers bien sur.

On constate malheureusement — pas seulement au Canada,
mais dans bien d’autres régions du monde, quoique le Canada en
soit un des exemples les plus flagrants — que beaucoup de gens
qui regardent la télévision le dimanche soir s’intéressent
aujourd’hui a des programmes tels que Pan Am, programme
qui célebre les jours d’antan ou les voyages par avion étaient le
privilége des riches. Dans le monde entier, les administrations
fiscales pensent que I’on peut taxer les usagers du transport aérien
parce que ce sont des gens riches.

Les voyages par avion sont aujourd’hui trés démocratiques.
Dans tout le pays, les gens — et pas seulement les gens riches —
voyagent pour toutes sortes de raisons. Et malheureusement, la
méme taxe s’applique aux voyageurs riches qu’a ceux qui le sont
moins. Voila, nous I'espérons, les questions sur lesquelles le
comité se penchera et qu’il essaiera de régler.

Le sénateur Eaton : Monsieur Dee, pour en revenir a la
premiére question du sénateur Greene, je suis stupéfaite de
constater que vous ne vouliez pas faire partie d’un conseil
d’administration ou devenir actionnaire. Je pense, par exemple, a
I’aéroport Pearson. Est-ce parce que vous ne voulez pas prendre la
responsabilité de certaines des décisions que ['autorité
aéroportuaire aura a prendre?

M. Dee : Si je le pouvais, sénateur, j’adorerais diriger
I’aéroport Pearson. Le probléme vient du fait, par exemple, que
si Air Canada obtient un si¢ge au conseil d’administration de
I'aéroport Pearson et que notre mandat est de trois ans, et
qu’apres cela il y a un représentant d’un autre transporteur aérien
ou, Dieu nous en garde, d’un transporteur étranger...
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Senator Eaton: I do not see why all stakeholders are not
represented on the airport authority, and I will tell you why. We
all remember what happened to London airport last year with the
two inches of snow on the ground and all these poor passengers. I
am thinking that something like that might happen to Pearson,
Trudeau or Vancouver airport. It always seems to me that the
airlines do not want to take responsibility for the hundreds of
passengers who are there. They are not allowed to leave because
of weather, terrorism, or whatever. The airport authority kind of
says, “Well, we are not really prepared.”

Where does your responsibility stop in terms of passengers? Is
it when they step on the plane or when they step into the airport
and check in?

Mr. Dee: As soon as they buy their ticket, they are our
customers. Whether they have an issue at the airport because of
weather or what have you, we have always taken our
responsibilities in that regard seriously. In the case of London,
for example, we were the first airline to operate into Heathrow
after the runways were cleared. Obviously, our responsibility is
not the clearance of a runway but taking care of those customers
and ensuring that they get to their destinations as quickly as
possible.

There are certain things that we have no control over,
unfortunately. One of them is the weather. Last year we saw
the volcano eruption in Iceland, which grounded traffic across the
Atlantic. Those are things that affect us. However, even in those
instances we were communicating with our customers. I was
doing multiple interviews myself to communicate with customers
and try to provide them with as much information as we could,
given the circumstances.

In terms of people stuck at airports, we have not seen that
situation in Canada, luckily, over the last few years. However,
whenever we have had issues like that in the past, we have done
our best to address those issues and take care of our customers to
the best of our ability under the circumstances.

Unfortunately, in some instances — without defending what
went on in the U.K. — when you have that many people stuck in
one place, there are no hotel rooms for them to get to because all
of them are booked.

Senator Eaton: Many people cannot afford them, either.

Mr. Dee: Right. In some cases, people were in the middle of
trips and they did not even have their baggage with them because
they were stuck somewhere. It is hard for us to be critical of
everything that went on, but in our direct experience, we try to
help our customers.

Senator Eaton: I am not asking you to be critical. I am just
saying that if you and the other major airline — I guess it is
WestJet — who operate out of, for instance, Pearson, actually sat

Le sénateur Eaton : Je ne vois pas pourquoi tous les actionnaires
ne sont pas représentés au conseil d’administration de I'autorité
aéroportuaire, mais j’en devine la raison. On se souvient tous de ce
qui est arrivé I’an dernier a tous ces pauvres passagers a ’aéroport
de Londres, lorsqu’il est tombé deux pouces de neige. Je pense que
quelque chose du genre pourrait bien arriver aux aéroports Pearson,
Trudeau ou de Vancouver. J’ai toujours I'impression que les
compagnies aériennes ne veulent pas assumer la responsabilité des
centaines de passagers qui se trouvent a ’aéroport. On les empéche
de partir a cause du temps, du terrorisme, ou d’autre chose. Et
’autorité aéroportuaire fait alors des déclarations du genre : « Nous
ne sommes pas vraiment préts. »

Ou s’arréte votre responsabilité envers les passagers? S’arréte-t-clle
lorsqu’ils embarquent dans I’avion ou lorsqu’ils arrivent a I’aéroport
et enregistrent leurs bagages?

M. Dee : Dés qu’ils achétent un billet, ce sont nos clients.
Qu’ils aient un probléme a I’aéroport a cause du temps ou d’autre
chose, nous avons toujours pris trés sérieusement nos
responsabilités envers eux. A Londres, par exemple, nous avons
¢été la premiére compagnie a opérer vers Heathrow aprés que les
pistes eurent été déblayées. Le déblaiement ne nous concerne
évidemment pas. Notre responsabilité consiste a nous occuper de
nos clients et a faire en sorte qu’ils arrivent le plus rapidement
possible a leur destination.

Malheureusement, nous ne pouvons pas tout contréler, par
exemple le temps. Ainsi, I’éruption volcanique survenue l’an
dernier en Islande a cloué au sol tous les avions. Voila le genre de
choses qui nous touchent. Mais méme dans ces cas-1a, nous avons
communiqué avec nos clients. J’ai moi-méme donné de multiples
interviews destinées a donner au public toutes les informations
dont nous disposions dans les circonstances.

Pour ce qui est des voyageurs coincés aux aéroports, cela fait
quelques années, heureusement, que cela n’est pas arrivé au
Canada. Mais lorsque cela est arrivé dans le passé, nous avons fait
notre possible pour régler les problémes et prendre soin de nos
clients au mieux de nos capacités.

Malheureusement, lorsqu'un grand nombre de gens sont
coincés au méme endroit — et je ne cherche pas a justifier ce
qui s’est passé au Royaume-Uni —, il n’y a pas suffisamment de
chambres dans les hotels pour les loger tous.

Le sénateur Eaton : Beaucoup ne pouvaient d’ailleurs pas se
payer ces chambres.

M. Dee : C’est vrai. Il y avait méme des gens qui se trouvaient
en correspondance et n’avaient méme pas leurs bagages avec eux.
C’est difficile pour nous de faire des reproches, mais selon
I’expérience que nous avons de ces situations, nous essayons
d’aider nos clients.

Le sénateur Eaton : Je ne vous demande pas de faire des
reproches, tout ce que je veux dire c’est que si vous et 'autre grande
compagnie — je suppose qu’il s’agit de WestJet — qui opérent, par
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on the board of the airport authority, you might be able to put
some cohesive practices and solutions together if you were all
sitting around a table and you were all responsible.

Mr. Dee: I would not necessarily rule that out. That is not
something we would necessarily oppose. We would have to have a
look at the governance of the airport authorities writ large to see
whether they would present any conflicts and whether there
would be any difficulty in managing those types of relationships.

Senator Eaton: Right now you are in a silo situation, are
you not?

Mr. Dee: Absolutely. We do interact with the airports
regularly, but you are right; sometimes, sadly, we operate in silos.

[Translation]

Senator Verner: Mr. Dee, thank you for accepting our
invitation to join us this morning. I would like to follow on
what Senator Martin was saying about medium-sized airports in
regions that are less populated than the famous MTV —
Montreal-Toronto-Vancouver — such as Quebec City, which is
the area I am from, and Winnipeg and Calgary. I agree with you
about the democratization of the use of this method of
transportation.

I really think that travelling by air is no longer the privilege
solely of people who have the means to do so. In this context,
what recommendations do you have for the committee for serving
the populations around medium-sized airports, in medium-sized
regions? I am thinking of the Quebec City region, among other
places, where we saw the number of passengers increase by
15 per cent between 2009 and 2010.

Mr. Dee: 1 think the Quebec City airport is an excellent
example of a growing airport. For instance, it has begun offering
flights to the United States, which was previously not the case,
and also to Europe during the summer. The Moncton airport is
going through a similar transformation, as it is beginning to offer
flights to destinations that had never been part of its service
before.

On the one hand, it is necessary to take into consideration the
economic situation of the areas serviced by those airports. On the
other hand, the role air transport plays in economic development
also has to be taken into consideration. So, as we say in
English —

[English]

Which comes first? Is it the cart before the horse or the horse
before the cart?
[Translation]

Does air transport generate economic activity, or does
economic activity generate more flight connections?

exemple, de Pearson, siégeaient au conseil d’administration de
l’autorité aéroportuaire, vous pourriez assumer collectivement vos
responsabilités et trouver des solutions pratiques et cohérentes.

M. Dee : Je n’exclurais pas cette possibilité. Ce n’est pas une
chose a laquelle nous nous opposerions nécessairement. Il nous
faudrait examiner dans son ensemble la gouvernance des autorités
aéroportuaires pour voir si elle susciterait des conflits et s’il serait
difficile de gérer ce type de rapports.

Le sénateur Eaton : Pour [l'instant, vous fonctionnez en
vase clos, n’est-ce pas?

M. Dee : Absolument. Nous avons régulierement des rapports
avec les aéroports, mais vous avez raison; malheureusement, nous
fonctionnons quelquefois en vase clos.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Verner : Monsieur Dee, merci d’avoir accepté notre
invitation a comparaitre ce matin. J’aimerais aller dans le méme
sens que le sénateur Martin concernant les aéroports de taille
moyenne dans les régions moins populeuses que le fameux MTV,
Montréal-Toronto-Vancouver, par exemple, dans la région d’ou
je viens, a Québec, et aussi Winnipeg et Calgary. Je suis d’accord
avec vous lorsque vous parlez de la démocratisation de
I'utilisation de ce moyen de transport.

Je crois effectivement que voyager par avion n’est plus
seulement I’apanage des gens qui ont les moyens de le faire.
Dans ce contexte, que proposeriez-vous au comité pour desservir
les populations autour des aéroports de taille moyenne, dans des
régions moyennes? Je songe, entre autres, a la région de Québec
ou, entre 2009 et 2010, on a connu un accroissement de 15 p. 100
du nombre de passagers.

M. Dee : Je crois que I’aéroport de Québec est un excellent
exemple d’un aéroport en croissance. On a assisté a cet aéroport
au commencement des services vers les Etats-Unis, par exemple,
ce qui n’était pas le cas par le passé, ainsi que vers I’Europe,
pendant I’été. La méme situation a été constatée a ’aéroport de
Moncton, qui a assisté au commencement des services pour des
destinations qu’il n’avait jamais desservies auparavant.

D’une certaine maniére, il faut procéder en considérant la
situation économique des centres desservis par ces aéroports.
D’autre part, il faut regarder aussi le role du transport aérien dans
le développement économique. Alors, comme on dit en anglais...

[Traduction]

Qui vient en premier? La poule ou I’'ccuf?

[Frangais]

Est-ce que c’est le transport aérien qui génére l’activité
économique ou si c’est I'activité économique qui génére un plus
grand nombre de liaisons?
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I think that some countries have achieved success by looking
into this issue. For instance, as I mentioned earlier, the United
States has a specific program for airports in remote areas, but not
necessarily for medium-sized airports like the one in Quebec City.
However, I have seen medium-sized cities become air
transportation hubs. What I recommend is a study of those
examples.

I mentioned cities like Charlotte in North Carolina. Charlotte
is not a city that attracts a lot of international traffic, but it is a
very important US Airways hub. Can Quebec City hope to
become such a hub in the future? That remains to be seen.
Charlotte did not become a hub only because of economic forces,
but rather because the community was willing to work with an
airline like US Airways to build a hub, which has become an
important one over the years.

[English)

Senator Mercer: [ will continue with a couple of my colleague’s
thoughts concerning the issue of airlines sitting on the boards of
airports. It behooves one that a favourite game at airports is that
it is the other guy’s fault. For example, if the bags did not arrive,
it is the airline’s fault. If the bags did not arrive on time, it is the
airport’s fault. You remove some of that plausible deniability that
happens. My friends at Macdonald-Cartier International Airport
have heard me on this subject a number of times.

The Chair: Actually, they are listening to you right now. I
remind members that this committee is televised.

[Translation]

I just want to remind everyone that this committee meeting is
being televised. I want our viewers to know that we are now
debating and studying issues related to the Canadian airline
industry.

[English)

Senator Mercer: There has been little discussion about, and 1
was surprised that you did not make any reference to, the
question of freight, although you talked about commerce in
general terms. Where Senator Greene and I come from, the most
important thing that happens at Halifax Stanfield International
Airport is freight, with the export of fresh fish, in particular
lobster in the fall, which is a traditional meal at the holiday time
in parts of Europe. Perhaps you could comment on this. We have
seen freight in the Air Canada spectrum and what its future
growth might be.

As well, Senator Greene raised the issue of how airports are
managed, which you have talked about as well. I am not in the
habit of finding excuses for government, this government, in
particular, to not do something. However, if we make a

Je crois que certains pays ont eu du succés en étudiant ce
dossier. Les Etats-Unis, par exemple, comme je I’ai mentionné
auparavant, ont un programme spécifique pour les aéroports de
régions éloignées, mais pas nécessairement pour les aéroports de
taille moyenne comme l’aéroport de la ville de Québec.
Cependant, j’y ai vu des exemples de villes de taille moyenne
devenir plaque tournante. Ce que j’encourage, c’est une étude de
ces exemples.

J’ai mentionné des villes telles que Charlotte, en Caroline du
Nord. Charlotte n’est pas une ville qui attire beaucoup de trafic
international, mais elle est une plaque tournante trés importante
pour US Airways. Est-ce que la ville de Québec peut aspirer a une
telle désignation a I’avenir? Cela reste a voir. Charlotte n’est pas
devenue une plaque tournante seulement grace a des forces
économiques, mais plutot a cause d’une volonté de la collectivité
de travailler avec un transporteur comme US Airways pour batir
une plaque tournante, qui est devenue une plaque tournante
importante au cours des années.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Mercer : Je poursuivrai par deux idées de mon
collégue concernant la représentation des compagnies aériennes
au conseil d’administration des aéroports. On constate que
lorsqu’il y a un probléme a I’aéroport, c’est toujours la faute
des autres. Si les bagages n’arrivent pas, c’est la faute de la
compagnie aérienne. S’ils n’arrivent pas a temps, c’est la faute de
I’aéroport. On enléve ainsi certaines possibilités de démenti
raisonnable. J’en ai d’ailleurs parlé a plusieurs reprises a mes
amis de 'aéroport international Macdonald-Cartier.

Le président : En fait, vos amis vous écoutent en ce moment. Je
rappelle au comité que les délibérations sont télévisées.

[Frangais]

Je veux simplement rappeler que le comité est télévisé.
Jexplique aux gens qui nous écoutent que nous sommes en
train de débattre et d’étudier les questions relatives aux aéroports
et transporteurs aériens du Canada.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Mercer : On n’en a pas beaucoup parlé et j’ai été
surpris que vous n’y fassiez pas allusion, je veux dire de la
question du fret, méme si vous avez parlé du commerce en termes
généraux. Dans la région d’ou nous venons, le sénateur Greene et
moi-méme, la chose la plus importante est le fret de I’aéroport
international Stanfield d’Halifax. De la partent en effet le poisson
frais et, en automne, le homard, qui entrent dans la composition
des repas de féte traditionnels en Europe. Vous avez peut-étre un
commentaire a faire a ce sujet. On a vu que le fret faisait partie des
questions concernant Air Canada et on a parlé de ses possibilités
de croissance.

Le sénateur Greene a soulevé en outre la question de la gestion
des aéroports, dont vous avez aussi parlé. Je n’ai pas I’habitude
d’excuser le gouvernement, et ce gouvernement en particulier, de
ne rien faire. Mais si nous lui recommandons de lever les taxes et
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recommendation that they remove the existing taxes and levies,
the government must find a way to replace that revenue to do
what you want done. The levies that go to airports help to build
the terminals that make your customers feel safe and comfortable.
That still must happen. All of the things that are being paid for
elsewhere, for example security, et cetera, must still be paid for. It
is easy for us to sit here and listen and for you to say that the
Americans, Europeans and others do not have to pay such levies
so you should not have to pay them. However, where would the
money come from? You need to say that but you also need to link
it to economic growth because I think there is a direct link, going
back to the original question that Senator Eaton asked about the
benefits to passengers. Also, what is the benefit to shippers? The
Halifax Stanfield International Airport is considered an
important aspect of the Port of Halifax. When we talk about
the Port of Halifax and freight, we talk not only about ships but
also about airplanes. Can you comment on that?

Mr. Dee: We operate Air Canada Cargo, although we do not
have a dedicated freighter fleet. Cargo is carried in the belly of our
regular flights. I guess the reason we have not spent as much time
on cargo as we have spent on passengers —

Senator Mercer: Cargo does not complain.

Mr. Dee: Cargo does not complain; and we have not lost the
bags of many lobsters, yet. However, that is an important point.
Cargo is a significant portion of our business. Unfortunately, in
years past, we have looked at operating a dedicated freighter fleet.
We had a trial period when, as we say in the business, had a wet
lease, whereby you take both the aircraft and the crew of
freighters and run them from places like Halifax and elsewhere to
destinations around the world.

One of the things that greatly affected that operation was the
economic downturn. A leading indicator in economic downturn is
a downturn in air freight, which we saw clearly. Unfortunately,
the timing of our air freight operation was such that it was one of
the first things affected. It is an important part of our future.
Canada is one of the few G8 countries in the world without its
own dedicated cargo fleets plying the skies every night. We use
passenger planes to ship cargo. One of the biggest carriers of
seafood from Halifax Stanfield International Airport is Air
Canada on our flights to London, for example.

Unfortunately, air freight in the last few years has been such
that cargo, in particular from Asia, has been very uni-directional.
We have seen a lot of goods come in on flights to Canada, but not
much going in the opposite direction, because many of our
exports do not tend to be time sensitive or require air transport.
Some of our resource exports, for example, travel by other means,
like shipping.

redevances actuelles, il doit trouver un moyen de remplacer les
recettes qu’elles représentent pour financer ce qu’il y a a faire. En
effet, les redevances versées aux aéroports permettent de construire
des terminaux sirs et confortables pour les passagers. Ce sont des
dépenses incontournables. Toutes les autres dépenses comme celles
qui touchent, par exemple, la sécurité doivent étre assumées. C’est
bien joli de nous dire que les Américains, les Européens ou d’autres
n’ont pas a payer ces redevances et que par conséquent nous ne
devrions pas avoir a les payer. Mais alors, d’ou viendra I'argent? Il
faut poser la question et la poser par rapport a la croissance
économique, car les deux sont liées si I'on revient a la premiére
question du sénateur Eaton a propos des avantages destinés aux
passagers. Mais qu’en est-il des avantages qu’en retirent les
expéditeurs? L’aéroport international Stanfield d’Halifax est un
¢lément important du port de la ville. Lorsque 1’on parle du port
d’Halifax et du fret, nous ne parlons pas seulement des navires, mais
aussi des avions. Pouvez-vous faire un commentaire a ce sujet?

M. Dee : Nous exploitons Air Canada Cargo, bien que nous
n’ayons pas de flotte réservée au fret. Le fret est transporté dans la
soute a bagages des vols réguliers. La raison pour laquelle nous
n’avons pas consacré autant de temps au fret qu’aux passagers est,
je suppose...

Le sénateur Mercer : Que le fret ne se plaint pas.

M. Dee : Oui, le fret ne se plaint pas et nous n’avons pas encore
perdu de bagage de homard. Toutefois, c’est un point important.
Le fret représente une portion significative de nos affaires. Ces
derniéres années, nous avions envisagé d’exploiter une flotte
exclusivement réservée au fret. Dans le cadre dun projet pilote,
nous avions conclu ce qu’on appelle dans notre jargon un bail de
location avec équipage aux termes duquel nous utilisions la flotte
et les équipages a partir d’endroits comme Halifax ou ailleurs vers
des destinations du monde entier.

x

Une des choses qui a grandement nui a ce service a été le
ralentissement économique. Un indicateur avancé du ralentissement
économique est un ralentissement dans le secteur du fret aérien, ce
qui s’est manifestement produit. Malheureusement, le moment
choisi pour le lancement de notre service de fret aérien a fait en sorte
que ce fut une des premiéres choses a étre touchée. C’est un élément
important de notre avenir. Le Canada est un des rares pays du G8 a
ne pas avoir ses propres flottes d’avions cargo qui sillonnent le ciel
toutes les nuits. Nous utilisons des avions de passagers pour
transporter du fret. Un des plus importants transporteurs de fruits
de mer a laéroport international Stanfield de Halifax est Air
Canada, sur ses vols a destination de Londres, par exemple.

Malheureusement, ces quelques derniéres années, le marché du
fret est tel que le transport de marchandise, particuliérement en
provenance d’Asie, se fait dans une seule direction. On constate
que beaucoup de biens arrivent sur des vols a destination du
Canada, mais il n’y en a pas beaucoup qui transitent dans ’autre
sens, parce que beaucoup de nos exportations ne sont pas des
produits a délai de livraison critique et ne nécessitent pas d’étre
transportées par avion. Par exemple, on utilise d’autres moyens de
transport pour l’exportation de certaines de nos ressources,
comme les navires de charge.
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To the extent that the economy would permit, it is an
aspiration of Air Canada’s that we look at a freighter operation
in the future. Whether that happens in the immediate future or
not is tough to say.

Senator Mercer: A couple of years ago Air Canada closed its
flight attendant operation in Halifax. Flight attendants are no
longer based in Halifax; they are based elsewhere, like Toronto or
Montreal.

Those of us who fly through Stanfield International Airport
find ourselves sitting often with flight attendants going back and
forth to their assignments. Have you gone back and examined
this? Has it worked the way you wanted it to, from the company’s
point of view? Does it continue to be a subject in the labour
negotiations with the three unions that are involved in this
process?

Mr. Dee: The flight attendant base was actually closed a couple
of years ago. I was not there for the short period when it was
closed, so I cannot comment directly on the decision.

Senator Mercer: Positive liability again.

Mr. Dee: There was positive liability on that part.

The thing we saw at that time, and the justification for the
closure, was that the base had attrited to a point where keeping
the base in Halifax was deemed uneconomical.

Has it worked? We generally sense that, given the provisions
we have put in place for the flight attendants that were affected,
not moving them but helping them commute from their homes in
Halifax to their workplaces, whether it be Montreal, Toronto or
elsewhere, has largely not been an issue that we have seen since
the closure of that base. Is it the subject of labour negotiations in
recent times? No, it has not been.

Senator Mercer: It is very difficult for families to move, flight
attendants with two or three children to pick up and move from a
place with a reasonable cost of living, like Halifax, and ask them
to move to Toronto where prices go through the roof. That is a
comment.

I want to talk about the Billy Bishop Toronto City Airport. In
my previous life, I flew to Toronto’s city centre airport at least
weekly. I used to fly Air Canada. Then Air Canada closed their
operations there, which puzzled me because I never flew on an
empty plane between Ottawa and Toronto city centre. Porter took
over the operations and did very well. I have flown on their airline
a number of times to Toronto city centre.

You are now back in the business. One of the criticisms I have
had since I have been on this committee, and I have been on this
committee since I have been in the Senate, was the tendency for
Air Canada to adopt a predatory pricing regime. That is, you find

Si la conjoncture économique le permet, Air Canada aimerait
mettre sur pied un service de fret a ’avenir. Quant a savoir si cela
se fera dans un avenir rapproché ou non, je ne saurais vous le dire.

Le sénateur Mercer : Il y a deux ou trois ans, Air Canada a
fermé son centre d’agents de bord de Halifax. En conséquence, les
agents de bord ne sont plus basés a Halifax, mais ailleurs, comme
a Toronto ou Montréal.

Ceux d’entre nous qui transitent par I’aéroport international
Stanfield de Halifax se retrouvent souvent a voyager avec des
agents de bord qui se rendent a leur travail ou qui en reviennent.
Avez-vous réexaminé la situation? Du point de vue de I’entreprise,
cela a-t-il eu les résultats escomptés? Est-ce toujours un sujet qui
est abordé lors des négociations collectives avec les trois syndicats
concernés?

M. Dee : Le centre d’agents de bord a été fermé il y a deux ou
trois ans. Je n’étais pas la pendant la courte période ou on I’a
fermé; je ne peux donc pas faire de commentaires sur la décision
en soi.

Le sénateur Mercer : C’est, encore une fois, de la responsabilité
positive.

M. Dee : C’était une question de responsabilité positive.

Ce qu’on a constaté a 1’époque — et c’est ce qui justifie la
fermeture —, c’est que le centre était rendu a un point ou on a
jugé que de le maintenir a Halifax était non rentable.

Cela a-t-il fonctionné? De fagon générale, compte tenu des
mesures que nous avons mises en place pour les agents de bord qui
ont été touchés — non pas de les réinstaller, mais de faciliter leurs
déplacements entre leur domicile & Halifax et leur lieu de travail,
qu’il s’agisse de Montréal, Toronto ou d’un autre endroit —, nous
avons le sentiment que depuis la fermeture du centre, cela n’a pas
vraiment posé probléme. Est-ce un sujet qui a été abordé récemment
pendant les négociations collectives? Non.

Le sénateur Mercer : Déménager est trés difficile pour les
familles, pour des agents de bord qui ont deux ou trois enfants, a
qui on demande de partir d’'un endroit ou le coit de la vie est
raisonnable, comme Halifax, pour aller a Toronto, ou le cott de
la vie est exorbitant. Ce n’est qu'un commentaire.

Je veux parler de I’aéroport Billy Bishop de Toronto. Dans ma
vie antérieure, je passais par I’aéroport du centre-ville de Toronto
au moins une fois par semaine. J’avais I’habitude de voyager sur
les ailes d’Air Canada. Ensuite, Air Canada a cessé ses activités a
cet endroit, ce qui m’a surpris, parce que je n’avais jamais voyagé
a bord d’un avion vide entre Ottawa et le centre-ville de Toronto.
Porter a pris le relais et s’est trés bien acquittée de cette tache. Je
me suis rendu a 1’aéroport du centre-ville de Toronto plusieurs
fois a bord de leurs appareils.

Vous étes maintenant revenus dans ce marché. Une des
critiques dont on m’a fait part depuis que je siége au comité —
et j’en fais partie depuis ma nomination au Sénat —, c’est qu’Air
Canada a tendance a adopter une pratique de prix d’éviction. Cela
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a competitor that is taking away some of your business because
they are a low-cost operator and you drive them out of business
by pricing that particular flight down to or lower than theirs, and
they shrivel up and leave. I have not seen it yet with Porter,
because Porter has been very aggressive. However, for that flight
your prices have come down from anywhere to the Toronto city
centre. How much have you been able to recover from your
previous traffic that you had prior to leaving Toronto city centre
several years ago?

Mr. Dee: We currently are only able to operate, because of slot
constraints at that airport, between Montreal and Toronto city
centre. We are not able to offer flights to any other destinations.
In terms of recovery, that operation has certainly met and, in
some cases, exceeded our expectations. However, we have not
been able to see what we could do. From Ottawa to Toronto city
centre, for example, we do not currently operate.

Senator Mercer: It seems to me that for every action there is a
reaction. You took an action, and the reaction was that someone
filled the void.

Senator Cochrane talked about this, and Senator Dawson
referred to making representations to government. I cannot let the
opportunity pass that your either outright or quiet opposition to
the expansion of Emirates access to Canadian airspace for flights
to and from Dubai seems short-sighted, as far as I am concerned.
It is short-sighted from an industry point of view. You want to
grow the industry, while opposing them expanding theirs. You
will get the same push-back from other people elsewhere.

I would also draw your attention to the side effect that that
kind of opposition had on our military operation in Afghanistan,
by losing access to Camp Mirage. The people in Dubai were
saying it was directly related to the negotiations of airspace and
air travel for their airlines.

This is serious business. This has cost the government — it does
not matter which government it is — and Canadians millions, if
not billions, of dollars and created some serious problems for our
military operations while we were winding down our operations
in Afghanistan. I urge you to think about that, about what the
consequences will be of some of these oppositions.

Senator Greene: I have two unrelated questions. The first one
comes from Senator Mercer’s question about the money and
where it ends up. If we reduce the taxes and fees it has to be
replaced by something, somewhere.

Does it really have to be replaced? My understanding is that
the rent and taxes that come into the industry from the passenger
basically are siphoned right out of the industry because those rent
and taxes really do not pay for anything at all.

signifie que vous ciblez un concurrent qui vous enléve des parts de
marché parce que c’est un transporteur a peu de frais, puis vous le
chassez du marché en égalant le prix de votre concurrent pour ce
vol précis ou en fixant un prix plus bas, jusqu’a ce qu’il se replie et
abandonne le marché. Je n’ai pas encore vu cela dans le cas de
Porter, parce que ’entreprise a été trés dynamique. Cependant,
sans égard au point de départ, vos prix pour ce vol a destination
de I'aéroport du centre-ville de Toronto ont baissé. Par rapport a
I’achalandage que vous aviez avant de quitter ’aéroport du
centre-ville de Toronto il y a plusieurs années, quelle est la part de
marché que vous avez récupérée?

M. Dee : Actuellement, en raison des contraintes liées aux
créneaux de temps a cet aéroport, nous pouvons seulement
exploiter une ligne aérienne entre Montréal et Toronto. Nous ne
pouvons pas offrir de vols pour toute autre destination. Quant a
la récupération des parts de marché, cette ligne a certainement
satisfait a nos attentes et, dans certains cas, les a dépassées.
Toutefois, nous n’avons pas été en mesure de voir ce que nous
pourrions faire. En ce moment, par exemple, nous n’offrons pas
de service entre Ottawa et 1’aéroport du centre-ville de Toronto.

Le sénateur Mercer : Il me semble que pour chaque action, il y
a une réaction. Vous avez pris une décision et la réaction a été que
quelqu’un a comblé le vide.

Le sénateur Cochrane en a parlé, et le sénateur Dawson a
proposé d’entreprendre des démarches aupres du gouvernement. Je
ne peux pas laisser filer 'occasion de vous dire qu’a mon avis, votre
opposition, catégorique ou silencieuse, a donner aux Emirats arabes
unis — pour les vols a destination ou en provenance de Dubai — un
meilleur accés a I'espace aérien canadien semble étre une politique a
courte vue. Ce I’est du point de vue de I'industrie. Vous voulez
accroitre votre marché tout en empéchant les autres de faire de
méme. Vous aurez la méme réaction des autres.

Jaimerais aussi attirer votre attention sur les effets négatifs que
ce genre d’opposition a eus sur notre opération militaire en
Afghanistan, en raison de la perte d’accés au Camp Mirage. A
Dubai, les gens disaient que c’était directement lié aux négociations
sur I’espace aérien et les lignes aériennes pour les transporteurs.

C’est un enjeu important. Cela a colité au gouvernement — peu
importe de quel gouvernement il s’agit — et aux Canadiens des
millions, voire des milliards de dollars, et cela a gravement nui a
nos opérations militaires au moment méme ou nous mettions fin a
nos opérations en Afghanistan. Je vous exhorte a y réfléchir, a
penser aux conséquences de certaines prises de position hostiles.

Le sénateur Greene : J’ai deux questions qui n’ont aucun lien
entre elles. La premiére découle de la question que le sénateur
Mercer a posée a propos de I’argent et de son utilisation. Si nous
réduisons les taxes et les frais, il faut les remplacer par autre
chose, quelque part.

Faut-il vraiment les remplacer? Je crois comprendre que les
frais et les taxes qui sont versés a lI'industrie par les passagers
ressortent immédiatement de I'industrie, pour ainsi dire, parce
qu’en réalité, ils ne servent pas a payer quoi que ce soit.
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Mr. Dee: No. That is exactly the point. In many jurisdictions
around the world the fees collected actually go toward the service
being purchased.

In the U.S., for example, when you pay an immigration fee to
enter the U.S., which is collected on your airline ticket, that fee
goes to pay for the activity that is undertaken to inspect you by
the customs officer. In the case of transport security, it is the same
principle.

In Canada, unfortunately, many of the fees and charges that
are collected on air travellers goes right into general revenues.
There is no direct correlation between the service supposedly
purchased by the customer and the service they receive. In some
ways, they might as well call all of these fees one single tax as
opposed to calling them separate taxes, because the taxes
collected and the services received do not correlate.

Senator Greene: That was exactly my understanding.

You mentioned earlier that you did not want to go back to the
days — and I think everyone around the table agrees — where the
federal government owned all the airports. I was wondering about
municipalities. It seems to me that often municipalities are at war
with their airports at various times, yet the airport could be a
major economic tool for the development of a municipality. You
said that with regard to Charlotte, which is a wonderful example.

Have you given some thought to whether municipalities ought
to own the airports? If they did, it seems to me that they would
have the same economic interests as the airlines would: more
tourists, economic development, et cetera.

Mr. Dee: When the airport authorities were first conceived, the
idea was to make them closer to their local interests. There are
some examples, primarily in the United States but also elsewhere,
where municipalities, or at least municipally controlled, or in
some cases state-government-controlled entities, do run airports.
In New York, the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey,
which is an agency of both state governments, runs the three large
airports and others, but principally JFK, New York and La
Guardia. Those examples have been quite effective. In some cases,
municipalities themselves have directly run the airports through
municipal airport boards.

There are several governance examples that have been
successful around the world. Canada chose a system that is a
little less clear in terms of accountabilities. Airport authorities
have boards that are appointed by different groups. No one really
has a majority. A look at airport governance examples around the
world would shed some light on how other countries have had
different experiences in running their airports.

M. Dee : Non. C’est exactement de cela qu’il s’agit. Dans
beaucoup de pays du monde, les frais pergus servent a payer le
service regu.

Aux Etats-Unis, par exemple, lorsque vous payez a méme votre
billet d’avion un droit d’immigration pour entrer aux Etats-Unis,
ces droits servent a payer pour l'activité qui est entreprise, qui est
votre inspection par un agent des douanes. Pour ce qui est de la
sécurité du transport aérien, c’est le méme principe.

Au Canada, malheureusement, une grande partie des frais et
des droits percus vont directement dans les recettes générales. Il
n’y a aucun lien direct entre le service que le consommateur a
prétendument acheté et le service qu’il regoit. D’une certaine
fagon, on ferait mieux de dire que tous ces frais ne sont qu’une
seule et méme taxe plutot que des taxes distinctes, parce qu’il n’y a
pas de corrélation entre les taxes pergues et les services regus.

Le sénateur Greene : C’est exactement ce que j’avais cru
comprendre.

Plus tot, vous avez dit que vous ne vouliez pas revenir aux
jours — et je pense que tout le monde ici est d’accord — ou le
gouvernement fédéral était propriétaire de tous les aéroports. Je
me demandais ce qu’il en était des municipalités. Il me semble que
les municipalités sont souvent, a divers moments, en guerre avec
leurs aéroports. Or, ’aéroport pourrait étre un important moteur
de développement d’une municipalité. C’est ce que vous avez dit
par rapport a Charlotte, qui est un merveilleux exemple.

Avez-vous réfléchi a la question de savoir si les municipalités
devraient étre propriétaires des aéroports? Si c’était le cas, je
suppose qu’elles auraient les mémes intéréts économiques que les
transporteurs aériens : plus de touristes, de développement
économique, et cetera.

M. Dee : Lorsqu’on a créé les autorités aéroportuaires, 'idée
était de les rapprocher des intéréts locaux. Il existe des exemples,
principalement aux Etats-Unis, mais aussi ailleurs, ou des
municipalités — ou du moins des organismes sous contrdle de la
municipalité ou, dans certains cas, du gouvernement de I'Btat —
exploitent un aéroport. A New York, la Port Authority of New
York and New Jersey, un organisme qui reléve des gouvernements
des deux Etats, exploite trois aéroports importants et d’autres
aéroports. Il s’agit, principalement, des aéroports JFK, New York
et La Guardia. Pour ces exemples, on a obtenu de trés bons
résultats. Dans certains cas, des municipalités ont elles-mémes
exploité les aéroports par I'intermédiaire d’autorités aéroportuaires
municipales.

Au chapitre de la gouvernance, il y a dans le monde plusieurs
exemples de réussites. Le Canada a choisi un systéme qui est un
peu moins précis sur la question des responsabilités. Les autorités
aéroportuaires ont des conseils d’administration dont la
nomination reléve de groupes divers. Personne ne détient
vraiment la majorité. Un coup d’eil sur les exemples de
gouvernance a I’échelle mondiale nous permettrait de mieux
connaitre ce que les autres pays ont fait différemment par rapport
a I’exploitation de leurs aéroports.
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[Translation)

Senator Boisvenu: Mr. Dee, I want to congratulate you again
on your very clear and constructive remarks.

My first question is about the difference in the profitability of
American and Canadian airports. You mentioned a difference of
229 per cent in Canada compared with the United States, which is
considerable. Obviously, the bigger the client base, the more costs
are shared. What is the breakdown between the percentage of
operating costs related to customer base and those related to
regulations? Client base could go up by 20 per cent, but, if
regulations are not dealt with, the increase may have zero effect.

Mr. Dee: I think that the two are closely related. For instance,
in terms of immigration regulations, as I said, in Europe, the
transit is not done for travellers at the airport. Passengers do not
have to apply for a visa at European airports, while in Canada,
they do.

Also, there is a large Japanese community in Brazil, and there
is a lot of travelling between Brazil and Japan. Many Brazilians of
Japanese origin regularly travel between Japan and Brazil. One of
the problems for that group is the rule requiring that passengers
obtain a special visa to go through Canada, when commuting
between Brazil and Japan, even if the passengers intend to stay in
Canada for no more than a few hours while waiting for their
connecting flight. Those types of regulations may reduce the
number of travellers who choose Canada as a layover location.

Unfortunately, costs may also reduce the amount of air traffic
that uses Canada as a starting point or a layover for flights.

As for the breakdown, I would say that it is difficult to come
up with a percentage and say that 50 per cent is due to regulations
and 50 per cent to costs. Both factors actually have an impact on
travellers and encourage them to find ways to reach their
destination without going through Canada.

Senator Boisvenu: You analysis summarizes the situation very
eloquently. However, why is it that you did not take your
recommendations further? Your status report is excellent, but you
have made few recommendations on such issues as what direction
the government or the company could take in the future. I would
like to know why you did not cover that in your brief.

Mr. Dee: I think we are prepared to put in the time to develop
solutions. Those solutions will be developed by consulting not
only Air Canada, but also all the other airline industry players.
There are some very positive solutions for Air Canada, such as
lease elimination, better known as ground rent. There are other

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Monsieur Dee, j’aimerais vous féliciter a
nouveau car vous avez des propos qui sont trés clairs et
constructifs.

Ma premiere question concerne 1’écart entre la profitabilité
d’un aéroport américain par rapport a un aéroport canadien.
Vous avez mentionné un écart de 229 p. 100 au Canada par
rapport aux Etats-Unis, ce qui est considérable. Evidemment, plus
il y a de clients, plus on peut partager les coits. Le pourcentage
des cotts d’exploitation lié a la clientéle par rapport a la portion
liée a la réglementation se partage de quelle fagon? On pourrait
augmenter la clientéle de 20 p. 100. Toutefois, si on ne travaille
pas sur la réglementation, I’effet net sera peut-étre nul.

M. Dee : Je crois que les deux sont étroitement liés. Par
exemple, en ce qui a trait a la réglementation qui touche
I'immigration, comme je I’ai indiqué, en Europe, le transit ne se
fait pas, pour les passagers, dans I’aéroport. Dans I’aéroport
européen, le passager n’a pas besoin de faire application pour un
visa, alors qu’au Canada c’est le cas.

D’autre part, on constate une importante communauté d’origine
japonaise au Brésil et des échanges trés importants entre le Brésil et
le Japon. Un grand nombre de Brésiliens d’origine japonaise
voyagent réguliérement entre le Japon et le Brésil. Un des problémes
pour ce groupe est le réglement qui exige I'obtention d’un visa
spécial pour traverser le Canada, entre le Brésil et le Japon, méme si
les passagers n’ont l'intention de rester au Canada que quelques
heures en attendant leur correspondance. Ces réglements ont
effectivement la capacité de diminuer le nombre de passagers qui
choisissent le Canada comme point de transit pour leur
correspondance.

Les colts également ont malheureusement cette tendance a
diminuer le trafic aérien qui utilise le Canada comme point de
départ ou de correspondance pour des vols.

Pour ce qui est du partage, je dirais qu’il est difficile de donner
un pourcentage et dire que 50 p. 100 sont attribuables aux
réglements et 50 p. 100 aux coflts. Les deux facteurs,
effectivement, ont un impact sur les passagers et encouragent
ceux-ci a trouver les moyens de se rendre a leur destination sans
passer par le Canada.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Votre analyse fait état de fagon
éloquente de la situation. Toutefois, comment se fait-il que vous
ne soyez pas allés plus loin avec vos propositions? Votre rapport
sur la situation est excellent, mais vous avez fait peu de
recommandations, entre autres, sur la direction que pourrait
prendre le gouvernement ou I’entreprise pourrait nous donner une
vision de l’avenir. J’aimerais savoir pourquoi, dans votre
mémoire, vous n’avez pas emprunté cette avenue?

M. Dee : Je crois que nous sommes préts a consacrer du temps
pour développer des solutions. Ces solutions se formuleront non
seulement en consultant Air Canada, mais tous les acteurs de
I'industrie aérienne. Il existe des solutions trés intéressantes pour
Air Canada, comme I’élimination des baux, mieux connus en
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elements to consider, as Senators Cochrane and Eaton pointed out,
such as changes to airport governance. Those recommendations
could be useful to the industry.

As for other specific solutions, we are prepared to work with
you on finding those in the coming months.

Senator Boisvenu: So you preferred not to discuss everything at
the same time.

Mr. Dee: We do not want to make any assumptions about the
committee’s activities.

Senator Boisvenu: Globalization has really hit the airline
industry hard, has it not?

Mr. Dee: Yes.

Senator Boisvenu: A number of companies have merged with
companies from other countries. So we are not just talking about
national reorganization, but also about international reorganization.

It was recently announced that American Airlines’ profitability
is in jeopardy. What do you see happening in terms of
international organization? In Canada, we went from a number
of companies to one or two. Will we someday end up with five
airlines globally? How do you feel about that?

Mr. Dee: As Senator Cochrane said a few moments ago, there
is currently a trend toward mergers in the airline industry.
However, national regulations stand in the way of mergers. For
instance, Air Canada could not buy an American airline because
of certain American restrictions. Similarly, an American company
could not buy Air Canada owing to the same type of restrictions.
Without changes to those regulations, the only way for mergers to
take place in the airline industry is through international alliances
such as Star Alliance, Oneworld, based in the United States, and
SkyTeam, founded by Air France.

In the medium term, we expect mergers in terms of alliances,
but we do not expect there to be any mergers or mutual
acquisitions of airline companies, because the regulations are
currently standing in the way.

[English)

Senator Martin: Thank you for the insights that you are
providing. I wanted to follow up a comment you made briefly,
regarding the impact that the airline industry has on other
industry sectors. I recall having a stakeholders meeting in B.C,
where Tourism Whistler came and talked about wanting increased
flights and realizing the importance of the health of our airline
industry and its direct impact on them and on the tourists that
come up to Whistler. That goes across the board to every other
part of Canada where we want to attract tourists. The
representatives of cruise ships mentioned that what happens in
the airline industry is linked directly to their success. As well, they

anglais sous le terme « ground rent ». D’autres aspects sont a
considérer, comme 1’ont mentionné les sénateurs Cochrane et
Eaton, tels les changements dans la gouvernance des aéroports.
Ces suggestions pourraient étre utiles pour I'industrie.

Pour ce qui est des autres solutions spécifiques, nous sommes
préts a travailler avec vous pour en trouver dans les mois qui
viennent.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Vous avez donc préféré ne pas tout
mettre du méme coup.

M. Dee : Nous ne voulons pas présumer des activités du comité.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : La mondialisation a vraiment frappé
I'industrie de I’aviation, n’est-ce pas?

M. Dee : Oui.

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Plusieurs compagnies se sont fusionnées
avec celles de d’autres pays. Il ne s’agissait donc pas strictement
d’une réorganisation nationale, mais également d’une
réorganisation internationale.

On annongait récemment que la compagnie American Airlines
est menacée en termes de profitabilité. Quelle est votre vision en
termes d’organisation internationale? Nous sommes passés, au
Canada, de plusieurs entreprises a une ou deux. Va-t-on se
retrouver un jour, a I’échelle mondiale, avec cinq compagnies
aériennes? Quelle est votre position sur ce point?

M. Dee : Comme le sénateur Cochrane I’a indiqué il y a
quelques instants, on remarque aujourd’hui une tendance de
consolidation dans I'industrie aérienne. Toutefois, les réglements
nationaux empéchent les fusions. Par exemple, Air Canada ne
pourrait pas acheter un transporteur américain car certaines
restrictions aux Etats-Unis I’en empéchent. Une compagnie
américaine ne pourrait pas non plus acheter Air Canada a cause
des mémes restrictions. Sans un changement dans ces réglements,
la seule fagon pour 'industrie aérienne de se consolider est par le
biais d’alliances internationales comme Star Alliance, Oneworld
aux Etats-Unis et SkyTeam fondée par Air France.

A moyen terme, nous entrevoyons la consolidation sur le plan
des alliances, mais nous n’entrevoyons pas la possibilité de fusions
ou d’acquisitions mutuelles de transporteurs aériens car les
réglements I’'empéchent a I’heure actuelle.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Martin : Merci de nous faire part de vos
observations. Je voulais revenir sur un de vos brefs
commentaires au sujet de I'incidence de I'industrie du transport
aérien sur les autres industries. Je me souviens d’une réunion des
intervenants en Colombie-Britannique a laquelle 1’organisme
Tourism Whistler a assisté. Ses représentants ont dit qu’ils
voulaient voir une augmentation du nombre de vols, se sont dits
conscients de limportance d’avoir une industrie du transport
aérien en santé et de ses effets directs sur la collectivité et sur les
touristes qui se rendent a Whistler. C’est valable pour toutes les
autres parties du Canada ou l'on veut attirer davantage de



5-10-2011

Transports et communications 1:47

mentioned their support of the Blue Sky Policy and the whole idea
of increasing flights and bringing as many people as possible to
Canada. It is really connected to the economic vibrancy of our
country.

Have you had such stakeholder conversations? Have there
been joint studies regarding the kind of economic impact that can
be achieved through certain additions or improvements to your
industry? Whatever more we are asking for, these economic
impacts could be achieved. Are there such studies; and what are
you doing in that regard?

Mr. Dee: In terms of interaction with the tourism sector and
other stakeholders in our industries, absolutely we have regular
conversations. We work closely with the cruise lines. For example,
not only do we bring customers to the cruise lines by flying them
in, but also we sell cruises through our subsidiary Air Canada
Vacations, for example.

It is important to recognize that when you travel around the
world, one thing noticed in many places is one of the few
recognizable Canadian brands that promotes Canada as a
tourism destination — Air Canada. For example, you will see
our ticket office in Buenos Aires promoting Canada as a tourist
destination. When local tourism operators talk about greater air
access, it is important for them to recognize that the only carriers
that promote the domestic tourism industry are the home country
carriers. Singapore Airlines around the world does not promote
Canada as a tourism destination because it promotes Singapore.

In Canada, unfortunately, in the last few years, there has been
almost a divide and conquer approach whereby international
airlines promise the moon and say they will bring tourists from
their home countries to spend their millions of dollars in your
tourism sector. Unfortunately, many countries advocating this
access do not represent countries with a large population; and
history has proven them wrong. Wherever international airlines
have had greater access, in many cases they have not necessarily
brought many tourists at all. In fact, the opposite has happened.
They have taken tourists from those countries and brought them
back to their home countries and made their home countries into
tourism meccas.

We work closely with the tourism sector. I am a member of the
tourism association board. We try to address each other’s
concerns. One of the key areas where we have significant
agreement, whether the cruise ships, the airlines, the hotel
operators, or the other tourism industry players, is the need for
lower cost structure for the aviation sector to attract more traffic
not only to Canada, and especially not from Canada, but also to
Canada and through Canada.

touristes. Les représentants du secteur des croisiéres touristiques
ont mentionné que ce qui se passe dans I'industrie du transport
aérien a une incidence directe sur leurs succes. De plus, ils ont
parlé de leur appui a la politique Ciel bleu et a I'idée d’augmenter
le nombre de vols et d’attirer le plus de gens possible au Canada.
C’est vraiment lié a la vitalité économique de notre pays.

Avez-vous eu de telles conversations avec les intervenants?
Y a-t-il eu des études mixtes sur les effets économiques qu’on
puisse obtenir grace a certains ajouts ou améliorations a votre
industrie? Peu importe ce qu’on demande en surplus, ces effets
économiques pourraient se concrétiser. De telles études existent-
elles? Que faites-vous a cet égard?

M. Dee : Pour ce qui est de I'interaction avec I'industrie du
tourisme et des autres intervenants de nos industries, nous avons
réguliérement des discussions, c’est certain. Nous travaillons en
étroite collaboration avec les croisiéristes. Par exemple, non
seulement nous leur amenons des clients en les transportant, mais
nous vendons aussi des croisiéres par l'intermédiaire de notre
filiale, Vacances Air Canada.

Il est important de reconnaitre que lorsqu’on voyage partout
dans le monde, ce qu’on remarque dans beaucoup d’endroits, c’est
une des quelques marques canadiennes qui fait la promotion du
Canada comme destination touristique : Air Canada. Par
exemple, vous verrez que notre billetterie de Buenos Aires fait
la promotion du Canada comme destination touristique. Lorsque
les exploitants d’entreprises touristiques locales parlent d’un
meilleur accés aérien, il est important qu’ils reconnaissent que les
seuls transporteurs qui font la promotion de I’industrie
touristique intérieure, ce sont les transporteurs nationaux.
Partout dans le monde, la société Singapore Airlines ne fait pas
la promotion du Canada comme destination touristique, parce
qu’elle fait la promotion de Singapour.

Malheureusement, au Canada, ces quelques derniéres années, on
pourrait presque dire qu’il y a eu une stratégie qui consistait a
diviser pour régner, ou les transporteurs internationaux promettent
mer et monde et disent qu’ils vont amener des touristes de leurs pays
qui dépenseront des millions de dollars dans le secteur du tourisme.
Malheureusement, beaucoup de pays qui revendiquent cet acces
n’ont pas une population trés élevée, et ’histoire a démontré qu’ils
avaient tort. Dans beaucoup de cas, 1a ou ils ont eu un plus grand
acces, les transporteurs aériens internationaux n’ont pas forcément
attiré beaucoup de touristes. En fait, c’est tout le contraire. Ils ont
pris les touristes de ces pays et les ont ramenés dans leurs pays
d’origine et ont fait de ceux-ci des destinations touristiques prisées.

Nous travaillons étroitement avec le secteur du tourisme. Je suis
un membre du conseil d’administration de 1’association touristique.
Nous essayons de répondre aux préoccupations de chacun. Iy a un
facteur clé sur lequel les croisiéristes, les transporteurs aériens, les
hoteliers et les autres joueurs de I'industrie du tourisme sont
entiérement d’accord : afin d’augmenter le nombre de voyageurs
non seulement a destination du Canada, plus particuliérement pas
ceux qui en proviennent, mais aussi ceux qui y viennent ou qui y
transitent —, il faut que le secteur de I’aviation ait une structure de
colts moins élevée.
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I mentioned earlier to Senator Verner that one of the big
markets we have seen in the last few years is Brazilians of
Japanese origin who travel regularly between Brazil and Japan. In
the past, Canada has been an attractive transit point for them.
Would it not be great to have these people spend a couple of days
here and experience Canada so they can realize that our
multicultural country has an important Japanese community
with links not only to their home countries ancestrally but also to
their new countries, because we also happen to have an important
Brazilian community in Canada. Those things become less and
less possible when you have costs that prohibit us from competing
against other countries, who suggest going through Dubai or
Singapore to fly to Japan. They tell people to go through
somewhere other than Canada so they can do it cheaply and
without a visa.

Senator Martin: It is more expensive for Canadians to travel to
other parts of Canada than to go to the United States for a
vacation. What about the challenges for travel within Canada and
what you may be doing with the provinces to promote
interprovincial and inter-territorial travel among Canadians? I
have seen the Newfoundland and Labrador ads, which are
effective, but I have yet to go there. Every time I see the ads, they
call to me as a Canadian. I hear Canadians say that they should
travel in Canada first but it is sometimes less expensive to go
south. Are you doing anything with the provinces to promote
tourism in Canada?

Mr. Dee: That is a great example because some of the
Newfoundland and Labrador’s Ministry of Tourism ads have a
small tag line that says: “You can fly to Newfoundland and
Labrador on Air Canada.” The domestic marketplace in Canada
is extremely competitive. We have strong players in the form of
WestJet and, in a more regional way, Porter, who contribute to
the dynamics of the competitive marketplace in Canada. When
you talk about it being cheaper for Canadians to fly to Las Vegas
than to Newfoundland and Labrador, it speaks to the sad reality
of the expensive infrastructure in this country. It makes no sense
that people can fly from Vancouver to Las Vegas more cheaply
out of Bellingham than out of Vancouver. My family members or
relatives in Vancouver drive 45 minutes to Bellingham Airport
and leave their cars. They can park for a day at Bellingham more
cheaply than they can park at Vancouver International Airport.
They go to Las Vegas or Mexico or elsewhere around the world.
Short of seeing some real changes to the cost of doing business in
Canada in the form of these fees and charges, these things will
continue.

When Canada has such strong domestic players like WestJet
and Air Canada competing against each other and people are still
seeing cost differentials between Canada and the U.S, we have to
ask why that is. A recent article in the newspapers talked about
the dispute arising from the opening of the J. Crew outlet in
Toronto and its prices being 25 per cent or 35 per cent more
expensive than they are in the United States. The Minister of

Plus t6t, j’ai dit au sénateur Verner qu’un des grands marchés
quon a vu ces derni¢res années est celui des Brésiliens d’origine
japonaise qui voyagent réguliérement entre le Brésil et le Japon. Pour
eux, dans le passé, le Canada a été un point de transit intéressant. Ne
serait-il pas formidable que ces personnes passent deux ou trois jours
ici et apprennent a connaitre le Canada, ce qui leur permettrait de se
rendre compte que notre pays multiculturel compte une importante
communauté japonaise qui a des liens non seulement avec leur pays
ancestral, mais aussi avec leur pays d’adoption, car nous avons aussi
une importante communauté brésilienne. Quand on a des cotts qui
nous empéchent de rivaliser avec d’autres pays — qui proposent de
passer par Dubai ou Singapour pour aller au Japon —, ces choses
sont de moins en moins possibles. Pour que les gens puissent voyager
a moindre coft et sans visa, on leur dit de passer par un endroit
autre que le Canada.

Le sénateur Martin : Il en coite plus cher pour les Canadiens
de se rendre dans d’autres régions du Canada qu’aux Etats-Unis
pour prendre des vacances. Parlez-nous des défis qui se posent
pour les déplacements a I'intérieur du Canada et des mesures que
vous prenez avec les provinces pour favoriser les déplacements
interprovinciaux et inter-territoriaux? Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador
fait une campagne efficace, mais je ne suis toujours pas allé dans
cette province. Toute la publicité de cette province en appelle aux
Canadiens. J’entends des Canadiens dire qu’ils devraient voyager
a I'intérieur du Canada d’abord, mais qu’il est parfois moins cher
de prendre la direction du sud. Faites-vous quelque chose avec les
provinces pour promouvoir le tourisme au Canada?

M. Dee : Voila un trés bon exemple, parce que certaines
publicités du ministére du Tourisme de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador
comportent un court commentaire invitant les gens a se rendre a
Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador par Air Canada. La concurrence est
extrémement vive dans le marché local au Canada. Nous avons
des joueurs forts, comme WestJet et, au niveau régional, Porter,
qui contribuent a la dynamique du marché au Canada. Comme
vous le dites, il en cotte plus cher pour les Canadiens de se rendre
en avion a Las Vegas qu’a Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador, et cela tient
a l'infrastructure colteuse de notre pays, une réalité bien triste.
Cela n’a pas de sens que les gens puissent se rendre de Vancouver
a Las Vegas a moindre cofit en prenant I'avion a Bellingham au
lieu de Vancouver. Les membres de ma famille ou de ma parenté a
Vancouver font 45 minutes de voiture pour se rendre a ’aéroport
de Bellingham, ou ils peuvent laisser leurs autos. Le
stationnement d’un jour a Bellingham est moins coliteux que
celui de l'aéroport international de Vancouver. Ils peuvent se
rendre a Las Vegas ou au Mexique ou partout ailleurs dans le
monde. Si rien n’est fait pour réduire les droits et les frais
d’exploitation au Canada, ce genre de choses se poursuivra.

Nous devons nous demander pourquoi les Canadiens voient
toujours une différence de cofts entre les transporteurs canadiens
et américains alors que nous avons au Canada des joueurs
importants, comme WestJet et Air Canada, qui se livrent
concurrence. Un article publié derniérement dans les journaux a
traité d une polémique suscitée par I’ouverture d’un débit de vente
J. Crew a Toronto, dont les prix étaient de 25 a 35 p. 100 plus
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Finance made an excellent point when he said that one of the
inputs to the higher prices is tariffs. The tariffs in the airline
industry are airport rents, fees and taxes, which explain why
Canadians tend to pay more. U.S. airlines in particular will tanker
their fuel into Canada rather than fill up their aircraft in Canada
to avoid fuel excise taxes. We do not have that privilege when we
fly between Toronto and Moncton. We have to pay domestic fuel
excise taxes. Those are the things we need to underscore. Just as J.
Crew has to jack up their prices 35 per cent to make it profitable
for them to sell a sweater in Toronto, we need to increase our
prices to cover the costs of doing business in Canada.

[Translation]

The Chair: On that note, I would like to thank you for being
here today.

I would also like to repeat Senator Cochrane’s request.

[English)

Would you have an opinion on an airport act? I also encourage
you to follow up on what Senator Boisvenu asked if you have an
opinion.

[Translation)

I think that you and your two colleagues are staying to listen to
the committee’s discussions. So, if you have any recommendations,
feel free to let the clerk know as the committee’s work moves
forward. As you know, that is something we will be doing in stages.

The first stage will most likely consist of an interim report on
airports, anything related to airport legislation, managing boards,
governance and presence. In addition, you may send us written
answers to any of the questions that have not been asked.

[English]

We have a National Airports System of 26 airports. Contrary
to real life, people are not created equal. We have a National
Airports System and we tease about the fact that we have a
subcommittee called MTV — Montreal Toronto Vancouver.
MTV basically has 75 per cent of air travel, as much for your
industry as for the industry per se. The other 23 airports are
treated with the same type of structure. I cannot image that Air
Canada would want to sit on the boards of 26 airports but there
might be interest in having a stronger presence at the three biggest
airports. Mr. Dee, I would like you to address that question
because it is the first one the committee will address should the
National Airports System be revisited. As Senator Cochrane said,
it was set up 17 years ago. Although it was a good idea, it does not
contain a sunset clause, which is often included in the legislation
for the purpose of future review. The succession of ministers

élevés que ceux de la méme chaine aux Etats-Unis. Le ministre des
Finances a soulevé un point excellent, a savoir que le probléme
tient en partie aux droits élevés. L’industrie du transport aérien
doit payer des loyers dans les aéroports, des droits et des taxes,
qui expliquent pourquoi les Canadiens généralement paient plus
cher. Les transporteurs américains, en particulier, amenent leurs
citernes de carburant au Canada pour ne pas avoir a faire le plein
ici et a acquitter les taxes d’accise sur le carburant. Nous n’avons
pas ce privilége lorsque nous effectuons des vols entre Toronto et
Moncton. Nous devons acquitter les taxes d’accise sur le
carburant en vigueur au Canada. Voila le genre de choses qu’il
faut mettre en lumiére. Tout comme J. Crew a dii relever ses prix
de 35 p. 100 pour faire un profit avec les chandails vendus a
Toronto, nous devons augmenter nos prix pour récupérer les frais
que nous devons acquitter en faisant des affaires au Canada.

[Frangais)

Le président : En terminant sur cette note, j’aimerais vous
remercier pour votre présence aujourd’hui.

Jaimerais également réitérer la demande du sénateur Cochrane.

[Traduction)

Que pensez-vous d’une loi sur les aéroports? Je vous encourage
également a donner suite a la question posée par le sénateur
Boisvenu, si vous avez une opinion la-dessus.

[Frangais)

Je pense que vos deux collégues et vous allez suivre les
délibérations du comité; alors si vous avez des recommandations,
sentez-vous bien a ’aise de les faire parvenir au greffier au fur et a
mesure que les travaux du comité progressent. Comme vous le
savez, nous allons le faire par étapes.

La premiére étape sera fort probablement un rapport
intérimaire sur les aéroports, tout ce qui concerne la législation
d’aéroports, les conseils d’administration, la gouvernance et la
présence. D’ailleurs, sur une des questions qui n’a pas été posée,
vous pouvez nous répondre par écrit.

[Traduction)

Nous avons un réseau national des aéroports formé de
26 aéroports. Contrairement a ce qui arrive dans la vie, les gens
ne naissent pas tous égaux. Nous avons un réseau national des
aéroports et nous disons a la blague que nous avons un sous-comité
appelé MTV — Montréal Toronto Vancouver. MTV accueille
fondamentalement 75 p. 100 du transport aérien, et ceci vaut autant
pour votre industrie que pour I'industrie elle-méme. Or, les 23 autres
aéroports font ’objet du méme type de structure. Je ne peux pas
imaginer que Air Canada voudrait siéger au conseil
d’administration de 26 aéroports, mais la société serait sirement
intéressée a étre davantage présente au conseil des trois grands
aéroports. Monsieur Dee, jaimerais que vous parliez de cette
question, parce que c’est la premiére dont le comité devra s’occuper
si le réseau national des aéroports fait ’objet d’une révision. Comme
I’a dit le sénateur Cochrane, le réseau a été mis en place il y a 17 ans.
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looking at the NAS believes that some improvements have to be
made. We will rely on your comments to ensure that this
committee has the guidance to make the best report possible.

[Translation]

Thank you very much. Tomorrow evening, we will be meeting
with one of your competitors, WestJet, at 6:45 p.m. We will be
meeting in room 2 of the Victoria Building.

(The committee adjourned.)

OTTAWA, Wednesday, October 5, 2011

The Standing Senate Committee on Transport and
Communications is met this day at 6:48 p.m. to study emerging
issues related to the Canadian airline industry.

Senator Dennis Dawson (Chair) in the chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: Welcome to the Standing Senate Committee on
Transport and Communications and thank you for being here.

[English]

This evening, we are continuing our study on the airline
industry. Appearing before us on behalf of WestJet is Dr. Hugh
Dunleavy, Executive Vice-President, Strategy and Planning.
Dr. Dunleavy, you have the floor. Following your presentation,
we will proceed with questions.

Just to give you background, the house is sitting at
eight o’clock. We will try to be brief, but if the committee feels
that there are questions that have to be continued, we can
continue after eight o’clock. I also want to remind senators that
we have to adopt our budgets tonight because they have to be
submitted to the subcommittee for Friday.

Dr. Dunleavy, the floor is yours.

Hugh Dunleavy, Executive Vice-President, Strategy and
Planning, WestJet: Thank you for this opportunity to appear
before you this evening. Bearing in mind the time constraints, |
will try to be as brief as possible.

As mentioned, I am the Executive Vice-President of Strategy
and Planning at WestJet, and that role comprises network
planning and scheduling, pricing and revenue management,
airline partnerships and, of course, government regulatory and
environmental affairs.

I have been in the airline industry for just over 30 years, and I
have worked for both legacy and low-cost carriers in both Europe
and North America.

L’idée était certes bonne, mais aucune disposition de réexamen n’a
été prévue dans la loi, alors que cela est souvent le cas dans les
autres lois. Les ministres qui se sont succédé estiment que le réseau
national des aéroports devrait faire l’objet de certaines
améliorations. Nous comptons sur vos observations pour aider le
comité a préparer le meilleur rapport possible.

[Frangais]

Je vous remercie beaucoup et demain soir, nous rencontrerons
I'un de vos compétiteurs, WestJet, a 18 h 45. Nous serons dans la
salle 2 de I’édifice Victoria.

(La séance est levée.)

OTTAWA, le mercredi 5 octobre 2011

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des transports et des
communications se réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 48, pour faire une
étude sur les nouveaux enjeux qui sont ceux du secteur canadien du
transport aérien.

Le sénateur Dennis Dawson (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

Le président : Je vous souhaite la bienvenue au Comité
sénatorial permanent des transports et des communications et
vous remercie d’étre ici.

[Traduction)

Ce soir, nous poursuivons notre examen de l'industrie du
transport aérien. Nous entendrons le témoignage de M. Hugh
Dunleavy, vice-président directeur, Stratégie et planification,
WestJet. Monsieur Dunleavy, vous avez la parole. Aprés votre
exposé, nous vous poserons des questions.

Pour vous mettre en contexte, la Chambre siege a 20 heures.
Nous essaierons d’étre brefs, mais si le comité considére qu’il faut
poursuivre l’examen de certaines questions, nous pouvons
continuer aprés cette heure. Je rappelle également aux sénateurs
que nous devons adopter notre budget ce soir, car il doit étre
présenté au sous-comité vendredi.

Monsieur Dunleavy, la parole est a vous.

Hugh Dunleavy, vice-président directeur, Stratégie et planification,
WestJet : Je vous remercie de me donner ’occasion de comparaitre
devant vous ce soir. Comme le temps nous est compté, je
m’efforcerai d’étre aussi bref que possible.

Comme on vient de vous lindiquer, je suis vice-président
directeur, stratégie et planification, a WestJet, un réle qui
comprend la planification et I'ordonnancement du réseau,
I’établissement des prix et la gestion des revenus, les partenariats
intercompagnies et, bien sir, les affaires réglementaires et
environnementales du gouvernement.

Je travaille dans I'industrie du transport aérien depuis un peu
plus de 30 ans, au service de compagnies traditionnelles et
économiques en Europe et en Amérique du Nord.
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I will give a brief background on WestJet. We began 15 years
ago with 300 employees and two aircraft. Today, we employ
8,500 WestJetters, and through our employee share purchase
plan, which is our version of a pension program, we spend
approximately $55 million annually to employees to match their
share purchases. In addition, we also have a profit share program,
which is paid out twice a year. In the history of WestJet, we have
paid out an approximate $210 million in profit share to our staff
over that period of time.

Our fleet will soon reach 100 Boeing 737 Next Generation
aircraft, with an average age of five years, and over the next
several years, we have a further 38 aircraft on order. We currently
fly throughout Canada, the United States, Mexico and the
Caribbean. To date, we have signed code-share or interline
agreements with such carriers as El Al, American Airlines, KLM
Air France, Cathay Pacific and British Airways. We have further
agreements under development. In fact, we plan to implement
approximately one interline agreement per month and one code-
share every three months for the next several years.

The study of emerging issues impacting the aviation industry,
and by extension, the competitiveness of the Canadian aviation
industry, is a timely topic for discussion. It is not being overly
dramatic to say that if the world economy continues to slow down
and a double-dip recession occurs, the aviation sector globally will
be heavily impacted and weaker carriers may struggle to survive.

The industry is already struggling with aggressive cost drivers.
Of particular note, a barrel of oil is now approximately $85, and
to the average consumer, this may appear to be relatively good
news since the economy may be spared the $120 plus barrel that
wreaks havoc with national economies.

However, while a barrel of oil may be $85, the average price for
a barrel of jet fuel in September was approximately $126 per
barrel. Jet fuel has to be processed and requires additional
refining. This comes at an additional cost. Thus, there is a price
differential between the cost of a barrel of oil and the cost of a
barrel of jet fuel. Even though at Westlet we have invested
billions of dollars upgrading our fleet and today operate one of
the youngest and most fuel-efficient fleets anywhere in the world,
for every $1 increase in the price of a barrel of oil, our fuel will
increase by approximately $6 million annually. Given its elevated
cost by the end of Q2, jet fuel represented approximately
32 per cent of Westlet’s operating costs, up from 29 per cent
the year before.

I recognize, of course, that government policy can do little
about the global price of jet fuel. However, I wanted to bring the
issue of fuel cost to your attention simply to demonstrate that in
this environment of economic uncertainty, the work of this
committee is all the more important in terms of trying to identify
public policy questions and changes to support the

Je vous donnerai un bref historique de WestJet. L’entreprise a
pris son envol il y a une quinzaine d’années, forte de 300 employés
et de deux appareils. Nous employons aujourd’hui 8 500 employés
et injectons quelque 55 millions de dollars annuellement dans le
cadre du régime d’actionnariat des employés, qui constitue notre
version d’un régime de pension, afin de verser aux employés une
somme égale a leur contribution. Nous offrons également un
programme de participation aux bénéfices, qui prévoit deux
versements par année. Au cours de son histoire, Westjet a ainsi
remis environ 210 millions de dollars a ses employés.

Notre flotte comptera bientot 100 appareils Boeing 737 Next
Generation, dont I’dge moyen est de cinq ans, auxquels
s’ajouteront, au cours des prochaines années, 38 aéronefs en
commande. Nous desservons actuellement le Canada, les Etats-
Unis, le Mexique et les Antilles. Nous avons, a ce jour, conclu des
ententes de partage de codes de vol et des accords intercompagnies
avec des transporteurs comme El Al, American Airlines, KLM Air
France, Cathay Pacific et British Airways. D’autres ententes sont en
négociations. En fait, nous comptons mettre en ceuvre environ un
accord intercompagnies par mois et une entente de partage de codes
a tous les trois mois au cours des prochaines années.

L’étude sur les nouveaux enjeux qui touchent le secteur canadien
du transport aérien et, par extension, la compétitivité de I'industrie
aérienne canadienne, arrive a point nommé. On peut affirmer sans
exagérer que si ’économie mondiale continue de ralentir et sombre
a nouveau dans une récession, le secteur mondial de I’aviation sera
durement frappé et certains transporteurs aux reins moins solides
auront peut-étre de la difficulté a survivre.

L’industrie doit déja composer avec des intrants qui ont une
grande incidence sur les cofits. Notamment, le pétrole s’échange
actuellement a environ 85§ le baril; pour le consommateur
moyen, ce prix peut sembler relativement bon, puisque le baril ne
se vend plus & plus de 120§, prix qui a des répercussions
dramatiques sur les économies nationales.

Cependant, si le baril de pétrole est a 859, celui du
carburéacteur était d’environ 126 $ le baril en septembre. En
outre, ce carburant doit étre traité et raffiné de nouveau, ce qui
entraine de nouveaux cofits. Il existe donc une différence de cotts
entre un baril de pétrole et un baril de carburéacteur. Méme si
WestJet a investi des milliards de dollars pour moderniser sa flotte
et exploite aujourd’hui les appareils les plus récents et les plus
économes en carburant du monde, pour chaque dollar
d’augmentation du prix du baril de pétrole, notre carburant
grimpera d’approximativement 6 millions de dollars chaque
année. En raison de ces coits faramineux, le carburéacteur
constituait, a la fin du deuxiéme trimestre, environ 32 p. 100 des
frais d’exploitation de WestJet, une hausse par rapport aux
29 p. 100 enregistrés ’année précédente.

Jadmets, évidemment, que la politique du gouvernement n’a
pas beaucoup d’influence sur le prix mondial du carburéacteur. Je
voulais toutefois porter cette situation a votre attention
simplement pour démontrer que dans l’environnement
d’incertitude économique actuel, vos travaux n’en sont que plus
importants, car ils visent a soulever les questions de politique
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competitiveness of the sector. To this end, the principle public
policy issue impacting Canadian aviation competitiveness, and by
extension the ability of Canadian consumers to access low fares
and frequent service, is the cost of aviation infrastructure in
Canada.

To demonstrate the cost of doing business in Canada, previous
witnesses have already discussed the phenomenon of Canadians
driving across the border to a U.S. airport in order to fly to a U.S.
destination instead of flying from a Canadian airport. The
committee has already heard how U.S. border airports and air
carriers are aggressively pursuing Canadian consumers.

Instead of repeating those stories about this transborder
leakage, I will take a slightly different perspective and look at
the competitive challenge facing the industry by examining the
differences between a domestic Canadian flight and a domestic
U.S. flight of a similar distance.

On November 18 last year — we chose this as a representative
date — WestJet offered a fare of $39 from Toronto to Montreal.
On that same day, JetBlue, an equivalent airline to WestJet,
offered a fare of $38 from New York to Boston. Both flights were
of roughly equal distance, each was between two major economic
centres and each was between major airports.

The final cost to the U.S. consumer for the JetBlue flight
was $51 — an approximate additional $13 in taxes and fees were
added to the price of the ticket. The final cost to the Canadian
consumer for the WestJet flight was $100 — an additional $61 in
taxes and fees were added to the price of the ticket.

The ability of airlines to generate sufficient revenue, which in
turn allows carriers to provide more flights and more service to a
wider array of communities, is directly impacted by a carrier’s
ability to stimulate demand through low fares.

We now have an infrastructure cost in Canada that adds
approximately $60 of additional charges onto a $39 fare. This
clearly impacts the ability of the industry to stimulate demand.
More importantly, it raises questions about the longer term
competitiveness of the Canadian industry, given that these fees
and charges are ostensibly on an ever-increasing trajectory.

The difference in taxes and fees between the U.S. and Canada
can in part be explained by the economies of scale that exist in the
U.S. marketplace, as well as the fact that the U.S. aviation
infrastructure is highly subsidized from general tax revenue.
Canadian government policy cannot completely overcome these
two facts. However, this differential does underscore the size of
the competitive challenge facing us and the need to start looking
at different ways of doing aviation business in Canada.

publique et a déterminer les changements qui s’imposent afin
d’appuyer la compétitivité du secteur. A ce chapitre, la question
de politique publique qui a le plus d’influence sur la compétitivité
du secteur canadien du transport aérien et, par extension, sur
l’accés des consommateurs canadiens a des bas prix et a des
services fréquents, est celle du cout de I'infrastructure du secteur
aérien au Canada.

Pour illustrer ce qu’il en cotlite d’exploiter une compagnie au
Canada, des témoins précédents ont déja exposé le phénomeéne des
Canadiens qui, pour se rendre aux Etats-Unis, traversent la
frontiére en voiture pour y prendre un vol intérieur plutot que de
partir d'un aéroport canadien. Le comité sait déja que les
aéroports et les transporteurs aériens américains courtisent
énormément les consommateurs canadiens.

Plutot que de vous répéter ces histoires de clients qui nous
échappent au profit de notre voisin du Sud, j’adopterai un point
de vue légérement différent et traiterai des difficultés auxquelles
I'industrie est confrontée au chapitre de la compétitivité en
analysant les différences entre un vol intérieur au Canada et un
vol intérieur de la méme distance aux Etats-Unis.

Le 18 novembre de I’an dernier, date de référence que nous
avons retenue, WestJet offrait le vol de Toronto a Montréal au
prix de 39 $. Le méme jour, JetBlue, une compagnie équivalente a
WestJet, proposait un vol de New York a Boston pour 38 $. Ces
deux vols, qui sont environ de la méme distance, relient deux
grands centres économiques a partir d’aéroports d’envergure.

Le codt final pour le client américain de JetBlue était de 51 §,
puisque qu’approximativement 13 $§ de taxes et de droits
s’ajoutait au prix du billet. Le consommateur canadien
voyageant avec WestJet a pour sa part déboursé 100 §, les taxes
et les droits 1’élevant a 61 $.

La capacité des compagnies aériennes de générer des revenus
suffisants, lesquels leur permettent d’offrir plus de vols et
davantage de services a un large éventail de collectivités, est
directement liée a leur capacité de stimuler la demande en
proposant des bas prix.

Or, au Canada, un coit d’infrastructure d’environ 60 $ se
greffe au prix de 39 §, ce qui a de toute évidence des répercussions
sur la capacité de I'industrie de stimuler la demande. Plus
important encore, cette situation souléve des questions sur la
compétitivité a long terme de I'industrie canadienne, ces taxes et
ces droits étant visiblement destinés a augmenter sans fin.

La différence de taxes et de droits entre les Etats-Unis et le
Canada s’explique en partie par les économies d’échelle qui
existent sur le marché américain et par le fait que I'infrastructure
du secteur américain du transport aérien est fortement
subventionnée a I’aide des revenus fiscaux généraux. La
politique du gouvernement canadien ne peut aplanir
complétement ces deux difficultés. Cette différence fait toutefois
ressortir la taille des défis que nous devons relever sur le plan de la
compétitivité et nous fait comprendre qu’il faut envisager d’autres
fagon d’aborder le transport aérien au Canada.
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It is often forgotten that the airline industry is a volume-based
business. Money is made by selling lots of seats to fill our aircraft.
While I agree there are certain routes and various fare classes that
can generate a lot of revenue through high fares, for the most
part, the industry makes its money on volume.

Westlet is fortunate to consistently operate profitably. We are
also one of the better performing air carriers in North America
from an operating margin perspective. That being said, through
to the end of Q2 2011, our net income per guest was $9.40.

We need to keep this $9.40 in perspective. That is our per-guest
net income in a ferociously capital-intensive industry in which a
single asset — in our case, a Boeing 737 — can cost $45 million,
an industry with sizable fixed costs, a great deal of regulation, and
if the weather gets really bad, it is sometimes difficult to operate
with on-time performance.

It is when you look at the per-guest net income that you get a
better appreciation for the impact on demand of the tax and fee
structure in Canada. It is when you look at the per-guest net
income that you realize why airlines get considerably upset when
we hear public officials state that a given increase in a particular
fee is only $4 or $5. That amount represents almost 50 per cent of
the net income the airline receives for that guest.

In order to address the cost of doing aviation business in
Canada, the reality is that there is no single magic policy decision
that can lower costs or magically shrink the gap between U.S. and
Canadian taxes and fees. There is no single “bad guy”
government agency or policy in Ottawa that is solely
responsible for the fact that taxes and fees in Canada are
almost five times higher than a comparative flight in the United
States. It is precisely because there is no single entity responsible
that a series of recommendations made in April this year by the
Future of Aviation Advisory Committee, struck in 2010 by the
U.S. Secretary of Transport, are worth highlighting.

In its final report, the committee raised a variety of questions
for U.S. policy-makers including, number one, how do federal
taxes imposed on the aviation industry compare to those of other
modes of transportation?

Two, does the federal government efficiently and effectively
levy the existing level of aviation taxes and fees for the services it
provides?

Three, are there more efficient ways to collect and administer
existing aviation taxes and fees that would save taxpayer and
aviation industry dollars?

On oublie souvent que I'industrie aérienne repose sur la vente
au volume : c’est en vendant beaucoup de billets pour remplir ses
avions qu’elle peut faire de I’argent. Méme si j’admets que certains
itinéraires et diverses classes de tarifs peuvent constituer une
source de revenus substantiels a cause des prix élevés, la plupart
du temps, I'industrie tire son profit du volume.

Westlet a la chance d’étre constamment rentable, en plus de
figurer parmi les transporteurs aériens qui bénéficient de la
meilleure marge d’exploitation en Amérique du Nord. Cela dit, a
la fin du deuxiéme trimestre de 2011, notre revenu net par
voyageur était de 9,40 §$.

Nous devons mettre ce chiffre en contexte. Il s’agit de notre
revenu net par voyageur dans une industrie qui exige énormément
de capitaux, ou un seul actif — dans notre cas, un Boeing 737 —
peut colter 45 millions de dollars, ou les frais fixes sont
pharaoniques, ou la réglementation est omniprésente et ou il
peut étre difficile de respecter les horaires quand la température
fait des siennes.

Lorsqu’on examine le revenu net par voyageur, on a une
meilleure idée de I'impact de la structure fiscale et tarifaire du
Canada sur la demande et on comprend pourquoi les compagnies
aériennes sont trés contrariées quand elles entendent des
fonctionnaires déclarer que la hausse de tel frais est seulement
de 4 oude 5 $. Ce montant représente presque la moitié du revenu
net que touche la compagnie aérienne pour ce voyageur.

En ce qui concerne les coits dans I'industrie aérienne au
Canada, en réalité, il n’y a pas une seule et unique décision
stratégique miracle qui permet de diminuer les cotts ou, comme
par magie, de combler I’écart entre les taxes et les frais américains
et canadiens. Il n’y a pas un seul et unique organisme
gouvernemental ni une seule et unique politique a Ottawa qui
est responsable du fait que les taxes et les frais sont presque cinq
fois supérieurs pour un vol au Canada que pour un vol
comparable aux Etats-Unis. C’est précisément parce qu’il n’y a
pas une seule et unique entité responsable qu’il est important de
souligner la série de recommandations formulées en avril dernier
par le Future of Aviation Advisory Committee, créé en 2010 par
le secrétaire américain aux transports.

Dans son rapport final, ce comité a soulevé une série de
questions a l’intention des décideurs américains, dont les
suivantes : premiérement, comment les taxes fédérales imposées
a l'industrie aérienne se comparent-elles a celles imposées aux
autres industries de transport?

Deuxiémement, le gouvernement fédéral préléve-t-il
actuellement de fagon efficiente et efficace les taxes et les frais
pour les services offerts?

Troisiémement, existe-t-il des moyens plus efficients de
percevoir et d’administrer les taxes et les frais actuels, des

moyens qui permettraient aux contribuables et a I'industrie
aérienne d’économiser de 1’argent?
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The committee also asked a simple question: Would regular
consultation between those departments and agencies that
administer aviation taxes and fees prior to implementing any
changes to tax rates and policies result in a more efficient and
rational aviation tax system?

While these questions were drafted in the U.S. context, I do
recommend that they be considered by this committee as part of
your deliberations and potentially included in your final report as
recommendations to the government on areas requiring further
analysis.

An additional issue worth considering is recommending that
the federal government carry out economic modeling to determine
what the potential impact would be on Canadian aviation and
consumers if tax and fee structures were potentially reduced. How
much additional tax revenue could potentially be generated if
various charges were to be reduced and the industry given a
greater ability to stimulate demand?

Certainly looking at the JetBlue versus WestJet domestic
flights, you can clearly see the potential to increase demand,
increase service and increase government and airport revenue.
While such a modeling exercise would be complex, the exercise
itself would also be useful in bringing various stakeholders to the
table that currently impose their respective fees in a vacuum,
without any discussion about the overall total impact the fee
structure has on the industry and consumers.

Through our industry association, the National Airlines
Council of Canada, Westlet, Air Canada, Transat and Jazz
have commissioned an economic impact study. It was completed
last year and is now being updated with new figures. It looks at
the tax revenue and economic generation that can be created by
lowering various charges such as rent and the fuel excise tax. The
NACC will be happy to send the updated report to the committee
shortly. This study can certainly serve to inform any potential
government analysis should the committee recommend that such
an analysis be undertaken by the federal government in
conjunction with impacted stakeholders.

In addition to the above, there are other broader policy areas
that I believe are worth considering. I would also recommend that
it is time to examine other modes of governance for Canada’s
airports, in particular the potential for full privatization of airport
facilities. Under the current not-for-profit, non-share capital
National Airports Policy, airports must finance their
infrastructure build through debt and not equity. While airports
and airlines will disagree over the amount of infrastructure
required, there is no denying that airports have been required to
take on heavy debt in order to finance infrastructure upgrades.

Le comité a également posé une question simple : Des
consultations réguliéres entre les ministéres et les organismes qui
administrent les taxes et frais avant de procéder a la modification
des taux d’imposition et des politiques fiscales se traduiraient-elles
par un régime fiscal plus efficace et rationnel pour 'industrie du
transport aérien?

Méme si ces questions ont été posées dans le contexte
américain, je recommande qu’elles soient examinées par le
comité dans le cadre de ses délibérations et peut-étre incluses
dans votre rapport final comme recommandations a I'intention du
gouvernement sur les enjeux nécessitant davantage d’analyse.

Il vaudrait aussi la peine de recommander au gouvernement
fédéral d’établir un modéle économique afin de déterminer quel
serait 'impact potentiel d’une réduction des structures fiscales et
tarifaires sur I'industrie du transport aérien au Canada et sur les
consommateurs. Combien de revenus fiscaux additionnels
pourrait-on générer si divers frais étaient réduits et si I'industrie
était plus en mesure de stimuler la demande?

Lorsqu’on compare les vols intérieurs de JetBlue a ceux de
WestJet, on constate clairement qu’il serait possible d’accroitre la
demande, les services ainsi que les recettes du gouvernement et des
aéroports. Méme si un tel exercice d’établissement de modeles
serait complexe, 1’exercice lui-méme serait également utile pour
attirer divers intervenants qui imposent actuellement leurs frais
respectifs en vase clos, sans se préoccuper de I’effet global de la
structure tarifaire sur I'industrie et les consommateurs.

Par I’entremise de notre association, le Conseil national des
lignes aériennes du Canada, les compagnies WestJet, Air Canada,
Transat et Jazz ont commandé une étude sur les retombées
économiques. Elle a été achevée I'année derniére et fait
actuellement 1’objet d’une mise a jour afin qu’'on y ajoute de
nouvelles données. Elle porte sur les revenus fiscaux et les
retombées économiques qui peuvent étre créés en réduisant divers
frais, comme les loyers et la taxe d’accise sur le carburant. Le
Conseil national des lignes aériennes du Canada se fera un plaisir
de transmettre bientot au comité le rapport mis a jour. Cette étude
peut certainement servir de base a une possible analyse
gouvernementale, si le comité recommande au gouvernement
fédéral d’en entreprendre une en collaboration avec les
intervenants en cause.

De plus, je crois qu’il y a d’autres domaines d’action plus vastes
qui mériteraient d’étre examinés. J’estime également qu’il est temps
d’examiner d’autres modeles de gouvernance pour les aéroports
canadiens, en particulier la possibilité d’une privatisation compléte
des installations aéroportuaires. Selon le modéle actuel de
gouvernance sans but lucratif et sans capital-actions en vertu de
la Politique nationale des aéroports, les aéroports doivent financer
la construction de leurs infrastructures par emprunts et non par
actions. Malgré le fait que les aéroports et les compagnies aériennes
ne s’entendent pas au sujet des infrastructures requises, on ne peut
nier que les aéroports ont di s’endetter pour financer les
améliorations apportées aux infrastructures.
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With respect to the top airports in Canada, representing
approximately 95 per cent of passenger traffic, the total capital
accumulated from 2001 to 2010 was $12.1 billion, while their total
debt accumulated during that same period was $11.9 billion. For
these same eight airports, the total amount of debt per enplaned
passenger has increased from approximately $120 to $250 per guest.

Privatization is, of course, not a panacea, and a privatization
policy would raise various additional policy issues. Care would
have to be taken, for example to develop an appropriate means to
oversee rate and fee increases in the same way that for-profit
utility company fee charges can be reviewed by an oversight body.
In addition, it should be up to each airport authority whether or
not it would pursue privatization if such a policy did become
available.

These points aside, I do believe this committee should
recommend that Canada’s National Airports Policy be reviewed
and the potential benefits and drawbacks of full privatization of
airports be examined, taking into consideration the practice in
other jurisdictions such as the U.K.

Directly related to the issue of airport governance is the issue of
airport ground rent. The committee has heard from previous
witnesses about the rent issue. It is difficult for government to give
up a source of revenue in good economic times let alone when a
downturn is possible. While I would like to see rents removed,
perhaps a middle-ground approach is to examine the possibility of
directing all or a portion of rent revenue toward aviation
infrastructure costs. Thus, for example, a portion of ground
rent could be applied against the operating costs of CATSA or
NAV CANADA, thus enabling a corresponding reduction in user
charges, or a portion of ground rent collected at an airport could
be used to fund security or operational infrastructure
improvements at that same airport. Either way, by taking this
approach the rent paid for by the travelling public would actually
directly benefit the travelling public, instead of ending up in the
Consolidated Revenue Fund. A similar approach could be
recommended by this committee with respect to other aviation
taxes, such as the excise tax on aviation jet fuel. Direct the revenue
from this tax toward aviation infrastructure costs.

I will conclude my comments by stressing that, when we look at
the current system, WestJet is not advocating that services be
provided for free. We are arguing for a concerted effort to be
made to try to strike a balance between the $13 added to a U.S.
flight and the $60 currently added to a Canadian flight.

I thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today. I
welcome your questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Dunleavy. I will introduce you to
the members of the committee. Senator Greene from Nova Scotia;
Senator Cochrane from Newfoundland and Labrador; Senator

En ce qui concerne les aéroports canadiens les plus importants,
qui représentent environ 95 p. 100 du trafic de passagers, le
montant total du capital accumulé entre 2001 et 2010 était de
12,1 milliards de dollars, alors que la dette totale accumulée durant
cette période était de 11,9 milliards. Pour ces huit aéroports, la dette
totale par passager transporté est passée d’environ 120 a 250 §.

Bien sir, la privatisation n’est pas une panacée, et une politique
en ce sens souléverait beaucoup d’autres enjeux politiques. Il
faudrait faire preuve de prudence, par exemple en élaborant un
moyen de surveiller les hausses de tarifs et de frais de la méme fagon
qu'un organisme de surveillance peut examiner les frais des
entreprises de services a but lucratif. Qui plus est, c’est a chaque
administration aéroportuaire que devrait revenir la décision
d’entreprendre ou non la privatisation, si une telle politique existait.

Mis a part ces points, je crois que le comité devrait aussi
recommander la révision de la Politique nationale des aéroports et
I’examen des avantages et des inconvénients potentiels de la
privatisation compléte des aéroports, en prenant en considération
les pratiques d’autres pays, comme le Royaume-Uni.

La question du loyer foncier est liée directement a celle de la
gouvernance des aéroports. D’autres témoins vous ont parlé de la
question du loyer. Il est difficile pour le gouvernement de
renoncer a une source de revenus en période de prospérité
économique; ¢a I'est encore plus lorsqu’un ralentissement est
possible. Méme si j’aimerais que les loyers soient supprimés, on
pourrait trouver une solution de compromis en envisageant de
diriger la totalité ou une partie des revenus du loyer vers les cotits
des infrastructures aériennes. Par exemple, une partie du loyer
foncier pourrait étre consacrée aux colts d’exploitation de
’ACSTA ou de NAV Canada, ce qui donnerait lieu a une
réduction correspondante des frais d’utilisation, ou une partie du
loyer foncier d’un aéroport pourrait étre utilisée pour financer les
améliorations apportées a la sécurité ou aux infrastructures
opérationnelles de ce méme aéroport. D’une fagon ou d’une autre,
avec cette approche, le loyer payé par les voyageurs profiterait
directement aux voyageurs, au lieu d’aboutir au Trésor public. Le
comité pourrait recommander une approche semblable en ce qui
concerne d’autres taxes relatives a l’aviation, comme la taxe
d’accise sur le carburant aviation. On pourrait diriger les revenus
de cette taxe vers les colits des infrastructures aériennes.

Je vais conclure mon exposé en soulignant que dans le systéme
actuel, WestJet ne préconise pas d’offrir les services gratuitement.
Nous préconisons un effort concerté afin de trouver un juste
équilibre entre 1’ajout de 13 $ pour un vol américain et 1’ajout
actuel de 60 $ pour un vol canadien.

Je vous remercie de m’avoir donné I’occasion de comparaitre
devant vous aujourd’hui. Je vais maintenant répondre a vos
questions.

Le président : Merci, monsieur Dunleavy. Je vais vous présenter
les membres du comité. Voici le sénateur Greene, de la Nouvelle-
Ecosse, le sénateur Cochrane, de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador, le
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Martin from Vancouver; Senator Boisvenu from Quebec; Senator
Verner from Quebec; Senator Zimmer from Manitoba; Senator
MacDonald from Nova Scotia; and Senator Eaton from Ontario.

Senator Eaton: You seem very conciliatory about excise tax,
ground rent, airport improvement tax, security tax, et cetera. We
know that two million Canadians go to border airports, which is a
huge loss to the Canadian economy. Would it substantially reduce
your ticket price if Minister Flaherty waved a magic wand and
said “no more ground rent and no more fuel excise tax?” Would
you be able to bring some of those two million passengers back to
fly out of Canada?

Mr. Dunleavy: When we take those savings, we spread them
over the individual number of guests we transport. From a
WestJet perspective, we transport approximately 16 million
passengers per year. Changes in the ground rent would assist us
in keeping the fares down, the extent to which would probably be
a small amount. The issue for us is really the others. Those fees
that we are talking about are already included in the landing fees
that we pay at airports, et cetera. Yes, there would be an impact.
However, the $60 example we used are the additional fees that we
collect on behalf of the government. Reducing those fees as such
will not impact the bottom line of WestJet because we simply
transfer those fees directly to the government.

Senator Eaton: Will it make a difference?

Mr. Dunleavy: We look at all of those issues to try to drive
fares lower. From our perspective, WestJet has been successful
not by putting in higher fares but by driving fares lower. To do
that, the lower the costs that we have in our infrastructure, the
lower our fares would be.

Senator Eaton: I am a bit slow. The $60 fee is the fuel excise tax
and the airport improvement tax. What else is included?

Mr. Dunleavy: The airport improvement fee is a big component
of that.

Senator Eaton: What about security?

Mr. Dunleavy: Yes. When those are totalled up, that is where
you get the $60 example. Things such as ground rent are already
built into the landing fees that the airlines pay. Reducing those
fees would allow us to reduce the airfares but the other fees are
simply a pass through to the government, so that would not
help us.

Senator Eaton: No. Would it make our airports more
competitive if our landing fees were lower?

Mr. Dunleavy: Yes, it would. There is another component.
When the consumer sees a ticket price of $39, but the total price
is $100. Bringing that total price down to Canadian consumers

sénateur Martin, de Vancouver, le sénateur Boisvenu, du Québec,
le sénateur Verner, du Québec, le sénateur Zimmer, du Manitoba, le
sénateur MacDonald, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, et le sénateur Eaton,
de I’Ontario.

Le sénateur Eaton : Vous semblez étre trés conciliant a propos
de la taxe d’accise, du loyer foncier, de la taxe d’améliorations
aéroportuaires, de la taxe de sécurité, et cetera. Nous savons que
deux millions de Canadiens fréquentent les aéroports frontaliers,
ce qui entraine une lourde perte pour I’économie canadienne. Cela
contribuerait-il a réduire le prix de votre billet d’avion si le
ministre Flaherty agitait une baguette magique en disant qu’il
abolit le loyer foncier et la taxe d’accise sur le carburant? Seriez-
vous capable de ramener une partic de ces deux millions de
passagers dans les aéroports canadiens?

M. Dunleavy : Nous distribuerions ces économies a chacun des
passagers que nous transportons. La compagnie WestJet
transporte environ 16 millions de passagers par année. Des
changements sur le plan du loyer foncier nous aideraient a faire en
sorte que les tarifs demeurent peu élevés, mais ils représenteraient
probablement un petit montant. Le probléme pour nous, ce sont
les autres frais. Ces frais dont nous parlons sont déja compris
dans les redevances d’atterrissage que nous payons aux aéroports,
notamment. Oui, il y aurait un impact. Toutefois, les 60 $ dont
nous parlions dans notre exemple sont les frais additionnels que
nous prélevons pour le gouvernement. Le fait de réduire ces frais
n’aura aucun impact au bout du compte sur WestJet, car nous
transférons simplement ces frais directement au gouvernement.

Le sénateur Eaton : Cela changera-t-il quelque chose?

M. Dunleavy : Nous examinons toutes ces questions pour
tenter de faire diminuer les tarifs. De notre point de vue, WestJet
a connu du succés non pas en augmentant les tarifs, mais en les
diminuant. Pour cela, moins les cotts de nos infrastructures sont
¢élevés, moins nos tarifs le seront.

Le sénateur Eaton : J’ai un peu de mal a comprendre. Les frais
de 60 § comprennent en fait la taxe d’accise sur le carburant et la
taxe d’améliorations aéroportuaires. Que comprennent-ils d’autre?

M. Dunleavy : Les frais d’améliorations aéroportuaires en sont
une composante importante.

Le sénateur Eaton : Qu’en est-il de la taxe de sécurité?

M. Dunleavy : Oui, lorsqu’on les additionne, on obtient
les 60 $ dont nous parlions. Le loyer foncier, par exemple, est
déja compris dans les redevances d’atterrissage que versent les
compagnies aériennes. La diminution de ces redevances nous
permettrait de réduire les tarifs aériens, mais en ce qui concerne
les autres frais, nous les remettons simplement au gouvernement,
alors cela ne nous aiderait pas.

Le sénateur Eaton : Non. Une réduction de nos redevances
d’atterrissage rendrait-elle nos aéroports plus concurrentiels?

M. Dunleavy : Oui. Il y a un autre élément. Lorsque le
consommateur voit que le prix d’un billet est de 39 §, mais que
le prix total est de 100 $. Si on diminuait ce prix total pour les
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would encourage flying from Canada. It would mean that the
ability of more Canadians to travel would be improved. You
would get a greater volume of people flying on our airlines. It
would also help the government in terms of greater tax revenues
because, although the amounts went down on a per passenger
basis, by stimulating more consumers to fly the overall tax base
would improve.

Senator Eaton: I have one more quick question: I am asking
you the same question I asked your Air Canada counterpart. Of
the four or five major airports across the country, would you like
a seat at the board table?

Mr. Dunleavy: I am aware of the response you received. The
challenge that we face is that on those top four or five airports, we
would have maybe one seat at the board and the board might
constitute 12 people. Would it really have a big impact on our
ability to influence decision making by having only one seat on
the board. I do not believe it would have. The challenge for us
would be: Do you have the right regulatory oversight to know
that when people are coming up with fees and structures or when
organizations such as the airports are deciding on investment
plans, how that is tied to how it will stimulate the community and
how it will increase the extra flow of traffic into those markets.

Senator Eaton: I find it very strange because, as you know, Air
Canada said the same thing. It is almost as if you did not want the
responsibility of sitting on the boards of those airports at
Toronto, Montreal or Vancouver, and being part of the
decision-making process to either expand runways or to look
after passengers. It is almost as if you do not want to be part of
running an airport.

Mr. Dunleavy: I do not think that is the case. If I am going to
take on accountability in that area, then I would like to have a
sufficient level of influence in those decisions. One airline
representative position on the board will certainly not allow us
to do that. Yes, you will get accountability but you will not have
the authority to influence decisions. If you want to have us
accountable, let us also have the ability to influence those
decisions.

Senator Eaton: You are not ambitious enough. You should ask
for two or three seats.

Senator Greene: I would like to ask a supplementary question in
relation to Senator Eaton’s questions. In answer to one of her
questions, you said that if the $60 you pass through to the
government were decreased, it would not affect WestJet in any way.

If it would add to your volume, that is, if it would enable
Canadians to take your planes from here rather than other planes
from Plattsburg, that would add to your volume, which would
drive down your unit costs. Would that have a dramatic impact
on WestJet?

consommateurs canadiens, cela les encouragerait a prendre
I’avion au Canada. Cela signifierait que davantage de
Canadiens seraient capables de voyager. Nos compagnies
aériennes transporteraient davantage de gens. Cela aiderait aussi
le gouvernement sur le plan des revenus fiscaux, car méme si les
montants étaient inférieurs par passager, si on encourageait plus
de consommateurs a prendre 1’avion, il y aurait une amélioration
de ’ensemble de I’assiette fiscale.

Le sénateur Eaton : J’ai une autre bréve question; c’est la méme
que j’ai posée a votre homologue d’Air Canada. Aimeriez-vous
siéger au conseil d’administration des quatre ou cing principaux
aéroports du pays?

M. Dunleavy : Je sais ce qu’il vous a répondu. Ce qui pose
probléme, c’est que pour ces quatre ou cinq grands aéroports,
nous aurions peut-étre un seul siége au conseil, qui serait constitué
de douze personnes. Cela aurait-il vraiment une grande incidence
sur notre capacité a influencer les décisions de n’avoir qu'un seul
si¢ge au conseil? J’en doute. Pour nous, I’enjeu est de savoir s’ily a
une surveillance réglementaire adéquate pour savoir, lorsque des
gens ¢tablissent des frais et des structures ou lorsque des
organisations comme les aéroports choisissent des plans
d’investissement, comment tout cela stimulera la collectivité et
fera augmenter la circulation dans ces marchés.

Le sénateur Eaton : Je trouve cela trés étrange car, comme vous
le savez, le représentant d’Air Canada a dit la méme chose. On
croirait presque que vous ne voulez pas prendre la responsabilité
de siéger aux conseils de ces aéroports a Toronto, Montréal ou
Vancouver, et de participer au processus décisionnel pour
I’expansion des pistes ou la sécurité des passagers. On dirait
presque que vous ne voulez pas participer a I’exploitation d’un
aéroport.

M. Dunleavy : Je ne crois pas que ce soit le cas. Si je prenais des
responsabilités dans ce domaine, alors j’aimerais avoir
suffisamment d’influence sur les décisions. Un seul représentant
de compagnie aérienne au conseil ne nous donnera certainement
pas cela. Oui, nous aurions la responsabilité, mais nous n’aurions
pas assez d’autorité pour influencer les décisions. Si vous voulez
que nous soyons responsables, donnez-nous également la
possibilité d’influencer ces décisions.

Le sénateur Eaton : Vous n’étes pas assez ambitieux. Vous
devriez demander deux ou trois siéges.

Le sénateur Greene : J’aimerais poser une question
complémentaire en rapport avec les questions du sénateur Eaton.
En réponse a I'une de ses questions, vous avez dit que si on réduisait
le montant de 60 $§ que vous remettez au gouvernement, cela ne
changerait rien pour WestJet.

Si cela ajoutait a votre volume, c’est-a-dire, si cela permettait
aux Canadiens de monter a bord de vos avions a partir d’ici plutdt
que de prendre d’autres avions a Plattsburg, cela ajouterait a
votre volume, ce qui réduirait votre coit unitaire. Est-ce que cela
aurait un effet spectaculaire sur WestJet?
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Mr. Dunleavy: Thank you for that clarification. I thought I
had addressed that.

Yes, if nothing happens to consumer demands and we simply
reduce those fees, there is no impact to the airline because it is
simply a pass-through. However, because we have lowered the
overall cost to the Canadian consumers and therefore a greater
proportion of the Canadian public now fall into that region where
economically they can afford to travel, more people will travel, so
that would definitely be in our interest. By making the Canadian
airports more competitive in that sense, it would obviously
discourage more people from driving across the border so the
drive-fly syndrome would be reduced. That would drive more
volume through the Canadian airlines as well. That would be in
our benefit.

Senator Zimmer: Senator Eaton asked my question about the
fees and taxes, et cetera. Is it a straight bypass through? What I
mean is you collect it and you pass it on. Do any of those fees stay
with your company?

Mr. Dunleavy: Not at WestJet, no.

Senator Zimmer: In addition, we hear all about the new
airports and the infrastructures, and they are nice and they are
beautiful. We are doing one in Winnipeg, as you know. It is state
of the art and I am very proud of that, as that is where I come
from. However, there is also the issue of necessary versus nice. In
your opinion, all of these airports, almost like Taj Mahals, are
they necessary or are they nice?

Mr. Dunleavy: Thank you for that question. Obviously, from
an airline perspective, if you think about the overall business, we
have incredibly high fixed costs and relatively low variable costs.
Adding that extra guest on the plane is a relatively small
incremental cost to the airline, but overall, very high fixed costs.

From an airline perspective, when we are looking at airport
investment programs, we do raise some challenging questions
such as, yes, you need a new runway, or you need a new terminal
facility. Well, then, economically, have you looked at and
investigated all the alternatives before you invest in a massive
construction program of one form versus the other?

The question is whether the constraints on our system are
limited by the policies around how we operate into and out of
those airports, the utilitization and throughput of the runways
and facility, et cetera. When airport authorities come to us and
say, “We need to do the following,” we ask the question, “Okay,
is your airport infrastructure currently overwhelmed?” “Well, no,
but it is going to get there in the next few years, and we need to
plan ahead to address the issues now.”

M. Dunleavy : Merci de cette clarification. Je croyais avoir
parlé de cette question.

Oui, si rien ne se passe du c6té de la demande des
consommateurs et que nous réduisons simplement ces frais, il n’y
a pas d’effet sur 'entreprise aérienne parce qu’il s’agit simplement
d’un transfert. Toutefois, parce que nous avons réduit le cotit global
a payer par les consommateurs canadiens et que, par conséquent,
une plus grande proportion de la population canadienne se retrouve
maintenant dans la zone ou, économiquement, elle peut se
permettre de prendre 1’avion, plus de gens vont voyager, alors,
certainement, cela serait avantageux pour nous. En rendant les
aéroports canadiens plus concurrentiels dans ce sens, cela aurait
évidemment pour effet de décourager plus de Canadiens de
traverser la frontiére en voiture, ce qui réduirait le probléme des
gens qui prennent I'avion outre-frontiere. Cela ferait également
augmenter le volume des sociétés aériennes canadiennes.

Le sénateur Zimmer : Le sénateur Eaton a posé ma question au
sujet des frais et des taxes, et cetera. S’agit-il de transferts directs?
Ce que je veux dire, c’est que vous percevez ces frais et vous le
remettez a quelquun d’autre? Est-ce qu'une partie de ces frais
reste dans votre entreprise?

M. Dunleavy : Pas chez WestJet, non.

Le sénateur Zimmer : De plus, nous entendons tous parler des
nouveaux aéroports et des infrastructures, et ils sont beaux et ils
sont splendides. On en construit un a Winnipeg, comme vous le
savez. Il est du dernier cri et j’en suis trés fier, parce que je viens de
la. Toutefois, il y a également la question de savoir si c’est nécessaire
ou si C’est beau. A votre avis, tous ces aéroports, qui ressemblent
presque a des Taj Mabhal, sont-ils nécessaires ou sont-ils beaux?

M. Dunleavy : Je vous remercie de cette question. De toute
évidence, du point de vue des sociétés aériennes, si vous pensez a
I’entreprise globale, nous avons des cofits fixes extraordinairement
élevés et des cofits variables extrémement faibles. Le fait d’ajouter
cet invité additionnel a bord de I’avion représente un coft
additionnel relativement faible pour la société aérienne, mais
globalement, ce sont des colts fixes tres élevés.

Du point de vue des sociétés aériennes, lorsque nous regardons
les programmes d’investissement des aéroports, nous soulevons
des questions intéressantes, par exemple, oui, vous avez besoin de
nouvelles pistes d’atterrissage ou vous avez besoin d’un nouveau
terminal. Eh bien, alors, du point de vue économique, avez-vous
étudié toutes les possibilités avant d’investir dans un programme
de construction colossal?

La question, c’est si les contraintes qui s’exercent sur notre
systéme sont limitées par les politiques qui régissent la fagon dont
nous exploitons ces aéroports, l'utilisation et le débit des pistes
d’atterrissage et des installations, et cetera. Lorsque les autorités
aéroportuaires viennent nous voir pour dire : « Nous devons faire
ceci », alors, nous leur demandons : « Trés bien, est-ce que votre
infrastructure aéroportuaire est débordée a I’heure actuelle? »; on
nous répond : « Eh bien, non, mais ce sera le cas dans quelques
années et nous devons planifier dés maintenant pour régler les
problémes. »
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What I would always say to the airport authority is, okay, if
you think you are so heavily stretched with your infrastructure
today, we do not have very many, if any, slot-constrained or
facility-constrained airports in Canada. I believe the Canadian
aviation infrastructure is very well built, more so than you would
see in most other jurisdictions. That may be a credit to us and sort
of a commentary on other jurisdictions. However, when I look at
airports that want to build these big programs, I go back and say
the following: Have you looked at other aviation infrastructures
in other countries? Have you looked at other airports? What is the
throughput at those airports compared to the throughput that we
have at ours? Can you prove to me that the throughput that you
are receiving here in Canada is equal to the best in the industry —
not just Canadian — but in the world? If you can say we are now
running with the best most efficient airports in the world, then it is
time to look at improving that infrastructure. If you are not at
that level, then I believe there are other things that we should be
investigating from a cost efficiency perspective before we start
investing in new buildings.

Senator Zimmer: A very good friend of mine who travels a lot
flies a lot on your airline. On four of the flights in last year, you
have lost his luggage. Three have never been found. In one of
them, he had a very expensive coat. He called me, and I called one
of your vice-presidents and asked if he could work it out. In the
end, I know they can insure up to $1,500 or something — there
has to be a limit — but he lost a coat that was almost triple that.
Is there any recourse that he has?

Mr. Dunleavy: We try not to lose people’s bags. I know it does
happen, and it is a complexity of the business when people transit
through multiple airports, and it gets even more complex when
airlines transit from one airline to a partner airline. Making sure
that all the processes line up and the bags transit themselves safely
and securely has been a challenge.

We believe WestlJet has one of the best baggage rates in the
industry in terms of the lost rates. We still do lose some bags, but
we also have a guest service function that takes itself very
seriously in terms of addressing those needs.

Clearly, we will still lose bags. It is an inevitably when you are
transporting 16 million guests. On average, at least 50 per cent of
them carry a bag of one sort or another, so that is 8 million bags per
year that we are transiting through our systems. We take it seriously
and do our best, and, as you know, there is a compensation
program that we stick to as well. We just work hard to make that as
good as possible. Things do happen and we have to remember that.
I am not trying to shift blame, but we own a certain part of that
supply chain; we do not necessarily own 100 per cent of it.

Ce que je dis toujours aux autorités aéroportuaires, c’est tres
bien, si vous croyez que vos installations ne sont pas utilisées de
maniére excessive aujourd’hui, nous n’avons pas beaucoup, si
jamais il y en a, d’aéroports ayant des contraintes de créneaux ou
d’installations au Canada. Je crois que linfrastructure de
laviation canadienne est trés bien construite, beaucoup mieux
que ce que vous pouvez voir dans la plupart des autres pays. Cela
peut-étre un compliment pour nous et un genre de commentaires
sur la situation dans d’autres pays. Toutefois, lorsque je regarde
les aéroports qui veulent se lancer dans ces programmes
gigantesques, je leur dis : avez-vous examiné l'infrastructure de
l’aviation dans d’autres pays? Avez-vous examiné d’autres
aéroports? Quel est le débit de ces aéroports comparativement a
celui du vétre? Pouvez-vous me démontrer que le débit que vous
avez ici au Canada est égal au meilleur débit que I’on retrouve
dans I'industrie, pas seulement au Canada, mais dans le monde?
Si vous pouvez me dire que nous sommes maintenant au niveau
des meilleurs aéroports, des aéroports les plus efficaces dans le
monde, alors, le temps est venu d’améliorer cette infrastructure. Si
vous n’étes pas a ce niveau, alors, je crois qu’il y a d’autres
mesures que nous devrions explorer, dans une perspective de
rentabilité, avant d’investir dans de nouveaux batiments.

Le sénateur Zimmer : Un trés bon ami a moi qui voyage
beaucoup utilise fréquemment les services de votre compagnie
aérienne. L’an dernier, vous avez perdu ses bagages a quatre
reprises. Dans trois cas, ils n’ont jamais été retrouvés. Dans un cas,
il avait un manteau trés cher. Il m’a appelé et j’ai appelé un de vos
vice-présidents pour lui demander s’il pouvait faire quelque chose.
Enfin, je sais qu’on offre une assurance allant jusqu’a 1 500 $ ou
quelque chose du genre — il faut bien qu’il y ait une limite —, mais
il a perdu un manteau qui en valait presque le triple. Cet homme
a-t-il des recours?

M. Dunleavy : Nous essayons de ne pas perdre les bagages des
gens. Je sais que cela arrive, et c’est une des difficultés de ce
secteur d’activité lorsque les gens transitent par de multiples
aéroports, et les choses deviennent encore plus compliquées
lorsque I’on fait des correspondances entre une société aérienne et
une société partenaire. S’assurer que tous les processus se
déroulent comme il faut et que les bagages sont transférés de
maniére stire constitue un défi.

Nous croyons que WestJet posséde un des meilleurs dossiers de
I'industrie en matiére de bagages perdus. Il nous arrive encore de
perdre des bagages, mais nous avons également une fonction de
service aux invités qui ne lésine pas lorsqu’il s’agit de régler ces
questions.

Il est certain que nous perdrons encore des bagages. C’est
quelque chose d’inévitable lorsque vous transportez 16 millions
d’invités. En moyenne, au moins 50 p. 100 d’entre eux transportent
un bagage quelconque, alors, cela veut dire 8 millions de bagages
par année qui transitent dans nos systémes. Nous prenons cette
question trés au sérieux et nous faisons de notre mieux, et, comme
vous le savez, il existe également un programme d’indemnisation
que nous respectons. Nous travaillons fort pour nous assurer que les
choses fonctionnent le mieux possible. Mais des choses arrivent et il
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Therefore, when it passes through the check-in counters and it goes
below the terminal, that may not be ours. In fact, in most airports it
is not. We do not control that. Having said that, I do not want that
to sound like a defensive statement. You are our guest, they are the
bags you gave to us, and, regardless of who lost it or where, we will
take accountability for that.

Senator Zimmer: Thank you for your candour.

[Translation)

Senator Boisvenu: Welcome and thank you for the brief, which
I find very educational. I am new to the committee, but I am
learning at every meeting, and I will surely learn more from you
through our discussion.

You are right, the biggest surprise we get when travelling is the
difference between the advertised ticket price and the price we
actually end up paying. The difference always comes as a surprise.
I think you may even say that the tariff barrier between Canada
and the United States has become what I would call a natural
barrier preventing American companies from setting up here.

Yesterday, we were told that the difference between the U.S.
and Canadian taxes and fees was 226 per cent. However, do we
actually have 226 per cent more services in Canada?

[English]

Mr. Dunleavy: That is an excellent question. Thank you for that.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: Or are our services better here? Do you get
more out of insurance here than in the United States?

[English]

Mr. Dunleavy: I do not believe so. I think if we look at a lot of
the infrastructure costs, support costs, security fees, and
navigation fees, those relate to the services that, I believe, are
competitive across the United States and Canada. I cannot
comment on the other jurisdictions out there.

Whether that matches the 226 per cent increase in the fee
structure is an excellent question. In many ways, the way that the
airline industry works is you attempt to standardize as much as
possible. That does not mean we standardize in terms of guest
service and how we interact with our guests. That is one of the
cornerstones we believe differentiates WestJet from other airlines,
namely, the way we focus on guest service.

faut en étre conscient. Je n’essaie pas de jeter le blame sur quelqu’un
d’autre, mais nous sommes propriétaires d’une certaine partie de
cette chaine d’approvisionnement, nous n’en sommes pas
nécessairement propriétaires a 100 p. 100. Par conséquent, lorsque
le bagage quitte le comptoir d’enregistrement et qu’il se retrouve
dans les étages inférieurs du terminal, cette partie peut ne pas nous
appartenir. En fait, dans la plupart des aéroports, c’est ce qui arrive.
Nous n’avons pas de contréle la-dessus. Ceci dit, je ne veux pas que
cela ressemble a un plaidoyer de défense. Vous étes nos invités, ce
sont les bagages que vous nous avez confiés et, peu importe qui les a
perdus et ot, nous allons en assumer la responsabilité.

Le sénateur Zimmer : Merci de votre franchise.

[Frangais)

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Je vous souhaite la bienvenue et vous
remercie pour votre mémoire que je trouve tres éducatif. Je suis
nouveau au sein de ce comité, mais j’apprends a chacune de nos
réunions, et sans doute, de notre échange, vais-je encore
apprendre de vous.

Vous avez raison, la plus grande surprise que ’on a lorsqu’on
fait un voyage, c’est la différence entre le prix du billet sur le
dépliant publicitaire et le prix que 1'on paie a la caisse. C’est
toujours étonnant de voir la différence. Je crois qu’on pourra
éventuellement dire que la barriére tarifaire entre le Canada et les
Etats-Unis est devenue une barriére naturelle pour empécher, je
dirais, des entreprises américaines de venir s’établir ici.

Hier, on nous disait qu’il y avait 226 p. 100 de différence dans
les tarifs et taxes entre les Etats-Unis et le Canada; avons-nous
226 p. 100 plus de services au Canada?

[Traduction]

M. Dunleavy : C’est une excellente question; je vous en remercie.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Ou les services sont-ils meilleurs ici, les
assurances, est-ce que vous en retirez plus ici qu’aux Etats-Unis?

[Traduction]

M. Dunleavy : Je ne crois pas. Je pense que si vous regardez
une grande partie des cotts d’infrastructure, des cotits de soutien,
des cofits de sécurité et de navigation, ces derniers ont trait a des
services qui, je crois, sont concurrentiels dans ’ensemble des
Etats-Unis et du Canada. Je ne peux parler de ce qui se passe dans
les autres administrations.

A

Quant a savoir si cela correspond a l'augmentation de
226 p. 100 de la structure tarifaire, c’est une excellente question
a se poser. A bien des égards, la facon dont I'industrie aérienne
fonctionne, c’est que vous essayez de normaliser autant que
possible. Cela ne signifie pas que nous normaliserons en termes de
services aux invités et d’interaction avec nos invités. Nous croyons
que c’est une des pierres angulaires qui distinguent WestJet des
autres sociétés aériennes, a savoir la fagon dont nous nous
concentrons sur le service aux invités.
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However, the way we interact in terms of airport infrastructure,
security, baggage handling, how we issue boarding passes and how
we transfer one guest from our airline on to a neighbouring airline,
the way to make those things work as seamlessly as possible is to
follow standards. If every airline did it its own way, it would be a
complete shambles out there.

Having said that, I recognize that there are still some disconnects
in terms of lost packages, et cetera, and we do try to ensure those
things are as standardized as possible because once they are
standardized they become repeatable, and repeatability is key to
consistency and service and delivering that cost effectively.

Yes, while there is a continuing drive to do that, the fee structures
do not necessarily reflect that level of standardization. The cost for
security domestically in Canada is one fee, but the minute you are
going to go transborder, it is a different fee. However, the processes
are identical. The resources we apply to them are identical.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: In your brief, you recommend that taxes and
fees be lowered so that more travellers can fly. Do you feel that
such a reduction is as beneficial to the government as it is to the
industry?

As you know, when the government lowers taxes, it must
recover that money elsewhere. So, is the impact of those
reductions, in terms of increasing the customer base, as
beneficial to the government as it is to private companies, or
would we be losing out in the whole thing?

[English]

Mr. Dunleavy: The study that we have undertaken with the
NACC here in Canada indicates that the answer is yes, we would do
so, but it is a challenge. Any time you do these types of economic
models, the outputs depend on the assumptions you use.

Would my economist be more optimistic than the
government’s? Would we use a different set of assumptions? We
would have to go in and work closely, which is why we are saying
if we do undertake such a study, we would like to be involved to
at least give you our perspective.

I will give you a context that may give you some insights of
why WestJet’s perspective might be different from another
airline’s. Of all airlines that start up in this industry, 98 per cent
are dead within two years. The failure rate is enormous.

Toutefois, la fagon dont nous interagissons en termes
d’infrastructure aéroportuaire, de sécurité, de manutention des
bagages, comment nous délivrons nos cartes d’embarquement et
comment nous transférons un invité de notre ligne aérienne a une
ligne aérienne voisine, la fagon de faire en sorte que tout cela se
fasse avec le moins de heurts possible, c’est de suivre des normes.
Si chaque société aérienne faisait les choses a sa maniére, ce serait
le chaos total.

Cela dit, je reconnais qu’il y a encore des problémes en ce qui
concerne les bagages perdus, notamment, et nous essayons de
faire en sorte que ces mécanismes soient aussi uniformisées que
possible, parce qu’a ce moment-la ils deviennent susceptibles
d’étre répétés, et la répétition est la clé de la constance et de
’efficacité dans la livraison de ces services.

Oui, alors qu'il y a un effort constant pour faire cela, les
structures tarifaires ne reflétent pas nécessairement ce degré de
normalisation. Le colt de la sécurité intérieure au Canada
représente un tarif, mais des I'instant ou l'on parle dun vol
international, les frais sont différents. Toutefois, les processus sont
identiques. Les ressources que nous y consacrons sont identiques.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : Dans votre mémoire, vous proposez
d’abaisser la tarification et les taxes invoquant le fait que cela
aurait un impact sur le nombre de voyageurs qui pourraient
utiliser ce moyen de transport. Dans votre vision des choses, les
avantages d’une telle réduction sont-ils aussi favorables pour le
gouvernement que pour vos entreprises?

Vous savez, lorsque le gouvernement réduit les taxes, il doit
récupérer les fonds ailleurs, donc 'impact de ces réductions, sur le
plan de la progression de la clientele, amenerait-il les mémes
avantages pour le gouvernement que pour l’entreprise privée, ou
serions-nous les perdants la-dedans?

[Traduction]

M. Dunleavy : L’étude que nous avons entreprise avec le
CNLA ici au Canada indique que la réponse est oui, ce serait le
cas, mais c’est un défi. Chaque fois que vous avez recours a des
modeles économiques de ce genre, les résultats dépendent de vos
hypotheses de départ.

Est-ce que mon économiste serait plus optimiste que celui du
gouvernement? Utiliserions-nous des ensembles d’hypothéses
différents? Aurions-nous besoin d’intervenir et de travailler en
collaboration étroite, ce qui explique pourquoi nous disons que si
nous entreprenons une telle étude, nous aimerions pouvoir y
participer, ne serait-ce que pour vous faire connaitre notre point
de vue.

Je vais vous donner un contexte qui pourrait vous permettre de
comprendre pourquoi le point de vue de WestJet pourrait étre
différent de celui d’autres sociétés aériennes. De toutes les sociétés
aériennes qui démarrent, 98 p. 100 disparaissent en moins de deux
ans. Le taux d’échec est énorme.
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WestJet has been around for 15 years. We have been one of the
success stories of the industry, along with probably Southwest
Airlines, Ryan Air and one or two others. Literally, you can
probably count on one hand the number of success stories you
can talk about.

We have been very proactive in terms of driving costs down
and reflecting that in lower fares. By driving lower fares, we have
been able to stimulate demand. Over the last 15 years, WestJet has
added approximately 100 Boeing 737s to our fleet. Our
competitors probably have not shrunk significantly in all that
time. In other words, their fleet size has remained fairly constant.

Where did all that consumer demand come from? It came from
our ability to stimulate consumer demand by lower fares. Yes, we
have had a negative impact on our competitors because they have
had to lower their fares to match our fare structures. They
probably maintained the same level of traffic they had before
WestJet existed, but we have been able to fill our 100 aircraft as
well — and we have been able do it profitably. Therefore, yes, I
do believe you can stimulate demand significantly.

If you look at many of the markets we have entered, we are
now the largest international airline flying into Las Vegas. It is a
very price-sensitive market, and if we charged high fares people
would not go there, so we stimulate those markets. We have done
the same into Hawaii, Mexico and many other sun destinations in
the United States. You can stimulate, but you have to put in the
right fares for that particular marketplace.

[Translation]

Senator Boisvenu: I have done a lot of travelling in Europe, and I
have noticed that tax and fee structures have really been integrated
over there. European skies are completely open, and people travel
by plane a lot. Do you think it would be possible, in the near future,
to integrate fee regulation in order to open up North and South
American skies to as many travellers as possible?

[English]

Mr. Dunleavy: The question really is do we see a potential for
unification in terms of the rates and fee structures? I do not
believe so. Maybe I am being a little bit cynical there, but I think
the motivations for the different jurisdictions can be very
different. They may have similar objectives, but how they get
there and also the priorities that they assign to different fee
structures will be very different.

WestJet existe depuis 15 ans. Nous sommes une des réussites de
I'industrie, en compagnie probablement de Southwest Airlines, de
Ryan Air et d’'une ou deux autres entreprises. Vous pouvez
littéralement compter sur les doigts de la main le nombre de
réussites dont vous pouvez parler.

Nous avons adopté une attitude trés proactive pour ce qui est
de réduire les cotts et de répercuter cette réduction sur les tarifs.
En diminuant les tarifs, nous avons pu stimuler la demande. Au
cours des 15 derniéres années, WestJet a ajouté environ
100 Boeing 737 a sa flotte. Nos concurrents n’ont pas réduit
leurs tarifs de maniére substantielle durant tout ce temps. En
d’autres mots, la taille de leur flotte est demeurée relativement
constante.

D’ou provient toute cette demande des consommateurs? Elle
vient de notre capacité de stimuler la demande au moyen de tarifs
plus bas. Oui, nous avons eu un effet négatif chez nos concurrents,
parce qu’ils ont di baisser leurs tarifs pour rivaliser avec notre
structure tarifaire. IlIs ont probablement conservé le méme niveau
de trafic qu’ils avaient avant la création de WestJet, mais nous
avons réussi a remplir nos 100 avions également — et nous avons
pu le faire de maniére rentable. Par conséquent, oui, je crois que
nous pouvons stimuler la demande d’une maniére substantielle.

Si vous regardez de nombreux marchés que nous avons réussi a
percer, vous constaterez, par exemple, que nous sommes la plus
importante société aérienne internationale ayant des vols vers Las
Vegas. Il s’agit d’un marché trés sensible au prix et si nos tarifs
étaient élevés, les gens n’iraient pas a cet endroit; alors, nous
avons stimulé ces marchés. Nous avons fait la méme chose a
Hawai, a Mexico et dans de nombreuses autres destinations soleil
aux Etats-Unis. Vous pouvez stimuler, mais vous devez offrir les
bons tarifs pour ce marché particulier.

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Boisvenu : J’ai beaucoup voyagé en Europe et j’ai
pu constater qu’on a vraiment intégré les structures tarifaires et
fiscales. Le champ d’aviation en Europe est ouvert a la grandeur
et les gens voyagent beaucoup en avion. Dans un avenir
rapproché, entrevoyez-vous cette possibilité, en Amérique du
Nord et en Amérique du Sud, d’intégrer la réglementation
tarifaire pour ouvrir le ciel, dans le fond, au plus grand nombre
de voyageurs possible?

[Traduction]

M. Dunleavy : En réalité, la question est : est-ce que nous
voyons une possibilité d’unification en termes de tarifs et de frais?
Je ne crois pas. Peut-étre suis-je un peu cynique, mais je pense que
les motivations des différents gouvernements en cause peuvent
étre différentes. Ils peuvent avoir des objectifs semblables, mais la
fagon d’y parvenir ainsi que les priorités qu’ils accordent a
différentes structures de frais seront tres différentes.
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If we are talking about discussions with the United States and
security issues, their focus will be highly different because of the
potential threats that they perceive to the U.S. mainland, as
opposed to what we might see here in Canada.

The united states of Europe, which is primarily the European
Union, has worked very well. It has opened up the borders, you
do not need the passports and you can travel relatively freely
between those countries. That has worked well to stimulate the
traffic. Of course, having a population base of 460 million people
helps the economies of scale work very well there.

It also works in the sense that those are relatively small
geographic regions. You can operate high frequency, point-to-
point operations between large population centres. The greater
London area has approximately 30 million people, pretty close to
the entire population of Canada. It is similar in Paris. When you
have those types of differences, the way you might structure a
business model to work in that environment probably does not
translate too well into the Canadian environment.

I will give you another classic example because it was coming
up consistently, which said WestJet uses basically a very similar
business model to Southwest Airlines. Maybe, in the sense that we
like to have lower fares because that stimulates demand. That is
probably the limit of the similarity between WestJet’s business
model and Southwest. Yet every time we would try and do
something a little different, all the experts and pundits would say
WestJet is moving away from the Southwest model; therefore, by
definition, you must be wrong.

My argument to that has been you cannot take a business
model that works very well in Texas, in that type of a climate and
environment, transport that to Calgary, with a different
geography and a different climate and all the other issues that
differ, and say that I must follow someone else’s model. No; every
airline, I does not care which it is and which geographic region it
operates in, has to come up with its own business model that
operates effectively for it.

In that context, when WestJet moved into airline partnerships
and doing interline and co-share agreements with other airlines,
we were criticized because Southwest did not do it. One of the first
airlines that wanted to do an interline and co-share deal with
WestlJet was Southwest Airlines because they realized they were
reaching the stagnation point in their domestic market.

They have been around for 36 years and they have achieved
17 per cent market share in the United States’ market. We have
been around 15 years and we have 35 per cent market share in
Canada. I am proud of how successful WestJet has been, but it
has been accomplished not just by the status quo but also by

Si nous parlons des discussions avec les Etats-Unis sur les
questions de sécurité, leur objectif sera trés différent en raison des
menaces potentielles qu’ils pergoivent pour les Etats-Unis
continentaux, par opposition a ce que nous pourrions voir ici
au Canada.

Les états unis d’Europe, constitués principalement de 1’Union
européenne, ont trés bien fonctionné. Ils ont ouvert les frontiéres,
vous n’avez pas besoin de passeport et vous pouvez voyager assez
librement entre ces pays. Cela a bien fonctionné pour stimuler le
trafic aérien. Evidemment, le fait d’avoir un bassin de population
de 460 millions de personnes permet de réaliser de trés belles
économies d’échelle également.

Cela fonctionne également bien en ce sens qu’il s’agit de régions
géographiques de taille relativement petite. Vous pouvez avoir des
circuits point-a-point, a haute fréquence entre des grands centres
de population. La région métropolitaine de Londres compte
environ 30 millions de personnes, a peu prés la population totale
du Canada. Il en est de méme de Paris. Lorsque vous avez des
différences aussi importantes, il est probable que le modéle
d’entreprise que vous pourriez adopter dans un tel environnement
ne conviendra pas trés bien a ’environnement canadien.

Je vais vous donner un autre exemple classique, parce qu’il
revenait sans cesse, ou l’on disait que WestJet utilisait
essentiellement un modéle d’entreprise trés semblable a celui de
Southwest Airlines. Peut-étre, dans le sens que nous aimons avoir
des tarifs plus bas parce que cela stimule la demande. Cest
probablement 1a que s’arréte la ressemblance entre le modéle
d’entreprise de WestJet et celui de Southwest. Et pourtant, chaque
fois que nous tentions de faire des choses un peu différentes, tous
les experts et gourous disaient que WestJet s’¢loignait du modéle
de Southwest; donc, par définition, nous devons avoir tort.

Mon argument sur cette question a été que vous ne pouvez
prendre un mode¢le d’entreprise qui fonctionne trés bien au Texas,
dans ce type de climat et d’environnement, et le transposer a
Calgary, ou la géographie est différente, ou le climat est différent
et toutes ces autres choses qui sont différentes également, et dire
que je dois suivre le modéle de quelqu’'un d’autre. Non; toute
société aérienne, quelle qu’elle soit et quelle que soit la région
géographique qu’elle dessert, doit élaborer son propre modéle
d’entreprise qui fonctionne efficacement pour elle.

Dans ce contexte, lorsque WestlJet s’est lancé dans des
partenariats avec d’autres sociétés aériennes, signant des accords
intercompagnies et des accords de partage de code, on nous a
critiqués parce que Southwest ne le faisait pas. Une des premicres
sociétés aériennes a vouloir signer des accords intercompagnies et
de partage de code avec Westlet était Southwest Airlines parce
que cette derniére a pris conscience qu’elle atteignait le point de
stagnation dans son marché national.

Cette société existe depuis 36 ans et sa part du marché des
Etats-Unis s'éléve a 17 p. 100. Nous existons depuis 15 ans et
notre part du marché canadien s’éléve a 35 p. 100. Je suis fier du
succes de WestJet, mais il a été obtenu non pas seulement en
maintenant le statu quo, mais également en défiant les théories
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challenging existing theories on how businesses should run and
driving a business model that is focused on lower cost, lower fares
and driving consumer demand.

Senator MacDonald: We all have certain airports we use more
than others. As a Nova Scotian, my airport of convenience is the
Halifax one. Unlike many of the airports in the country, there is
not really an option of going across the border for better fares; it
is one the few that does not have that option.

I look at fares and at flights that come out of the airports all
the time. There has been great growth in WestJet, but I cannot
help but notice out of Halifax airport that you can get an early
flight about 6:30 in the morning direct to Ottawa, but for any
other flight in the rest of the day, you have to go through Toronto
or Montreal. Both Porter and Air Canada have numerous flights
all day to the national capital from Halifax. I have always been
curious why there is that lack of direct service out of WestlJet.

Mr. Dunleavy: I can address that question. The issue is can we
utilize our equipment with sufficient frequencies into that market
and capture a sufficient consumer demand to make those flights
profitable? We have undertaken a number of experiments in that
area and have determined that the population base that uses
Westlet today is primarily a leisure-based, price-discretionary
traveler. For us to try to penetrate the business market in Canada
— corporate Canada, the government market — we need to do
more work to improve the quality of our schedules into those
markets, but we also have to penetrate the corporate Canada
market.

We are up against a competitor that has been around for over
60 years, has a well-established client base in that area, for which
they have also a lot of incentives that encourage people to be
somewhat sticky in terms of they like to stick to what they know.
Aeroplan is a good example. It has worked very well for Air
Canada and it has worked very well for Aeroplan.

For us, one of our long-term strategies will be that we need to
improve the business schedule that we operate, but it takes more
than one event. It is not something that if I put it in the schedule,
the consumers will come. They do not; not in those types of
business markets. You have to have a business-type product,
which is why we have invested in airline partnerships and in the
frequent flyer program. We have made investments to improve
the quality of our schedule, particularly here in the Eastern
Triangle. A natural extension of that would be into other markets.

However, as a profitable airline, when we make decisions to
invest in markets because we believe that there is a long-term benefit
to that, we will not go in and say we will invest in a certain number
of markets because that is what we think is appropriate. Rather,

existantes sur la facon de diriger des entreprises et en mettant en
ceuvre un modéle d’entreprise qui est centrée sur la réduction des
colts, la réduction des tarifs et la stimulation de la demande des
consommateurs.

Le sénateur MacDonald : Nous avons tous des aéroports que
nous utilisons plus fréquemment que d’autres. En tant que
Néo-Ecossais, le mien, c’est celui de Halifax. Contrairement a de
nombreux autres aéroports au pays, il n’y a pas vraiment de
possibilité de traverser la frontiére pour obtenir de meilleurs tarifs;
c’est 'un des rares aéroports pour qui cette possibilité n’existe pas.

Je regarde toujours les tarifs et les départs des aéroports.
WestJet a connu une forte croissance, mais je ne peux m’empécher
de remarquer qu’a partir de I’aéroport de Halifax, vous pouvez
prendre un vol direct, tot le matin, vers 6 h 30, pour Ottawa, mais
pour tous les autres vols pendant le restant de la journée, vous
devez transiter par Toronto ou Montréal. Porter et Air Canada
ont de nombreux vols toute la journée de Halifax vers la capitale
nationale. Je me suis toujours demandé pourquoi WestJet n’a pas
un tel service direct.

M. Dunleavy : Je peux répondre a cette question. La question
est de savoir si nous pouvons utiliser notre matériel avec des
fréquences suffisantes dans ce marché et générer une demande
suffisante chez les consommateurs pour rentabiliser ces vols?
Nous avons réalis¢é un certain nombre d’expériences dans ce
domaine et nous avons déterminé que la population de base qui
utilise les services de WestJet aujourd’hui est principalement
constituée de voyageurs d’agrément, sensibles au prix et qui
voyagent a leur discrétion. Pour essayer de percer le marché des
affaires au Canada — Canada inc., le marché gouvernemental —,
nous devons faire plus de travail pour améliorer la qualité de nos
horaires dans ces marchés, mais nous devons également percer le
marché de Canada inc.

Nous entrons en concurrence avec un transporteur qui exerce
ses activités depuis plus de 60 ans, qui a une clientéle bien établie a
laquelle il offre de nombreux avantages incitatifs pour
I’encourager a s’en tenir a ce qu’elle connait. Aéroplan en est un
excellent exemple. Le plan a trés bien servi tant Air Canada
qu’Aéroplan.

L’une de nos stratégies a long terme consistera a améliorer
I’horaire de nos vols d’affaires, mais il faudra apporter plus dun
changement. Il ne suffit pas de programmer un vol particulier
pour que les consommateurs accourent. Ils ne le feront pas, pas
dans ce genre de marchés des affaires. Il est nécessaire d’offrir un
produit commercial. C’est pourquoi nous avons investi dans des
partenariats avec d’autres lignes aériennes et dans un programme
pour grands voyageurs. Nous avons investi des fonds pour
améliorer la qualité de notre horaire, en particulier ici, dans le
triangle de I’Est. La suite logique consisterait a investir dans
d’autres marchés.

Toutefois, lorsqu’une ligne aérienne rentable prend la décision
d’investir dans des marchés, parce qu’elle croit que cela lui sera
profitable a long terme, elle n’investit pas dans un certain nombre
de marchés, parce qu’elle estime que cette démarche est appropriée.
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how many markets will I choose to invest in at any given instant in
time? I will strictly control that because of my responsibility to my
WestlJetters and to our shareholders. Whilst I am willing to invest, I
will not do it at the expense of the company.

Senator MacDonald: I have one follow-up question. Since you
have one direct flight a day, I am curious; there must be a reason
why you choose the first one of the day, at 6:30 in the morning.

Mr. Dunleavy: There is. The issue is that I have a fixed fleet of
aircraft. They cannot all operate from every city at the optimal
time of day. It is just how we happen to be able to flow the
network. It is really about where I choose to fly those aircraft.

The other thing I would remind people of is that we do not
have aircraft sitting on the ground not flying. If those aircraft may
not be at your city at the preferred time of day, it is not because
they are parked; it is because they are operating somewhere else
and where we are driving a profit margin from those operations.

The question for us, if I were to move one of those aircraft
from my preferred time of day somewhere else, and move it to
Halifax, as an example, it has to drive a profit that is at least equal
to where we are currently deploying it, or preferably an even
better profit, because that is what it is about.

Senator MacDonald: Yes. We are glad you are flying and that
you are making a profit, but we would like to have better service
in Halifax.

Mr. Dunleavy: I will take that away.

The Chair: We have three members from Halifax on our
committee, so you might be getting a second question on that
subject from Senator Mercer.

Senator Mercer: I will not ask about the service to or from
Halifax. I do want to say that WestJet is one of the few airlines
that have never lost my luggage.

Last week you announced a partnership with Emirates Airline.

Mr. Dunleavy: That is correct.

Senator Mercer: I am interested in this because Emirates, of
course, has been trying to increase their landing rights in Canada.
Your competitor has been quite open in their opposition to that
and says that it would damage their business.

How do you see this new relationship with Emirates increasing
WestJet’s ability to compete internationally?

Mr. Dunleavy: Thank you for that. Airline partnerships has
been a long-term strategy. In fact, we started working on that
strategy five or six years ago. At the time, we did not have an
appropriate reservation system that could handle that type of

Au contraire, dans un cas comme celui-la, je me demande plutot
dans combien de marchés je vais investir simultanément. Je vais
limiter sévérement ce nombre, parce que j’ai des obligations envers
mes employés et nos actionnaires. Bien que je sois prét a investir, je
ne le ferai pas aux dépens de I'entreprise.

Le sénateur MacDonald : J’ai une question complémentaire a
vous poser. Etant donné que vous n’offrez qu’un seul vol direct par
jour, je suis curieux de savoir pourquoi vous avez choisi le premier
vol de la journée qui décolle a 6 h 30. Il doit y avoir une raison.

M. Dunleavy : Il y en a une. Le probléme, c’est que la taille de
notre flotte d’aéronefs est fixe. Ceux-ci ne peuvent pas partir de
chaque ville a T’heure la plus pratique de la journée. C’est
seulement ainsi que nous sommes en mesure de faire circuler nos
aéronefs et de desservir notre réseau. Cela dépend vraiment de
I’endroit ou je veux faire décoller ces avions.

Jaimerais également rappeler aux gens que nos aéronefs ne
sont jamais immobilisés. Si ceux-ci ne décollent pas de votre ville a
I’heure préférentielle, ce n’est pas parce qu’ils sont immobilisés.
C’est parce qu’ils volent ailleurs, 1a ou ces activités rapportent une
marge de profit.

La question que nous devons nous poser est la suivante : si je
choisis un aéronef qui part d’un endroit a une heure préférentielle
et que je le déplace a Halifax, par exemple, il faut que ce vol
génére un profit au moins égal et, de préférence, supérieur a celui
réalisé a I’endroit actuel, parce que c’est ce qui importe.

Le sénateur MacDonald : Oui. Nous sommes contents que vous
soyez en affaires et que vous fassiez des profits, mais nous
aimerions que vous offriez un meilleur service a Halifax.

M. Dunleavy : J’en prends note.

Le président : Trois des membres du comité sont d’Halifax,
alors il se peut que le sénateur Mercer vous pose une deuxiéme
question a ce sujet.

Le sénateur Mercer : Je ne poserai pas de questions au sujet des
vols a destination ou en partance d’Halifax. Je tiens a mentionner
que WestJet est 'une des seules lignes aériennes a n’avoir jamais
égaré mes bagages.

La semaine derniére, vous avez annoncé un partenariat avec
Emirates Airline.

M. Dunleavy : C’est exact.

Le sénateur Mercer : Cela m’intéresse parce qu’a I’heure
actuelle, Emirates Airline essaie bien str d’accroitre ses droits
d’escale au Canada. Votre concurrent a indiqué ouvertement qu’il
s’opposait a cette mesure, car elle leur occasionnerait des pertes.

A votre avis, comment cette relation avec Emirates Airline
améliorera-t-elle la capacité de WestJet a faire face a la
concurrence internationale?

M. Dunleavy : Je vous remercie de votre question. Nos
partenariats avec des lignes aériennes font partie de notre
stratégie a long terme. En fait, nous avons commencé a mettre
en ceuvre cette stratégie il y a cing ou six ans. A I’époque, notre
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relationship, so we had to invest in a project, which was to put in
a new reservation system for WestJet. That was implemented a
couple of years ago, and from that time we have been able to
deploy more partnerships with multiple airlines.

Currently we have 15 airline partnerships in production and we
have 3 code-share agreements in place. We try to establish a rate
of about one new interline agreement per month. We do not do it
every month of the year, mainly because in the December period,
or periods like that, there are too many things going on. If there is
a code-share going in that month, we certainly will not do an
interline the same month. We end up with something like nine
interlines and three or four code-shares per year.

Emirates is one of those airlines that has been on our list. It
was announced a few weeks ago. For us, it is an opportunity.
They are flying into Canada. Whether it is the current three times
a week or their desired number of flights, when they do come in,
we can connect them to our network, which works very well, and
we can flow that traffic on to WestJet. It is an additional source of
revenue for us. Vice versa; we can flow traffic from WestJet into
Toronto, and then from Toronto on to the Middle East.

Senator Mercer: You were not burdened, as Air Canada is,
with the requirement or the need to fly into what many would call
marginal marketplaces in the country. By using only 737s, you
can exclude yourself from some of those because of the size of the
aircraft. If you are truly going to be a national airline, you will
have to start thinking in a national sense, and that national sense
is not just landing in Halifax but landing in Sydney, Saint John,
New Brunswick, et cetera, in places where you may not be
landing now.

Is there a business plan for WestJet to start looking at those
other markets? If so, does that mean you will break the mould of
only using 737s?

Mr. Dunleavy: Thank you for that question. I am not prepared
to answer all of those questions, but what I will tell you —

Senator Mercer: Air Canada is not listening.
Mr. Dunleavy: Of course not. Neither is Porter.

Although the WestJet fleet of 737 aircraft is a single fleet,
consistent with the low-cost model, we have three different sizes
of those aircraft. We have an 119-seater; a 136-seater, which is the
backbone of the fleet; and a 166-seater, which is the largest
version of the 737 that we operate. For shorter-haul, higher-
frequency markets, we may use the 600-series aircraft, which has
119 seats. For long-haul, sun destinations, tour operators,

systéme de réservation ne pouvait pas gérer ce genre de relation.
Par conséquent, il nous a fallu investir dans un projet qui visait a
installer un nouveau systéme de réservation pour WestJet. Cela a
eu lieu il y a quelques années et, depuis, nous avons été en mesure
d’établir des partenariats avec de nombreuses lignes aériennes.

En ce moment, nous avons a notre actif 15 partenariats établis
avec des lignes aériennes et trois accords de partage des codes de
vol. Nous nous efforgons de conclure a peu prés un accord
intercompagnies par mois. Nous n’y parvenons pas toujours surtout
parce qu’en décembre ou pendant des périodes comme celles-1a,
trop de choses surviennent. Si nous mettons en ceuvre un accord de
partage des codes de vol ce mois-1a, nous n’allons certainement pas
conclure un accord intercompagnies le méme mois. Chaque année,
nous aboutissons avec quelque neuf accords intercompagnies et
trois ou quatre accords de partages des codes de vol.

Emirates Airline est 'une des compagnies aériennes qui figurent
sur notre liste. Notre partenariat a été annoncé il y a quelques
semaines. Cela représente une bonne occasion pour nous. La
compagnie dessert le Canada. Qu’il s’agisse des trois liaisons
hebdomadaires actuelles ou du nombre de liaisons qu’elle désire
offrir, le cas échéant, nous pouvons relier celles-ci a notre réseau, ce
qui fonctionne trés bien, et acheminer ce trafic sur des vols de
WestJet. Cela constitue une source de revenus supplémentaire pour
nous. Inversement, nous pouvons acheminer le trafic de WestJet a
Toronto, puis de 1a au Moyen-Orient.

Le sénateur Mercer : Contrairement a Air Canada, vous n’étiez
pas accablé par ’obligation ou la nécessité de desservir ce que bon
nombre de gens appellent les marchés marginaux du Canada. En
utilisant uniquement des 737, vous pouvez vous soustraire a
certaines de ces obligations en raison de la taille de ’appareil. Si
vous voulez vraiment devenir une ligne aérienne nationale, vous
allez devoir commencer a adopter une optique nationale, et cela
veut dire que vous n’allez plus atterrir seulement a Halifax, mais
aussi a Sydney, a Saint John, au Nouveau-Brunswick, et cetera, a
des endroits que vous ne desservez peut-étre pas en ce moment.

Dans vos plans d’affaires, envisagez-vous la possibilité que
WestJet commence a s’intéresser a ces autres marchés? Dans
laffirmative, cela veut-il dire que vous allez cesser de piloter
exclusivement des 737?

M. Dunleavy : Je vous remercie de votre question. Je ne suis
pas disposé a répondre a toutes ces questions, mais je vous dirai...

Le sénateur Mercer : Air Canada n’écoute pas vos déclarations.
M. Dunleavy : Non, bien entendu. Porter non plus.

Bien que la flotte de 737 de WestlJet soit la seule que nous
ayons, ce qui est conforme a notre mode¢le a faible cot, elle
comporte des aéronefs de trois dimensions : un de 119 siéges, un
de 136 siéges, sur lequel repose la majeure partie de notre flotte, et
un de 166 siéges, la plus grosse version du 737 que nous pilotons.
Pour les courtes distances et les marchés ou les vols sont plus
fréquents, il se peut que nous utilisions des aéronefs de la série 600
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WestJet Vacations type of activities, we will use the larger-
capacity aircraft. It comes down to a per-seat cost, and the
per-seat cost decreases the more seats we put on that aircraft.

Having said that, we do not put the same number of seats on
our aircraft that Ryanair might put on in Europe. For the same
size aircraft, they may have 189 seats and we may have 166. The
reason for that is that what you are prepared to put up with on a
one-hour flight in an intra-European environment is not the same
for a four- or six-hour flight here in Canada to Mexico or Hawaii,
et cetera. We are careful about that.

However, that 737 fleet currently addresses 63 per cent of the
Canadian population. I would say on a yearly basis we are
continually asked by our board: You have a single fleet model. It
has worked very well for you, but there are these other
communities that your model simply does not address.

Some of these markets are never big enough to support a daily
operation. Actually, a daily operation is enough. If you want to
serve a market, you need at least a flight in the morning and a
flight in the evening. For some of those markets, they are also
highly seasonal. You will find that WestJet will operate into those
markets on a seasonal basis. We have heard complaints that say:
WestlJet, you cherry-pick. You only come in for that peak season
and then you pull out. Are you doing something inappropriate
there?

I would argue that the question is this: Here in Ottawa, does
the bus service run 24 hours a day? It may do. I really do not
know. However, I doubt it runs at the same frequency at midnight
to six o’clock in the morning. The reason they do not operate with
the same frequency throughout the day is because the demand
changes as a function of time of day.

In the airline business, this changes as a function of time of day
and seasons of the year. We will go in and service those markets. |
will tell you that those airport authorities come to us and ask us:
Can you extend the season? We would like to extend the season
because it gives us better utilization of the fleet. However, if there
are only 10 people on the aircraft, then, first, as a community,
why are you complaining if only 10 people are on our aircraft and
that is not enough to justify it; and if we have to charge economic
rates to cover the cost of that aircraft for 10, 20 or 30 people, it
does not make sense.

You are right. I would say on an annual basis we are tasked
with looking at whether anything else has changed in the
marketplace. Is it time to look at a different fleet type? That
could be a smaller regional aircraft or it could be a larger, long-
haul, wide-bodied aircraft. We look at that, but we are always
careful about not only what the opportunity is but what the
current world environment is looking like. As we know, in the
world economy, it can be very risky out there.

qui comptent 119 sieges. Pour les longues distances, les
destinations ensoleillées, les voyages organisés, les activités de
WestJet liées aux vacances, nous avons recours a I’aéronef ayant
la plus grande capacité. C’est une question de coit par siége, et
plus I’aéronef contient de siéges, plus le cout diminue.

Cela étant dit, nous n’installons pas le méme nombre de sieges
dans nos aéronefs que Ryanair pourrait le faire en Europe. Dans
des aéronefs de méme dimension, ils ont peut-étre 189 si¢ges, alors
que nous en avons peut-étre 166. C’est parce que ce qu'un passager
est prét a endurer pendant un vol d’heure entre deux villes
européennes différe de ce qu'’il est prét a endurer pendant un vol de
quatre ou six heures a I'intérieur du Canada, vers le Mexique, vers
Hawaii, et cetera. Nous nous soucions de ces considérations.

Toutefois, notre flotte de 737 répond aux besoins de 63 p. 100
de la population canadienne. Je dirais que notre conseil
d’administration nous dit annuellement ce qui suit : votre flotte
comporte seulement un modele. Cette approche vous a été trés
profitable, mais il existe d’autres collectivités dont les besoins ne
sont pas satisfaits par votre modele.

Certains de ces marchés ne sont pas assez importants pour
justifier des vols quotidiens. En fait, un vol quotidien suffit. Si
vous souhaitez desservir un marché, vous devez prévoir au moins
un vol le matin et un vol le soir. En outre, certains marchés sont
trés saisonniers. Vous constaterez que WestJet dessert ces marchés
d’une maniére saisonniére. Nous avons entendu des gens exprimer
les griefs suivants : WestJet, vous picorez. Vous offrez des services
pendant la période de pointe, puis vous vous retirez. Votre
comportement est-il inapproprié?

Je soutiendrais que la question est la suivante : ici, a Ottawa,
votre service d’autobus fonctionne-t-il 24 heures par jour? Je
I'ignore, mais c’est possible. Cependant, je doute que la fréquence
des arréts soit la méme entre minuit et six heures du matin. Elle ne
’est pas, parce que la demande fluctue en fonction de ’heure de la
journée.

Dans l'industrie du transport aérien, la demande fluctue en
fonction de I’heure de la journée et de la saison. Nous allons
desservir ces marchés. Je vous avoue que les administrations
aéroportuaires nous demandent parfois si nous pouvons
prolonger la saison. Nous aimerions le faire, car cela nous
permettrait de mieux utiliser notre flotte. Toutefois, s’il y a
seulement 10 passagers dans ’avion et que ce nombre ne suffit a
justifier le vol, pourquoi la collectivité se plaint-elle alors? Et, s’il
nous faut imposer a 10, 20 ou 30 passagers des tarifs permettant
de couvrir les cofits de I’aéronef, cela n’aura aucun sens.

Vous avez raison. Je dirais qu'une fois I’an, on nous charge
d’examiner si quoi que ce soit a changé dans le marché. Est-il
temps d’envisager un autre type de flotte? Elle pourrait étre
composée d’avions régionaux plus petits ou d’avions long-
courrier a grande capacité. Nous étudions ces possibilités, mais
nous examinons toujours attentivement tant les perspectives
d’avenir que la conjoncture mondiale. Comme nous le savons,
I’économie mondiale peut nous exposer a de trés grands risques.
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The Chair: I will ask you to wrap up. We are in the situation
right now where the whips are calling us to be back at
eight o’clock. I have four more questioners, which we will not
have time to deal with.

We do have to adopt our budget and activities. The clerk has
prepared for us one motion. The budget was submitted to the
steering committee. The steering committee is submitting that
activity one would be a trip to Toronto, Hamilton, Buffalo; and
activity two would be a trip to Montreal and Plattsburgh.

We can free the witness if you want. Unless there is
controversy, we can adopt the budget and we can continue on
for a few questions.

There is a proposition by my charming vice-president and
steering committee member that the budget be adopted. Are the
other charming members in agreement?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: It is agreed that the following special budget
application for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, be
approved for submission to the Standing Committee on Internal
Economy, Budgets and Administration.

We have a few more minutes. If you do not mind, Senator
Mercer, I will ask Senator Martin, Senator Cochrane and Senator
Verner to each ask a short question, and I will ask Mr. Dunleavy
to respond.

Senator Martin: I found your presentation extremely clear, and
also quite relevant to what we are doing. Thank you for the
insights that you have provided. The key message I take away
today is about how competition does breed a certain level of
excellence.

As a competitor, what about more competition? Is there
enough competition in Canada and would another competitor
also stimulate and perhaps be able to proactively tap into further
markets and generate more passengers? Is there enough
competition, or do you think that there is room for more? I
know in a way you are answering as a competitor, but what about
the emergence of others?

Mr. Dunleavy: It actually is a great question because, from a
self-serving perspective, it is easy to say no, there is sufficient
competition. The truth is, we did not orchestrate the creation of
Porter Airlines, as an example, and they have brought in, through
the operations at the island airport, a fleet now of some 20-odd
aircraft and are actively competing with us in many markets, and
also obviously competing with Air Canada as well.

Le président : Je vais vous demander de conclure. Les whips
nous demandent de revenir a 20 heures. Voila la situation dans
laquelle nous nous trouvons. Il y a quatre autres personnes qui
souhaitent vous poser des questions, mais nous n’aurons pas le
temps de nous occuper d’elles.

Il faut que nous adoptions notre budget et nos activités. La
greffiére a préparé une motion a notre intention. Le budget a été
présenté au comité de direction. Ce dernier propose que notre
premiére activité consiste en un voyage a Toronto, 8 Hamilton et
a Buffalo, et que notre deuxiéme activité consiste en un voyage a
Montréal et a Plattsburgh.

Nous pouvons libérer le témoin si vous le voulez ou, s’il n’y a
pas de controverse, nous pouvons adopter le budget, puis poser
quelques questions supplémentaires a notre témoin.

Le comité de direction et mon charmant vice-président
proposent que nous adoptions le budget. Les autres charmants
membres sont-ils d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : 11 est convenu que la demande de budget spécial
pour I’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2012 soit approuvée et
présentée au Comité permanent de la régie interne, des budgets et
de ’administration.

Il nous reste quelques minutes. Si vous n’y voyez pas
d’objection, sénateur Mercer, je vais demander au sénateur
Martin, au sénateur Cochrane et au sénateur Verner de poser
chacun une bréve question a laquelle je demanderais a
M. Dunleavy de répondre.

Le sénateur Martin : J’ai trouvé votre exposé extrémement clair
ainsi que trés pertinent dans le cadre de nos activités. Je vous
remercie des renseignements que vous nous avez communiqués.
Le principal message que je retire de votre témoignage
d’aujourd’hui, c’est que la concurrence engendre un certain
degré d’excellence.

En tant que concurrent, que diriez-vous d’avoir d’autres
concurrents? Y a-t-il suffisamment de concurrence au Canada, la
présence d’un autre concurrent stimulerait-elle d’autres marchés, et
ce dernier serait-il en mesure de les exploiter de facon anticipée et
d’accroitre le nombre de passagers? Y a-t-il suffisamment de
concurrents, ou pensez-vous qu’il y a de la place pour d’autres? Je
sais que, d’une certaine maniére, vous répondez en tant que
concurrent, mais qu’en est-il de I’apparition d’autres concurrents?

M. Dunleavy : En fait, c’est une excellente question parce que,
si ’on tient compte de ses propres intéréts, il est facile de répondre
par la négative et d’affirmer qu’il y a suffisamment de concurrence
au Canada. Mais le fait est que nous n’avons pas orchestré la
création de la compagnie aérienne Porter, par exemple. Dans le
cadre de ses activités a I'aéroport de I'lle de Toronto, celle-ci a
constitué une flotte de quelque 20 aéronefs et nous fait
concurrence sur de nombreux marchés. Et, manifestement, elle
entre également en concurrence avec Air Canada.
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The issue, from a policy perspective is, is there a certain critical
mass that an airline must have so they can get the economies of
scale and have a business model that is robust against the ups and
downs in the world economy or even your local country’s
economy? That is one first important question.

If you look at airlines around the world, go to Europe, how
many airlines exist in France? Primarily it is Air France, right?
Holland is a little bit different because there is no domestic
network, it is almost like Singapore: It is a city state. The U.K.,
yes, we have British Midlands, British Airways and now Ryanair.
Ryanair has been able to maintain its existence through those
extremely low fares that have stimulated incredible amounts of
extra traffic out there.

I would have said, up until the emergence of these ultra-low-
cost carriers, that it takes approximately 50 million to 60 million
people to maintain an airline. Here in Canada, with 32 million
people, you have two strong competitors with WestJet and Air
Canada, and we have the emergence of Porter as a strong
competitor as well. I think the competition is strong.

Senator Cochrane: My question is similar to Senator Mercer’s.
Being a Canadian company, do you have any commitment to
offer services to smaller areas year round?

[Translation]

Senator Verner: Along the same lines, what about the smaller
destinations? I am from Quebec City. WestJet has had a counter
at the Quebec City airport for about three years, to our great
pleasure. However, unfortunately, only flights to Toronto are
currently available. Quebec City is the capital of Quebec, and
Ottawa is the capital of Canada. We would certainly like to have
return flights between the two cities.

[English)

Even if it is the first flight in the morning, I am an early bird
and I am okay with that.

[Translation]

WestJet would be welcome, especially in Eastern Quebec and
Canada.

[English]

Mr. Dunleavy: It comes down to economics. We will fly where
we have sufficient traffic to support our operations. If they are
not making money — and every aircraft is a $45-million asset —
we have to move them to places where they make money. We are
working hard to build up our corporate presence, our business
markets and our loyalty programs, all of which will come together
with our airline partnerships. We think a combination of those

D’un point de vue politique, la question est la suivante : une
compagnie aérienne doit-elle bénéficier d’une certaine masse
critique afin d’étre en mesure de faire des économies d’échelle et
d’avoir un modéle opérationnel a I’épreuve des soubresauts de
I’économie mondiale et méme de 1’économie de son propre pays?
Voila une premiére question trés importante.

Si ’on examine les lignes aériennes partout dans le monde ou
celles d’Europe, combien y en a-t-il en France? La principale, c’est
Air France, n’est-ce pas? La Hollande est un peu différente parce
qu’il n’y a pas de réseau interne. C’est presque comme Singapour;
c’est une cité Etat. Au Royaume-Uni, il y a British Midlands,
British Airways et maintenant Ryanair. Cette derniére a été en
mesure de survivre grace a ces tarifs extrémement bas qui ont
engendré une quantité incroyable de trafic supplémentaire la-bas.

Jusqu’a lapparition de ces transporteurs aériens a cout
extrémement faible, j’aurais dit qu’il fallait environ 50 a
60 millions d’habitants pour assurer la viabilit¢ d’une ligne
aérienne. Ici, au Canada, avec 32 millions d’habitants, il y a deux
puissants concurrents : WestJet et Air Canada. Et, la nouvelle
compagnie aérienne, Porter, s’avére étre, elle aussi, un solide
concurrent. Je pense qu’il y a une forte concurrence au Canada.

Le sénateur Cochrane : Ma question ressemble a celle du
sénateur Mercer. Etant donné que WestJet est une entreprise
canadienne, vous étes-vous engagés a offrir a des petites régions
des services a I’année?

[Frangais]

Le sénateur Verner : Dans le méme ordre d’idées, qu’en est-il
des plus petites destinations? Je suis de la ville de Québec. WestJet
a un comptoir a I"aéroport de Québec depuis environ trois ans
pour notre plus grande joie, mais, malheureusement, la
compagnie dessert maintenant qu'un vol vers Toronto. La ville
de Québec est quand méme la capitale du Québec et Ottawa la
capitale du Canada. Nous aimerions bien avoir un vol aller-retour
entre les deux.

[Traduction]

Méme si ce vol est le premier de la matinée, je suis une léve-tot,
et cela ne me dérange pas.

[Frangais]

WestJet serait la bienvenue, particulierement dans I’Est du
Québec et du Canada.

[Traduction]

M. Dunleavy : C’est une question de principes économiques.
Nous allons programmer des vols 1a ou le trafic est suffisant pour
justifier nos activités. Si un aéronef ne génére pas de profits —
chacun d’eux représente un actif de 45 millions de dollars —, nous
devons le déplacer a un endroit ou il sera rentable. Nous
déployons beaucoup d’efforts pour accroitre notre présence et
développer nos marchés d’affaires et nos programmes de
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will allow us to operate more frequently into those destinations,
and it is certainly our plan to expand our presence in Eastern
Canada.

The Chair: The answer would apply to both questions. Sorry to
have been so brusque. We have to go back to the chamber.

Mr. Dunleavy, you made an excellent presentation. I want to
say to you, as I have said to other witnesses, if along the way you
observe our deliberations, or someone is observing them for you,
and you think that this committee should be informed of a
correction or improvement in information, feel free to submit, via
the clerk of the committee, that information. It will be shared with
the membership. Thank you very much.

(The committee adjourned.)

fidélisation, mesures qui s’ajouteront a nos partenariats avec des
compagnies aériennes. Nous pensons qu’en combinant ces
mesures, nous pourrons offrir un plus grand nombre de vols
vers ces destinations, et nous planifions certainement d’accroitre
notre présence dans I’Est du Canada.

Le président : La réponse s’applique aux deux questions. Je suis
désolé d’avoir été aussi brusque. Malheureusement, il nous faut
retourner a la Chambre du Sénat.

Monsieur Dunleavy, vous nous avez donné un excellent
exposé. Comme je ’ai dit aux autres témoins, si vous observez
nos délibérations ou si quelqu’un les observe pour votre compte et
que vous pensez que le comité devrait étre avisé que des
renseignements ont été corrigés ou améliorés, n’hésitez pas a
faire parvenir a la greffiere du comité les renseignements en
question. Elle les communiquera aux membres. Merci beaucoup.

(La séance est levée.)
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